

SCIENTIFIC OPINION

Scientific Opinion on nutrient requirements and dietary intakes of infants and young children in the European Union¹

EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies (NDA)^{2, 3}

European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), Parma, Italy

ABSTRACT

Following a request from the European Commission, the EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies (NDA) was asked to deliver a Scientific Opinion on the nutrient requirements and dietary intakes of infants and young children in the European Union. This Opinion describes the dietary requirements of infants and young children, compares dietary intakes and requirements in infants and young children in Europe and, based on these findings, concludes on the potential role of young-child formulae in the diets of infants and young children, including whether they have any nutritional benefits when compared with other foods that may be included in the normal diet of infants and young children. The Panel concluded on the levels of nutrient and energy intakes that are considered adequate for the majority of infants and young children, and evaluated the risk of inadequate nutrient intakes in infants and young children in living Europe. Dietary intakes of alpha-linolenic acid (ALA), docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), iron, vitamin D and iodine (in some European countries) are low in infants and young children living in Europe, and particular attention should be paid to ensuring an appropriate supply of ALA, DHA, iron, vitamin D and iodine in infants and young children with inadequate or at risk of inadequate status of these nutrients. No unique role of young-child formulae with respect to the provision of critical nutrients in the diet of infants and young children living in Europe can be identified, so that they cannot be considered as a necessity to satisfy the nutritional requirements of young children when compared with other foods that may be included in the normal diet of young children (such as breast milk, infant formulae, follow-on formulae and cow's milk).

© European Food Safety Authority, 2013

KEY WORDS

nutrient requirements, dietary intakes, infants, young children, young-child formula

Available online: www.efsa.europa.eu/efsajournal

¹ On request from the European Commission, Question No EFSA-Q-2013-00263, adopted on 09 October 2013.

² Panel members: Carlo Agostoni, Roberto Berni Canani, Susan Fairweather-Tait, Marina Heinonen, Hannu Korhonen, Sébastien La Vieille, Rosangela Marchelli, Ambroise Martin, Androniki Naska, Monika Neuhäuser-Berthold, Grażyna Nowicka, Yolanda Sanz, Alfonso Siani, Anders Sjödin, Martin Stern, Sean (J.J.) Strain, Inge Tetens, Daniel Tomé, Dominique Turck and Hans Verhagen. Correspondence: nda@efsa.europa.eu

³ Acknowledgement: The Panel wishes to thank the members of the Working Group on Dietetic Products: Carlo Agostoni, Roberto Berni Canani, Tamás Decsi, Lotte Lauritzen, Hildegard Przyrembel, Yolanda Sanz, Inga Thorsdottir, Daniel Tomé and Dominique Turck for the preparatory work on this scientific opinion.

Suggested citation: EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies), 2013. Scientific Opinion on nutrient requirements and dietary intakes of infants and young children in the European Union. EFSA Journal 2013;11(10):3408, 103 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2013.3408



SUMMARY

Following a request from the European Commission, the EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies (NDA) was asked to deliver a Scientific Opinion on the nutrient requirements and dietary intakes of infants and young children in the European Union. This Opinion describes the dietary requirements of infants and young children, compares dietary intakes and requirements in infants and young children living in Europe and, based on the findings, concludes on the potential role of young-child formulae in the diets of infants and young children, including whether they have any nutritional benefits when compared with other foods that may be included in the normal diet of infants and young children.

In this Opinion, the Panel provides advice on the levels of nutrients which it considers adequate for healthy, term, normal-weight infants and young children, but does not derive any Dietary Reference Values (DRVs). This will be done in the framework of setting DRVs for individual micronutrients.

For infants up to the age of six months, the nutrient content of breast milk from healthy, wellnourished, unsupplemented mothers was used for most nutrients as a basis to provide advice on intake levels of nutrients considered adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life.

For levels of nutrient intakes considered adequate for the majority of infants in the second half-year of life and in young children, the Panel reviewed reference values set by the Scientific Committee for Food in 1993 in the light of more recent recommendations given by other scientific or authoritative bodies, i.e. the French Food Safety Agency (Afssa) and the Health Council of the Netherlands (Gezondheidsraad) as well as the recommendations given by Nordic Council of Ministers, the German-speaking countries (D-A-CH), the US Institute of Medicine (IoM), the National Health and Medical Research Council of the Commonwealth (NHMRC) of Australia and the Ministry of Health of New Zealand and the World Health Organization (WHO), unless the Panel has already given an Opinion or endorsed an Opinion for public consultation on a DRV for a specific nutrient, in which case the previous advice given by the Panel was taken as a basis of the current Opinion (i.e. for energy, protein, fat, carbohydrates and dietary fibre, water, molybdenum, fluoride, manganese, pantothenic acid, biotin and vitamin C).

Based on the available publications reporting on nutrient intakes in infants and young children living in Europe, the Panel evaluated the risk of inadequate nutrient intakes in infants and young children in Europe by comparing the habitual nutrient intakes with the Average Requirement (AR) or with the Adequate Intake (AI). The Panel also reviewed available evidence with respect to studies in infants and young children living in Europe reporting on status markers of nutrient adequacy to complement information provided by nutrient intake studies.

Dietary intakes of linoleic acid (LA), calcium, phosphorus, magnesium, copper, selenium, chromium, molybdenum, manganese, fluoride, vitamin A, vitamin E, vitamin K, thiamin, riboflavin, niacin, pantothenic acid, pyridoxine, biotin, folate, cobalamin, vitamin C and choline in infants and young children living in Europe do not give rise to concern over the risk of inadequate intakes.

Dietary intakes of energy, protein, salt and potassium in infants and young children living in Europe are generally high while intakes of dietary fibre in young children are low. Intakes of protein, salt and potassium are not at levels which are of concern, whereas energy intakes above requirements will lead to an unfavourable gain in body mass.

In the case of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) and zinc, the risk of inadequate intakes in infants and young children living in Europe cannot be quantified. However, as zinc intakes are mainly above the AR and no overt deficiency in this population group in Europe has been reported, it is considered that current zinc intakes in infants and young children living in Europe are not of particular concern.

Dietary intakes of alpha-linolenic acid (ALA), docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), iron, vitamin D and iodine (in some European countries) are low in infants and young children living in Europe and particular attention should be paid to ensuring an appropriate supply of ALA, DHA, iron, vitamin D and iodine in infants and young children with inadequate or at risk of inadequate status of these nutrients, in particular in the view of the poor iron, vitamin D and iodine status of some sub-groups of infants and young children living in Europe.

Several European countries have translated nutrient intake recommendations for infants and young children into food-based dietary guidelines (FBDG) to help caregivers in the choice of age-appropriate foods to meet dietary needs. It has been shown in one European country that a specific modular dietary schedule for the first year of life and an optimised mixed diet for children aged 1 to 18 years are able to provide an adequate energy and nutrient supply for these age groups, with the exception of vitamin D.

Although dietary habits markedly differ within Member States, these diets can be taken as an example of dietary patterns which can ensure a sufficient energy and nutrient supply in infants and young children.

Fortified formulae, including young-child formula, are one of several means to increase n-3 PUFA, iron, vitamin D and iodine intakes in infants and young children living in Europe with inadequate or at risk of inadequate status of these nutrients. However, other means, such as fortified cow's milk, fortified cereals and cereal-based foods, supplements or the early introduction of meat and fish into complementary feeding and their continued regular consumption, are efficient alternatives to increase intakes of these nutrients. The selection of the appropriate form and vehicle through which these nutrients are provided in the diet will depend on national dietary habits, health authorities, the regulatory context and caregivers' preference. However, it is recommended that guidelines for vitamin D supplementation of infants and children established at national level be followed.

In comparison with cow's milk, currently marketed young-child formulae contain more ALA, DHA (if added), iron and vitamin D but similar amounts of iodine.

The mean content of these nutrients in young-child formulae is within the range of permitted concentrations in follow-on formulae and, except for iron, also in infant formulae.

No unique role of young-child formulae with respect to the provision of critical nutrients in the diet of infants and young children living in Europe can be identified, so that they cannot be considered as a necessity to satisfy the nutritional requirements of young children when compared with other foods that may be included in the normal diet of young children (such as breast milk, infant formulae, follow-on formulae and cow's milk).



TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Abstract | | . 1 |
|---------------|---|-----|
| Summary | у | 2 |
| | contents | |
| Backgrou | und as provided by the European Commission | 6 |
| Terms of | Freference as provided by the European Commission | 7 |
| Assessme | ent | 8 |
| 1. | Introduction | 8 |
| 2. | Definitions | 10 |
| 3. | Methodological considerations | 11 |
| 3.1. | Nutrient requirements | 11 |
| 3.2. | Risk of inadequate nutrient intakes | 12 |
| 3.3. | Compositional information | |
| 4. | Nutrient requirements and recommendations | |
| 4.1. | Energy | |
| 4.2. | Protein | |
| 4.2. | | |
| 4.3. | Fat | |
| 4.3. | | |
| 4.3. | | |
| 4.4. | Glycaemic carbohydrates | |
| 4.5. | Dietary fibre | |
| 4.6. | Water | |
| 4.7. | Calcium | |
| 4.7. | Phosphorus | |
| 4.8. 4.9. | Magnesium | |
| 4.9. 4.10. | Sodium, chloride and potassium. | |
| 4.10. | | |
| | | |
| 4.10 4.10 | | |
| | | |
| 4.11. | Iron | |
| 4.12. | Zinc | |
| 4.13. | Copper | |
| 4.14. | Selenium | - |
| 4.15. | Iodine | |
| 4.16. | Chromium | |
| 4.17. | Molybdenum | |
| 4.18. | Manganese | |
| 4.19. | Fluoride | |
| 4.20. | Vitamin A | |
| 4.21. | Vitamin D | |
| 4.22. | Vitamin E | |
| 4.23. | Vitamin K | |
| 4.24. | Thiamin (vitamin B ₁) | |
| 4.25. | Riboflavin (vitamin B ₂) | |
| 4.26. | Niacin | |
| 4.27. | Pantothenic acid | |
| 4.28. | Pyridoxine (vitamin B ₆) | |
| 4.29. | Biotin | |
| 4.30. | Folate | |
| 4.31. | Cobalamin (vitamin B ₁₂) | 45 |
| 4.32. | Vitamin C | |
| 4.33. | Choline | 46 |
| 5. | Dietary intake | 49 |

| 5.1. | Dietary surveys | 9 |
|-------------|--|----|
| 5.2. | Risk of inadequate nutrient intakes | 1 |
| 5.2.1. | Energy | 2 |
| 5.2.2. | Protein | 2 |
| 5.2.3. | Essential fatty acids and LC-PUFAs | 2 |
| 5.2.4. | Dietary fibre | 3 |
| 5.2.5. | Calcium | 3 |
| 5.2.6. | Iron | 3 |
| 5.2.7. | Zinc | 7 |
| 5.2.8. | Copper | 8 |
| 5.2.9. | Selenium | 9 |
| 5.2.10. | Iodine | 0 |
| 5.2.11. | Vitamin A6 | 1 |
| 5.2.12. | Vitamin D | 2 |
| 5.2.13. | Vitamin E | 3 |
| 5.2.14. | Vitamin K64 | 4 |
| 5.2.15. | Thiamin (vitamin B_1) | 4 |
| 5.2.16. | Folate | 4 |
| 5.3. | Critical nutrients in European infants' and young children's diets | 5 |
| 6. St | rategies to improve intakes of critical nutrients in European infants' and young children' | S |
| di | ets | 6 |
| 6.1. | n-3 PUFAs | 7 |
| 6.2. | Iron | 8 |
| 6.3. | Vitamin D70 | 0 |
| 6.4. | Iodine | 2 |
| 6.5. | The role of milk in the diet of infants and young children | 2 |
| 6.5.1. | The role of young-child formulae in providing critical nutrients to European youn | g |
| | children compared with other milk products | 3 |
| Conclusions | 5 | 5 |
| Documenta | tion provided to EFSA | 7 |
| References | | 7 |
| Appendix A | Nutrient composition and energy content of cow's milk-based young-child formula | .e |
| | rrently on the EU market, of infant and follow-on formulae (cow's milk based) as pe | er |
| Di | rective 2006/141/EC and of full-fat cow's milk ^(a) | 9 |
| Abbreviatio | ns 10 | 1 |



BACKGROUND AS PROVIDED BY THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION

Directive 2009/39/EC on foodstuffs intended for particular nutritional uses lays down general rules⁴ on the composition of such foods that are specially designed to meet the particular nutritional requirements of the persons to whom they are intended, including infants and young children in good health.

One of the measures adopted under that framework legislation is Commission Directive 2006/141/EC on infant formulae and follow-on formulae⁵. That Directive was adopted originally in 1991 and revised globally in 2006.

The Directive defines 'infants' as "children under the age of 12 months" and 'young children' as "children aged between one and three years".

The Directive also defines 'infant formulae' as "foodstuffs for particular nutritional use by infants during the first months of life and satisfying by themselves the nutritional requirements of such infants until the introduction of appropriate complementary feeding" and 'follow-on formulae' as "foodstuffs intended for particular nutritional use by infants when appropriate complementary feeding is introduced and constituting the principal liquid element in a progressively diversified diet of such infants".

The Directive sets essential requirements for the composition of infant formula and follow-on formula, which are based on a number of opinions of the Scientific Committee on Food, the latest one being the "Report of the Scientific Committee on Food on the Revision of Essential Requirements of Infant Formulae and Follow-on Formulae", adopted on 4 April 2003⁶. In the last ten years, scientific and technological developments on the essential composition of these products have progressed and there are increasing calls for a review of the legislation to reflect such developments.

The Commission's proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and the Council on foods intended for infants and young children and on food for special medical purposes⁷ aims at revising the legal framework applicable to food for particular nutritional uses and, among others, at repealing Directive 2009/39/EC. Negotiations on the proposal are reaching their conclusion and it is expected that such Regulation will be adopted in the next months.

Once the new Regulation is adopted, the Commission will need to adopt delegated acts setting specific rules for the categories of food covered by the Regulation, including infant formulae and follow-on formulae.

In the last years, increasing numbers of milk-based drinks and similar products are marketed in different Member States with the denomination of 'growing-up milks' or 'toddlers' milks' or with similar terminology. The composition of these products varies with respect to the protein origin (they can be derived from protein of animal or vegetable origin such as cows' milk, goats' milk, soy or rice) and other ingredients. They are promoted as being particularly suitable for young children and, as such, under the current rules, may be considered as foodstuffs for particular nutritional uses. However, no composition requirements for these products are set in EU legislation.

Different views exist in the scientific community and among stakeholders on whether these products are necessary to satisfy the nutritional requirements of young children or have any nutritional benefits when compared to other foods that can constitute the normal diet of young children. In this context,

⁴ Directive 2009/39/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 6 May 2009 on foodstuffs intended for particular nutritional uses, OJ L 124, 20.5.2009, p. 21.

⁵ Commission Directive 2006/141/EC of 22 December 2006 on infant formulae and follow-on formulae and amending Directive 1999/21/EC, OJ L 401, 30.12.2006, p. 1.

⁶ Report of the Scientific Committee on Food on the Revision of Essential Requirements of Infant Formulae and Follow-on Formulae, adopted on 4 April 2003, SCF/CS/NUT/IF/65 Final, 18 May 2003.

⁷ COM (2011) 353.

some would argue that, given the potential variability of weaning diets that may result in different nutrient intakes for this group of the population, these products are convenient, as a liquid element in the diet of young children, in contributing to meeting their nutritional requirements. Taking all these elements into account, the European Parliament and the Council agreed that these products should be subject of a specific reflection. Therefore, in the abovementioned revision of the legal framework, the Commission will be requested, after consulting the European Food Safety Authority, to draft a report on the necessity, if any, of special provisions for milk-based drinks and similar products intended for young children (hereinafter 'growing-up milks').

In the meantime, at international level, the Codex Committee on Nutrition and Food for Special Dietary Uses (CCNFSDU) agreed at its 34th session in December 2012 to revise their existing standard for follow-up formulae⁸, which dates back to 1987 and applies to food intended for use as a liquid part of the weaning diet for the infant from the 6th month on and for young children up to three years of age. Such review will cover all aspects of the existing standard and will include consideration of issues such as technological and scientific developments in follow-up formula production and composition over the past 25 years, the age range of the intended population, product definition and the role of such products in the diet of infants and young children. Furthermore, following comments by WHO and some Codex Member Countries and observers, the review may also consider whether this standard is still necessary at all. The first discussion on this subject will take place at the next session of the CCNFSDU to be held on 4-8 November 2013.

Taking into account the developments described above, it is considered necessary to request the EFSA to provide a scientific opinion on all milk-based drinks and similar products intended for infants and young children.

TERMS OF REFERENCE AS PROVIDED BY THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION

In accordance with Article 29(1) (a) of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002⁹, the European Commission asks EFSA to:

- Provide advice on the nutritional requirements of infants and young children and, in particular, on those requirements that may be satisfied by breast milk, milk-based drinks and similar products. In this context it will also be important to provide advice to the Commission on how these nutritional requirements evolve during the age period 0-3 years.
- Provide advice on the essential composition requirements of infant formulae and follow-on formulae by updating the relevant opinions of SCF on the matter.
- Provide advice on the importance of the role that 'growing-up milks' may have as a liquid element in the diet of young children, with respect to elements such as the pattern of consumption, the nutritional intake and any other relevant aspect related to exposure to substances that may be present in their diet. In this context it would be useful to take into account that different products are on the market which may have a considerably varied composition.
- Provide advice on whether 'growing-up milks' are necessary to satisfy the nutritional requirements of young children or have any nutritional benefits when compared to other foods that may be included in the normal diet of young children (such as breast milk, infant formulae, follow-on formulae, cow's milk and other similar products).
- If considered appropriate, advise the Commission with respect to the appropriate age range and the essential composition of 'growing-up milks'.

⁸ CODEX STAN 156-1987.

⁹ OJ. L 31, 01.02.2002. p. 1.



ASSESSMENT

1. Introduction

The period of infancy and young childhood is characterised by special needs in nutrition, with respect to requirements for energy and for nutrient amounts per kilogram body mass, which must not only maintain the body but also support a rapid rate of growth and the appropriate synthesis and deposition of body tissue. This growth leads to a doubling of body weight between birth and the age of three to four months and to a tripling by the age of 12 months and consumes about 27 %, 11 % and 5 % of total energy expenditure (TEE) of formula-fed infants from birth to four months, from four to six months and from six to 12 months, respectively (Fomon, 1993). This additional energy requirement for growth includes both the energy deposited in the form of new tissue and the energy required for deposition (i.e. 10.8 kcal per gram of deposited fat and 13.4 kcal/g deposited protein (Roberts and Young, 1988)). Moreover, the metabolically active organs, brain, liver, heart and kidneys, are, relative to body weight, larger than in adults (20 % vs. 5 % of body weight), in spite of the fact that they do not attain 50 % of their adult size until the end of the second year of life (Prentice et al., 2013). These four organs account for a higher percentage of the resting energy expenditure (REE) than in adults (e.g. the brain accounts for 65 % of REE in the newborn compared with about 20 % in adults), whereas muscle contributes only about 8 %, compared with 25 % in adults. Another peculiarity of young infants is that the synthetic capacity for some metabolic intermediates may be limited, making such substances conditionally indispensable in the diet. Homeostatic mechanisms which could compensate for dietary imbalances in adults may be immature with respect to both absorption and to elimination of substances and, owing to the small body size, stores of nutrients (e.g. glycogen) are too low to compensate for insufficient intakes. Moreover, the quantity and quality of nutrient supply during infancy and young childhood has been found to be related to long-term health effects, cognitive development and diseases some of which are the consequence of "programming" metabolism in a negative way (e.g. Barker, 1994; Lucas, 1998).

A special feature of young infancy is that, as a rule, one liquid food is the sole source of nutrition and must supply appropriate amounts of energy, water and nutrients. Breast milk is the preferred food for all healthy infants and provides an adequate supply of all nutrients to support healthy growth and development (with the exception of vitamin K during the first weeks of life and of vitamin D), besides providing protection against infection and immunostimulatory components. Comparative studies in affluent countries have indicated important advantages of breast-feeding over formula-feeding for the recipient infants, such as lower incidence rates of gastrointestinal and respiratory infections (Ip et al., 2007; Agostoni et al., 2009) and a lower risk of obesity (von Kries et al., 1999; Toschke et al., 2002; Owen et al., 2005). Breast milk is, therefore, the model for the composition of infant formula, taking into account that a breast milk substitute should not only imitate the composition of breast milk but also aim at achieving similar health effects (Koletzko et al., 2005).

Infant and follow-on formulae have, therefore, been regulated as foods for particular nutritional uses under Directive $2009/39/EC^{10}$ and its implementing Directive $2006/141/EC^{11}$ based upon a series of reports from the Scientific Committee for Food (SCF, 1983, 1989, 1991, 1993a, 1995, 2003c). No revision of the SCF reports in the light of new available evidence has been undertaken since then, and such review in the context of the revision of the implementation of Regulation (EU) No $609/2013^{12}$ is part of the present Terms of Reference (ToR).

¹⁰ Directive 2009/39/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 6 May 2009 on foodstuffs intended for particular nutritional uses, OJ L 124, 20.5.2009, pp. 21–29.

¹¹ Commission Directive 2006/141/EC of 22 December 2006 on infant formulae and follow-on formulae and amending Directive 1999/21/EC, OJ L 401, 30.12.2006, pp. 1–33.

¹² Regulation (EU) No 609/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 June 2013 on food intended for infants and young children, food for special medical purposes, and total diet replacement for weight control and repealing Council Directive 92/52/EEC, Commission Directives 96/8/EC, 1999/21/EC, 2006/125/EC and 2006/141/EC, Directive 2009/39/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council and Commission Regulations (EC) No 41/2009 and (EC) No 953/2009, OJ L 181, 29.6.2013, pp. 35–56.

Other milk-based formulae intended for young children that are available on the market in many Member States are not regulated as yet. Article 12 of Regulation (EU) No 609/2013 requires the European Commission to present a report to the European Parliament and the Council on the necessity, if any, of special provisions for these products.

Owing to the limited time frame given, the Panel has decided, in agreement with the European Commission, to produce two separate Opinions. Of the five parts of the ToR:

- nutritional requirements of infants and young children and their coverage by human milk and milk-based products,
- advice on the necessity of a revision of the essential composition of infant and follow-on formulae as laid down in Directive 2006/141/EC,
- the potential role of milk-based drinks designed, manufactured and advertised to be used in the diets of infants and young children other than infant and follow-on formulae,
- a comparison of the nutritional role of such other milk-based drinks in the diet of young children with other formulae, human milk or cow's milk,
- eventually advice on the essential composition of such other milk-based drinks and their target groups,

the Panel will provide advice in this first Opinion on

- 1) the dietary requirements of infants and young children,
- 2) the dietary intakes of infants and young children living in Europe in comparison with the requirements, and
- 3) based on the findings, the potential role of milk-based drinks designed, manufactured and advertised to be used in the diets of infants and young children, including whether they have any nutritional benefits when compared with other foods that may be included in the normal diet of infants and young children (such as breast milk, infant formulae, follow-on formulae and cow's milk).

The Panel will not discuss safety aspects of ingredients nor of pesticide residues and contaminants but notes that the current maximum residue levels (MRLs) of pesticides¹³ and contaminants¹⁴ have been set at the lowest achievable level with a view to protecting vulnerable groups such as children. Foods complying with this framework will, therefore, not pose a health risk to infants and young children. The Panel supports the extension of the relevant rules for infant and follow-on formulae given in Article 4 of Directive 2006/141/EC to milk-based drinks for young children, should these be regulated.

This Opinion will also not address the dietary needs of pre-term infants, very low or low birth weight infants or infants and children with particular nutritional requirements.

¹³ Regulation (EC) No 396/2005 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 February 2005 on maximum residue levels of pesticides in or on food and feed of plant and animal origin and amending Council Directive 91/414/EEC. OJ L 70, 16.3.2005, pp. 1–16.

¹⁴ Commission Regulation (EC) No 1881/2006 of 19 December 2006 setting maximum levels for certain contaminants in foodstuffs.OJ L 364, 20.12.2006, pp. 5–24.



2. Definitions

For this Opinion the following definitions apply:

- Infants means children under the age of 12 months (Article 2(2)(a) of Regulation (EU) No 609/2013).
- Young children means children aged between one and three years (36 months) (Article 2(2)(b) of Regulation (EU) No 609/2013).
- Infant formula means food intended for use by infants during the first months of life and satisfying by itself the nutritional requirements of such infants until the introduction of appropriate complementary feeding (Article 2(2)(c) of Regulation (EU) No 609/2013 and Codex Stan 72-1981¹⁵).
- Follow-on formula means food intended use by infants when appropriate complementary feeding is introduced and which constitutes the principal liquid element in a progressively diversified diet of such infants (Article 2(2)(d) of Regulation (EU) No 609/2013).

In the definition of the Codex Alimentarius (Codex-Stan 156-1987¹⁶) "follow-up" formula is "a food intended for use as a liquid part of the weaning diet for the infant from the sixth month on and for young children" and "is prepared from the milk of cows or other animals and/or other constituents of animal and/or plant origin, which have been proved to be suitable for infants from the sixth month on and for young children". This definition can theoretically cover other (milk-based) formulae intended for young children.

- "Growing-up milk" or "toddlers' milk" are formulae intended specifically for young children. No compositional criteria have been laid down in EU legislation. They may or may not be based on milk. In the latter case they would have to contain other animal or plant protein. The Panel proposes not to use the term "growing-up milk" because this would imply a particular effect on growth. The Panel will also not use the term "toddlers' milk" because it considers that a "young child" is better defined by age. Young-child formula is the term proposed by the Panel for formulae intended for young children. This includes also formulae based on protein sources other than cow's milk. Such formulae could be considered to be included in the scope of Codex Standard on follow-up formula (Codex-Stan 156-1987).
- Complementary feeding, as defined by WHO in 2002, is "the process starting when breast milk alone is no longer sufficient to meet the nutritional requirements of infants" so that "other foods and liquids are needed, along with breast milk" (WHO, 2002). In the Panel's Opinion on the appropriate age for the introduction of complementary food (EFSA NDA Panel, 2009) "complementary feeding" means the period, when complementary foods are given together with either human milk or a breast milk substitute. The Panel notes that this definition differs from the definition of "complementary feeding" provided by WHO.
- Complementary food in this Opinion comprises, therefore, all liquid, semisolid and solid foods other than breast milk and breast milk substitutes that are fed to infants who are being weaned from the breast. Complementary food can be beverages, spoon-fed foods or finger food (EFSA NDA Panel, 2009). The Codex Alimentarius has separate standards for two types of complementary foods, cereal-based foods and baby foods (Codex-Stan 074-1981, Rev.—

¹⁵ Codex-Stan 72-1981 (Codex Alimentarius), 2011. Standard for infant formula and formulas for special medical purposes intended for infants. Adopted 1981, amended 1983, 1985, 1987, revised 2007, amended 2011.

¹⁶ Codex-Stan 156-1987 (Codex Alimentarius), 2011. Codex Standard for follow-up formula. Adopted 1987, amended 1989, 2011.

 $1^{17}2006$; Codex-Stan 73-198 1^{18}) whereas, in the EU, these two types are regulated in one Directive 2006/125/EC.¹⁹

3. Methodological considerations

The dietary requirement of a nutrient has been identified as that amount of a nutrient which must be consumed on a regular basis to maintain health in an otherwise healthy individual, on the assumption that the requirements for energy and all other nutrients have already been satisfied. Nutrient requirements can be deduced from physiological needs and metabolic demand and are given either as Average Requirements (ARs) or Adequate Intakes (AIs). Reference Intake ranges for macronutrients (RI) or Population Reference Intakes (PRIs) are the level of (nutrient) intake that is enough for virtually all healthy people in a group. Nutrient requirements and references should be differentiated from recommended intakes because of differences in the methodology for their derivation and their intention. Considering amongst other nutrient goals for a given population, reference values are translated into recommendations for managing nutritional risks (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010g).

In 2005, the European Commission asked EFSA for advice on Dietary Reference Values (DRVs) for macro- and micronutrients. Since then, the Panel has published Opinions on DRVs for water, energy, carbohydrates and dietary fibre, fats, protein, molybdenum, fluoride, vitamin C and manganese (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010f, 2010d, 2010a, 2012a, 2013b, 2013c, 2013d, 2013e, 2013f) and endorsed opinions on DRVs for biotin and pantothenic acid for public consultation (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013g, 2013a).

3.1. Nutrient requirements

Owing to the limited timeframe given to the Panel for this Opinion, the Panel will provide advice on the levels of nutrients which it considers adequate for the majority of healthy, term, normal-weight infants and young children, but will not derive any ARs or AIs. This will be done in the framework of setting DRVs for individual micronutrients.

For this Opinion, the Panel will review reference values set by the SCF (1993b) in the light of more recent recommendations given by other scientific or authoritative bodies, i.e. the French Food Safety Agency (Afssa) and the Health Council of the Netherlands (Gezondheidsraad) as well as the recommendations given by Nordic Council of Ministers, the German-speaking countries (D-A-CH), the US Institute of Medicine (IoM), the National Health and Medical Research Council of the Commonwealth (NHMRC) of Australia and the Ministry of Health of New Zealand and the World Health Organization (WHO), unless the Panel has already given an Opinion or endorsed an Opinion for public consultation on a DRV for a specific nutrient, in which case the advice given previously by the Panel will be taken as the basis of the current Opinion.

Substances, such as inositol or nucleotides, which are added to infant or follow-on formulae and for which no reference values exist from any of these bodies will not be addressed in the present Opinion.

Neither the SCF nor the Panel has set DRVs for infants up to the age of six months as it is considered that exclusive breast-feeding by well-nourished mothers is nutritionally adequate for most healthy infants born at term (at or after 37 completed weeks of gestation) (EFSA NDA Panel, 2009).

The nutrient content of breast milk from healthy, well-nourished unsupplemented mothers could therefore be used as a basis when providing advice on levels of nutrient intakes considered adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life. However, both the volume and nutrient composition of human milk vary widely over the duration of lactation, between and within meals, depending on maternal factors, particularly the diet, as well as sex and size of the infant and the region

¹⁷ Codex-Stan 074-1981, 2006. Codex Standard for processed cereal-based foods for infants and young children. Adopted in 1981, revised 2006.

¹⁸ Codex-Stan 73-1981, 1989. Codex Standard for canned baby foods. Adopted 1981. Amended 1983, 1985, 1987, 1989.

¹⁹ Commission Directive 2006/125/EC of 5 December 2006 on processed cereal-based foods and baby foods for infants and young children (Codified version). OJ L 339, 6.12.2006, pp. 16–35.

of the world, with the greatest variations reported for fat and fatty acids (Stam et al., 2013). Therefore, intake via breast milk of certain nutrients cannot be considered to be equivalent to the infant's requirement for that nutrient.

The mean human milk intakes of exclusively breast-fed infants in developed countries at the age of one, two, three, four, five and six months were found to be 699, 731, 751, 780, 796 and 854 mL/day respectively (Butte et al., 2002). This means that, after the age of one month, the intake increases only slowly to about 800 mL/day (range 710–936 mL) at six months (Neville et al., 1988). These data were confirmed in trend by a compilation of breast milk intake data derived using isotope tracer methods (dose-to-the-mother-deuterium-method) from 737 infants and young children (mean age 5.2 months, range 0.4–23 months) from 12 countries around the world (Bangladesh, Brazil, Chile, Kenya, Malawi, Mexico, Papua New Guinea, Senegal, Gambia, the USA, the UK, Zambia): the mean ranged from 0.6 kg/day (95 % confidence interval (CI) 0.51–0.7 kg/day) during the first month to 0.82 kg/day (95 % CI 0.74–0.91 kg/day) at three to four months of life, with little decrease until around eight to nine months (da Costa et al., 2010). In a more recent longitudinal study (The First-Feed study), milk intake and energy intake were measured (using the doubly labelled water method) at two time points around 15 and 25 weeks of age in 50 healthy exclusively breast-fed infants in Scotland. Forty-one were exclusively breast-fed to 25 weeks of age. Mean (\pm SD) milk intake was (923 \pm 122 g/day (n = 36) and 999 \pm 146 g/day (n = 33) at 15 and 25 weeks of age, respectively (Nielsen et al., 2011).

The Panel considers the average volume of breast milk to be 800 mL/day with an upper bound of 1 200 mL/day, which will be taken as the basis for calculation of nutrient intakes via breast milk.

3.2. Risk of inadequate nutrient intakes

The proportion of the population with an inadequate intake may be estimated using the AR cut-point method, originally proposed by Beaton (1994) and adopted by IoM (2000a). This method requires knowledge of the AR and the distribution of habitual nutrient intakes and has been shown to be effective in obtaining a realistic estimate of the prevalence of dietary inadequacy (Carriquiry, 1999) when the distribution of nutrient intakes is normal and requirements and intakes are independent. The percentage of the population with a habitual daily nutrient intake that is lower than the AR is taken as an estimate of the percentage of the population with probable inadequate intakes.

The prevalence of inadequacy of intake of a nutrient in a population cannot be estimated using as comparator a less precise estimates of recommended intake, such as an AI, because the relationship of such a reference value to the requirement for the nutrient is not known. Groups with mean intakes at or above the AI can be assumed to have a low prevalence of inadequate intakes for the defined criterion of nutritional status (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010g). If, however, intake falls below the AI, no quantitative (or qualitative) estimate can be made of the probability of nutrient inadequacy. Professional judgement, based on additional types of information, need to be exercised when interpreting intakes below the AI (IoM, 2000a).

In the absence of an AI or an AR set by the Panel for a particular nutrient, the Panel will take as a surrogate the AI or AR set by another scientific or authoritative body.

The Panel will also review available evidence with respect to studies in infants and young children living in Europe reporting on status markers of nutrient adequacy in order to complement information provided by nutrient intake studies.

It should be noted that for most nutrients sufficient data to define the risk of inadequate nutrient intakes in infants and young children living in Europe are not available and the Panel's assessment has to be based on the limited data available.

The Panel notes the underlying limitations and uncertainties of this approach considering that information on precise intake distributions is not available to the Panel, that studies reporting on a sufficient number of percentiles to apply the AR cut-point method with sufficient certainty are rare, that the ARs which form the basis of this assessment are mainly extrapolated from other population groups rather than having been based on relevant health outcomes in the population of infants and young children and that data on nutrient deficiencies based on the assessment of status markers in infants and young children living in Europe are limited to certain nutrients of high concern, such as vitamin D and iron, and to some countries.

3.3. Compositional information

The information on the composition of young-child formulae currently available on the EU market and used in this Opinion is derived from data provided to EFSA by AINIA (Asociación de Investigación de la Industria Agroalimentaria) following a procurement procedure (AINIA, 2013). In this procurement procedure, compositional data of 244 young-child formulae from 62 food business operators currently available in the market in at least one of 16 EU Member States (Austria (n = 18), Belgium (n = 17), Czech Republic (n = 14), Finland (n = 3), France (n = 34), Germany (n = 25), Greece (n = 11), Hungary (n = 5), Ireland (n = 10), Italy (n = 24), Netherlands (n = 16), Poland (n = 13), Portugal (n = 8), Spain (n = 32), Sweden (n = 2) and United Kingdom (n = 12) were collected. The majority of these formulae, respectively. Around half of the formulae were in liquid form (n = 109) and the remaining are marketed in the form of powder to be reconstituted. The content of energy and nutrients reported by AINIA was generally in the range reported by SNE (Specialised Nutrition Europe) and in the review by Crawley and Westland (2013).

The minimum and maximum permitted amounts of nutrients in infant and follow-on formulae were taken from Directive 2006/141/EC.

The compositional information used in this Opinion with respect to cow's milk is based on information collected by EFSA's Data Collection and Monitoring Unit from 14 EU Member States.

An overview of the nutrient composition and energy content of young-child formulae currently on the market, the essential composition of infant and follow-on formulae according to Directive 2006/141/EC and the nutrient composition and energy content of cow's milk is given in Appendix A.

4. Nutrient requirements and recommendations

4.1. Energy

Humans need energy to perform and regulate all biochemical processes that maintain body structures and functions, and to perform physical activities. Energy requirement is the amount of food energy needed to balance energy expenditure in order to maintain body mass, body composition and a level of physical activity consistent with long-term good health. This includes the energy needed for the optimal growth and development of children (FAO/WHO/UNU, 1985; SCF, 1993b; FAO/WHO/UNU, 2004; IoM, 2005a). Whereas DRVs for protein and various micronutrients are given as a set of values including ARs, PRIs and Tolerable Upper Intake Levels (ULs), DRVs for energy are provided as ARs.

0 to < 12 months

The Panel decided to extend the methodology chosen in its previous Opinion for deriving ARs for energy for older infants (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013b) to infants from birth to six months. The Panel had based the ARs for older infants on the equation for TEE established by Butte (2005) derived from data from infants exclusively breast-fed for four months and adding energy requirements for growth based on the values proposed by Butte et al. (2000) and Butte (2005) and using median body masses from the WHO Growth Standard (WHO Multicentre Growth Reference Study Group, 2006). A detailed description of the methodology is found in the Panel's previous Opinion (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013b).

$\underline{12 \text{ to} < 36 \text{ months}}$

In its Opinion of 2013, the Panel decided to use the equations of Henry (2005) for the estimation of REE to calculate ARs for energy for children after the age of one year. For the calculations, median body masses and heights from the WHO Growth Standards (WHO Multicentre Growth Reference Study Group, 2006) were used for children aged 12 to 35 months. A single value was chosen for the physical activity level (PAL) of 12- to 35-month-old children; this PAL value was increased by 1 % per year as a way to take into account the energy expenditure required for growth.

Table 1 gives an overview on energy intakes considered adequate for infants and young children from birth to age 36 months.

| Age (months) | А | R | A | R |
|-------------------|------------|------------|------------------|--------------------|
| | (MJ (kc | al)/day) | (MJ (kcal)/kg bo | dy weight per day) |
| | Boys | Girls | Boys | Girls |
| 0 to < 1 | 1.5 (359) | 1.4 (329) | 0.45 (109) | 0.43 (103) |
| 1 to < 2 | 2.1 (505) | 1.9 (449) | 0.47 (112) | 0.45 (107) |
| 2 to < 3 | 2.2 (531) | 2.0 (472) | 0.40 (95) | 0.39 (92) |
| 3 to < 4 | 2.1 (499) | 1.9 (459) | 0.33 (78) | 0.33 (79) |
| 4 to < 5 | 2.3 (546) | 2.1 (503) | 0.33 (78) | 0.33 (79) |
| 5 to < 6 | 2.4 (583) | 2.3 (538) | 0.33 (78) | 0.33 (78) |
| 6 to < 7 | 2.5 (599) | 2.3 (546) | 0.32 (76) | 0.31 (75) |
| 7 to < 8 | 2.7 (634) | 2.4 (572) | 0.32 (76) | 0.32 (76) |
| 8 to < 9 | 2.8 (661) | 2.5 (597) | 0.32 (77) | 0.32 (76) |
| 9 to < 10 | 2.9 (698) | 2.6 (628) | 0.32 (77) | 0.32 (76) |
| 10 to < 11 | 3.0 (724) | 2.7 (655) | 0.33 (79) | 0.32 (77) |
| 11 to < 12 | 3.1 (742) | 2.8 (674) | 0.33 (79) | 0.32 (77) |
| 12 ^(a) | 3.3 (777) | 3.0 (712) | n.a. | n.a. |
| 24 ^(a) | 4.3 (1028) | 4.0 (946) | n.a. | n.a. |
| 36 ^(a) | 4.9 (1174) | 4.6 (1096) | n.a. | n.a. |

| Table 1: | Intakes of energy | considered adequa | ate for infants and | l young children |
|----------|-------------------|-------------------|---------------------|------------------|
|----------|-------------------|-------------------|---------------------|------------------|

(a): PAL value 1.4.

n.a., not available.

4.2. Protein

Dietary protein is an essential component of the diet, supplying the body with nitrogen (N) and amino acids as well as other non-protein metabolically active nitrogenous substances. The protein requirement of infants and young children comprises two components, the maintenance requirement and the growth requirement. The protein requirement can be defined as the minimum intake that will lead to a positive nitrogen balance to allow for growth in normally growing subjects who have an appropriate body composition, are in energy balance and are moderately physically active.

Estimating true protein intakes from breast milk is considered difficult because the non-protein nitrogen fraction accounts for about 25 % of total nitrogen; this is made up of urea (up to 50 % of non-protein nitrogen), amino acids and other nitrogenous compounds, and its utilisation is not entirely understood (WHO/FAO/UNU, 2007).

Therefore, in its previous Opinion (EFSA NDA Panel, 2012a) the Panel decided to derive an AR for protein for infants in the second half-year of life and children based on a factorial approach as the sum of the requirement for maintenance and the requirement for growth adjusted for efficiency of dietary protein utilisation.

0 to < 6 months

Following the approach taken by the Panel in its earlier Opinion (EFSA NDA Panel, 2012a) and in line with FAO/WHO/UNU (1985), the Panel considered the average maintenance requirement for infants in the first half-year of life to be 0.58 g protein/kg body weight per day (93 mg N/kg body weight per day), which was derived from nitrogen balance studies in infants. The additional requirement for growth was estimated from average daily rates of protein deposition adjusted by an efficiency of utilisation of dietary protein for growth of 66 %.

6 to < 36 months

An average maintenance requirement of 0.66 g protein/kg body weight per day (105 mg N/kg body weight per day) was defined for infants and young children aged from 6 to < 36 months by the Panel in its earlier Opinion (EFSA NDA Panel, 2012a), which was derived from nitrogen balance studies in adults. The average protein requirement for growth was estimated from average daily rates of protein deposition, calculated from studies on whole-body potassium deposition, and adjusted by an efficiency of utilisation of dietary protein for growth of 58 %. This constitutes an AR, to which 1.96 standard deviations were added to derive a PRI.

For the present Opinion, the Panel used the 50th percentile of the WHO Growth Standards (WHO Multicentre Growth Reference Study Group, 2006) as reference body weights rather than the reference body weights derived by van Buuren et al. (2012), which were used in the Panel's previous Opinion (EFSA NDA Panel, 2012a). This is in line with more recent Opinions on DRVs of the Panel. Therefore, minor deviations between these values and the PRIs published in the Panel's earlier Opinion may occur. Intakes of protein considered adequate for the majority of infants and young children are given in Table 2.

| Age (months) | PRI (g per kg body weight | Body weight (kg) ^(a) | | PRI (g/day) | |
|--------------|------------------------------|---------------------------------|-------|-------------|-------|
| | per day) | Boys | Girls | Boys | Girls |
| 0 to < 1 | _ | _ | _ | _ | - |
| 1 to < 2 | 1.77 | 4.5 | 4.2 | 8 | 7 |
| 2 to < 3 | 1.50 | 5.6 | 5.1 | 8 | 8 |
| 3 to < 4 | 1.36 | 6.4 | 5.8 | 9 | 8 |
| 4 to < 5 | 1.27 | 7.0 | 6.4 | 9 | 8 |
| 5 to < 6 | 1.21 | 7.5 | 6.9 | 9 | 8 |
| 6 to < 7 | 1.15 | 7.9 | 7.3 | 9 | 8 |
| 7 to < 8 | 1.27 | 8.3 | 7.6 | 11 | 10 |
| 8 to < 9 | 1.23 | 8.6 | 7.9 | 11 | 10 |
| 9 to < 10 | 1.19 | 8.9 | 8.2 | 11 | 10 |
| 10 to < 11 | 1.16 | 9.2 | 8.5 | 11 | 10 |
| 11 to < 12 | 1.14 | 9.4 | 8.7 | 11 | 10 |
| 12 | 1.14 | 9.6 | 8.9 | 11 | 10 |
| 18 | 1.03 | 10.9 | 10.2 | 11 | 11 |
| 24 | 0.97 | 12.2 | 11.5 | 12 | 11 |
| 36 | 0.90 | 14.3 | 13.9 | 13 | 13 |

 Table 2:
 Intakes of protein considered adequate for the majority of infants and young children

(a): 50th percentile of WHO Growth Standards.

4.2.1. Protein intake and health consequences

It has been proposed that the difference in growth observed worldwide between formula-fed and breast-fed infants may be related to differences in protein intake, which 15 years ago was estimated to be 55 to 80 % higher in formula-fed infants than in breast-fed infants (Alexy et al., 1999). In addition, it has been suggested that a higher protein intake may contribute to an enhanced insulin secretion and release of insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-1 and IGF-binding protein (IGFBP)-1, which was observed

in prospective feeding studies with infant formulae of different protein content (13, 15 or 18 g protein/L) and a breast-fed control group (Axelsson, 2006).

Small differences in weight-for-length (adjusted *z*-score for weight-for-length: 0.20 (95% CI 0.06 to 0.34; p = 0.005)) at two years of age were observed in one intervention study comparing infants fed formula with lower or higher protein content (Koletzko et al., 2009; Grote et al., 2010). A lower prevalence of obesity at six years of age was reported in a cohort that in infancy had been fed formula with a lower protein content than in the cohort fed formula with a higher protein content (Thorisdottir et al., 2013b). One systematic literature review reported an association between higher protein intake in infancy and early childhood and increased growth and higher body mass index (BMI) in childhood (Hörnell et al., 2013).

Whether such small differences in growth observed in infants fed higher-protein formula persists beyond early childhood and are related to risk of overweight and obesity in later life is the subject of on-going investigations.

4.3. Fat

Fat is an important dense source of energy, it facilitates the absorption of fat-soluble dietary components such as vitamins and supplies essential fatty acids (α -linolenic acid (ALA) and linoleic acid (LA)) to the body. However it is not possible to define a quantitative requirement for total fat (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010f), except for the lower level of essential polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs).

4.3.1. Total fat

0 to < 6 months

Fat intakes that are adequate for infants aged from 0 to < 6 months can be derived from observed fat intakes in fully breast-fed infants. The fat content of human milk as a percentage of the energy content is highly variable and depends on many factors, of which the most important are method of sampling, duration of nursing, maternal diet and the nutritional status and BMI of the mother. The fat content has been observed to vary between the extremes of 0.4 and 9.0 g/100 mL in mature human milk (Stam et al., 2013). A mean value of 3.22 ± 1.00 g/100 mL has been reported in banked donor milk in the USA (Wojcik et al., 2009) and a median concentration of 3.92 g/100 mL (10th and 90th percentile (P) 2.38 and 5.87 g/100 mL, respectively) was found in 661 longitudinally collected samples from 91 healthy term infants in Denmark (Michaelsen et al., 1994). Assuming an energy content of breast milk of 67 kcal/100 mL (Butte et al., 2002) a fat content of 3.9 g/100 mL would correspond to 52 % of the total energy content. This is in line with the Panel's previous Opinion on the DRV for fat and fatty acids, in which the Panel considered the mean observed fat intake of breast-fed infants aged from 0 to < 6 months of age to be 50 to 55 % of total energy (E%) (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010f).

Since measurement of the volume consumed by individual nursing infants is difficult, the Panel related the average total fat content of human milk expressed as E% to the energy needs of infants aged from 0 to < 6 months as outlined in Table 1 to derive estimations of intakes of total fat which it considered adequate for the majority of infants aged from 0 to < 6 months (see Table 3).

| Age | Boy | ys | Girls | | |
|----------|-------------------------|-------------------------------------|----------------------|-------------------|--|
| (months) | AR energy (kcal/day) | Total fat ^(a) (g/day) | AR energy (kcal/day) | Total fat (g/day) | |
| 0 to < 1 | 359 | 21 | 329 | 19 | |
| 1 to < 2 | 505 | 30 | 449 | 26 | |
| 2 to < 3 | 531 | 31 | 472 | 27 | |
| 3to < 4 | 499 | 29 | 459 | 27 | |
| 4 to < 5 | 546 | 32 | 503 | 29 | |
| 5 to < 6 | 583 | 34 | 538 | 32 | |

Table 3: Intakes of total fat (g/day) considered adequate for the majority of infants aged from 0 to< 6 months</td>

(a): Assuming a fat content of the diet corresponding to 52 E% and an energy intake corresponding to the AR of energy.

6 to < 12 months

The average fat intake of European infants in the second half of the first year of life, when infants receive progressively more complementary foods, varied from 26 to 29 E% (P5) to 38 to 46 E% (P90/P97.5)) (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010f). Most of the nutritional authorities recommend fat intakes of between 30 and 40 E% for infants in the second half of the first year of life, although there is evidence that a fat intake as low as 25 E% can be adequate for healthy growth, provided the energy intake and the micronutrient supply are appropriate (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010f).

In its previous Opinion, the Panel concluded that only an RI for total fat intake can be defined based on practical considerations (e.g. current levels of intake, achievable dietary patterns in healthy infants 6 to < 12 month of age) and set the RI at 40 E% (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010f).

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

Observed average total fat intake of young children in the EU varied between 26 and 36 E% (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010f).

In its previous opinion, the Panel concluded that , an RI of 35 to 40 E% is appropriate for the second and third years of life based on practical considerations (e.g. current levels of intake, achievable dietary patterns in young children) (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010f).

4.3.2. Essential fatty acids and long-chain (LC)-PUFAs

Two PUFAs, LA (C18:2 n-6) and ALA (C18:3 n-3), are essential in human nutrition and must be provided in the diet. One of their main functions is the regulation of cell membrane fluidity and acting as precursors for the LC-PUFAs arachidonic acid (ARA), eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) from which eicosanoids and docosanoids can be formed. In particular, DHA is needed for the normal development of the nervous system and the retina and accumulates in fetal brain and retina during pregnancy and in early childhood (Koletzko et al., 2008). Dietary LA and ALA can be converted by elongation of the carbon chain and the introduction of double bonds into LC-PUFAs; however, the rate of conversion of ALA to DHA in humans is low (less than 1 %) (Burdge, 2006).

The Panel decided previously not to set a DRV for n-6 PUFAs or n-3 PUFAs in general, but set an AI for LA of 4 E% and an AI for ALA of 0.5 E% for all age groups based on the lowest estimated mean intakes of LA and ALA, respectively, in different population groups in various European countries, that were not accompanied by LA or ALA deficiency symptoms (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010f). No AI for ARA was set by the Panel. DHA can be considered a conditionally essential fatty acid for infants, and an AI of 100 mg per day was set for 7- to 24-month-old infants and young children in the Panel's previous Opinion (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010f).



0 < 6 months

Human milk supplies between 10 and 18 % of total fatty acids as *cis* n-6 PUFA depending on the maternal diet, most of which is LA, which can account for as much as 5 to 8 E% in the diet of a breast-fed infant.

In addition to LA, pregnant women provide their unborn child, and lactating women their breastfeeding infant, with ARA. The content of ARA in human milk varies throughout the world (0.31 to 1.00 weight% of total fatty acids (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010f)) but to a lesser extent than DHA. The average ARA content of human milk has been reported to be 0.47 ± 0.13 weight% of total fatty acids (Brenna et al., 2007). An intake of 800 mL human milk with an assumed fat content of 3.9 g/100 mL, corresponding to a fat intake of 31 g per day and containing about 29.5 g fatty acids, would provide 139 mg of ARA per day assuming an average ARA content of 0.47 weight% (or between 91 and 295 mg of ARA based on the extremes of observed ARA content in breast milk of 0.31–1.00 weight%) (Stam et al., 2013)).

Human milk supplies, on average, 0.5 to 1.0 % of total fatty acids as *cis* n-3 PUFAs. The ALA content of human milk varies between 0.6 and 1.6 % of total fatty acids or between 0.3 and 0.85 E% (IoM, 2005a). DHA is the most important n-3 LC-PUFA in human milk. Depending on the region of the world and habitual dietary habits, DHA contents varying from 0.15 to 1.4 weight% of total fatty acids have been observed (Brenna et al., 2007; Stam et al., 2013). Breast-fed infants accumulate more DHA in brain than infants fed formula containing ALA only and no DHA (Farquharson et al., 1992; Makrides et al., 1994; Cunnane et al., 2000). An intake of 800 mL human milk with an assumed fat content of 3.9 g/100 mL, corresponding to a fat intake of 31 g per day containing about 29.5 g fatty acids would provide 94 mg of DHA per day assuming an average DHA content of 0.32 weight% (Brenna et al., 2007) (or between 44 to 413 mg of DHA based on the extremes of observed DHA content in breast milk of 0.15 and 1.4 weight% (Stam et al., 2013)).

The levels of ARA and DHA in breast milk are mainly derived from maternal stores. They are, moreover, influenced by the maternal diet, in particular by its fatty acid composition and its content of *trans* fatty acids, and by smoking (negative for DHA) (Stam et al., 2013), but they are also under the influence of common polymorphisms (single-nucleotide polymorphisms, SNPs) in the fatty acid desaturase (FADS) gene cluster that codes for the delta-5-desaturase and the delta-6-desaturase, considered to be rate-limiting in the formation of LC-PUFAs from LA and ALA, respectively. Several minor alleles in the FADS cluster appear to determine (mostly negatively) the concentrations of ARA and DHA in human milk but may also affect the consequences of different feeding patterns on the development of infants (Glaser et al., 2011; Lattka et al., 2012).

Taking into account the Panel's previous advice on AIs for LA, ALA and DHA and observed average intakes from breast milk of these fatty acids and ARA, the Panel considers that intakes of total fat, essential fatty acids and n-3 PUFAs as depicted in Table 4 are adequate for the majority of infants aged from 0 to < 6 months.

6 to < 36 months

LA intake in breast-fed infants decreases to 3 to 6 E% after starting complementary feeding. No signs of LA deficiency have been observed at LA intakes above 1 E% in infants (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010f).

Mean intakes of ALA during the second half of the first year of life in EU countries were reported in two studies from Finland and France to be around 0.5 E% (Lagström et al., 1997; Fantino and Gourmet, 2008).

The AIs for LA and ALA of 4 E% and 0.5 E%, respectively, derived previously by the Panel were based on lowest estimated mean intakes of various population groups from a number of European countries where overt deficiency of these fatty acids is not present.

The AI of 100 mg DHA per day for infants older than six months of age and young children below the age of 24 months derived previously by the Panel was based on intervention studies with DHAenriched formula or complementary foods from age 1.5 to 12 months in formerly and continuing breast-fed infants and which was found to be effective for visual function (Birch et al., 2002; Hoffman et al., 2004).

Intake data on different types of fatty acids for the age group 12 to < 36 months are scarce in the EU. The observed average intake of PUFAs is between 3.8 and 5 E%. The mean intake of LA was in one country 4 E% (P5–P95: 3.2 to 4.7 E%), whilst the intake of ALA was around 0.7 to 0.9 g per day (0.5 E%) and that of DHA 0.04 per day (0.03 E%) (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010f).

For the age period 2 to 18 years, the Panel proposed no AI for DHA. However, the Panel considered that dietary advice for children should be consistent with advice for the adult population, for which an AI of 250 mg per day of DHA and EPA combined has been derived (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010f).

The Panel considers that intakes of total fat, essential fatty acids and n-3 PUFA as depicted in Table 4 are adequate for the majority of infants and young children from 0 to < 36 months.

Table 4: Intakes of fat, essential fatty acids and LC-PUFAs considered adequate for the majority of infants and young children

| Age (months) | Total fat (E%) | LA (E%) | ALA (E%) | DHA (mg/day) | DHA + EPA (mg/day) | ARA (mg/day) |
|--------------|-------------------|---------|----------|-----------------|--------------------------|-----------------|
| 0 to < 6 | 50-55 | 4 | 0.5 | 100 | _ | 140 |
| 6 to < 12 | 40 | 4 | 0.5 | 100 | _ | _ |
| 12 to < 24 | 35–40 | 4 | 0.5 | 100 | _ | _ |
| 24 to < 36 | 35–40 | 4 | 0.5 | — | 250 | _ |

4.4. Glycaemic carbohydrates

Glycaemic carbohydrates provide carbohydrates to body cells, mainly in the form of glucose. The main glycaemic carbohydrates are glucose and fructose (monosaccharides), sucrose and lactose (disaccharides), malto-oligosaccharides and starch (polysaccharide).

The first source of glycaemic carbohydrates in infants is human milk, in which lactose, a disaccharide of glucose and galactose, is the primary sugar. Lactose occurs exclusively in milk and milk products. Human milk has the highest lactose content of all milks, 7 g per 100 g, while the lactose content in cow's milk is around 5 g per 100 g.

With the introduction of solids, virtually all types of carbohydrates may be introduced into the infant's diet, mainly through fruits and vegetables.

Even if nutritionally not essential, the avoidance as far as possible of galactose, including human milk, is indicated only in all types of galactosaemia, a rare metabolic disorder with an incidence of about 1 in 60 000 births in Europe caused by three different genetic enzyme defects in the metabolism of galactose (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010c).

0 to < 6 months

In its previous Opinion (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010d), the Panel did not set any DRVs for carbohydrates for infants. Given an energy content of 272 to 280 kJ/100 mL (65 to 67/100 mL) of human milk, an RI of around 40 to 45 % E% as carbohydrates can be derived and considered adequate for the majority of infants in the first six months of life (Jensen, 1995).

<u>6 to < 12 months</u>

Assuming fat intake as 40 E% in this period, and protein intakes ranging between 5 E% (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010f, 2012a, 2013b) and 15 E% as the maximum acceptable limit (Agostoni et al., 2005), an intake of carbohydrates between 45 E% and 55 E% can be considered adequate for the majority of infants in the second half of the first year of life.

12 to < 36 months

In its previous Opinion (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010d), the Panel based the RI for carbohydrates of 45 to 60 E% for adults on the effect of carbohydrates (and fat) intakes on body weight and blood lipids, while taking into account practical considerations (e.g. current levels of intake, achievable dietary patterns). The Panel proposed that this RI apply also to children aged one year and above.

Table 5 gives an overview on the intakes of glycaemic carbohydrates which are considered adequate for the majority of infants and young children.

4.5. Dietary fibre

The components included in dietary fibre are by definition resistant to hydrolysis and absorption in the small intestine. They pass through the upper gastrointestinal tract and enter the colon substantially unmodified. Inhibitory effects on mineral absorption, i.e. of iron, zinc and calcium, have been attributed to fibre-associated complexing compounds, notably phytic acid in cereals and leguminous seeds (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010d).

Human milk provides oligosaccharides in variable amounts (10 to 20 g/L). Oligosaccharides are highly diverse glycans, comprising about 200 molecular species which differ in size, charge, sequence and abundance. Approximately 75 to 85 % are neutral and 15 to 25 % are acidic. The major part of human milk oligosaccharides is minimally hydrolysed by human enzymes and reaches the large intestine, constituting the main substrate for the gut microbiota and, particularly, for bifidobacteria. The fermentation of non-digestible oligosaccharides leads to the generation of organic acids (lactic acid) and short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) such as acetic, propionic and butyric acid. While butyrate is a main source of energy for the colonic mucosa and has effects on cell differentiation, acetate and propionate are absorbed from the colon and thus provide energy to the host (Aggett et al., 2003). The absorption of fermentation products, i.e. SCFAs, means that they may contribute to the energy content of the diet, but less than glycaemic carbohydrates (around 8 kJ or 2 kcal per g) (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010d).

Oligosaccharides (e.g. galacto-oligosaccharides (GOS), inulin-type fructans or their combination or with mixtures of polydextrose (PDX) and acidic-oligosaccharides (AOS)) have been produced to be added to infant and follow-on formulae and have been studied for number of health outcomes, such as bowel function (Knol et al., 2005; Scholtens et al., 2006; Rao et al., 2009; Ashley et al., 2012), gastrointestinal and respiratory tract infections (Duggan et al., 2003; Brunser et al., 2006; EFSA NDA Panel, 2010e), atopic dermatitis, eczema, urticaria and asthma (Osborn and Sinn, 2007; EFSA NDA Panel, 2010e).

They have also been studied in relation to any potential untowards effects, such as delayed growth, diarrhoea and an increased risk of inadequate water balance (SCF, 2003c; Ben et al., 2004; Decsi et al., 2005; Fanaro et al., 2005; Bettler and Euler, 2006; Moro et al., 2006; Ziegler et al., 2007; Costalos et al., 2008; Rao et al., 2009; Piemontese et al., 2011; Ashley et al., 2012).

On the basis of the data available, the Panel considers that there is insufficient evidence for any beneficial or adverse effects on infant health of non-digestible oligosaccharides added to infant and follow-on formulae.

0 to < 12 months

Fibre intakes are not considered in recommendations up to one year of life, even if non-digestible oligosaccharides with human milk and some fibres with vegetables and fruits have already been introduced in the diet of infants. Therefore, the Panel did not quantify adequate fibre intakes in the first year of life.

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

In its previous Opinion (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010d), the Panel considered the role of dietary fibre in bowel function as the most suitable criterion for establishing an AI. A fibre intake of 2 g per MJ was considered adequate for normal laxation in children aged from the age of one year. Therefore, the Panel proposed an AI of 10 g/day for children aged 12 to 48 months.

Results from the Finnish STRIP (Special Turku Coronary Risk Factor Intervention Project) study indicate that a fibre intake corresponding to 2 to 2.5 g per MJ is compatible with normal growth and development (from 6.7 g per day at 8 months to 9 g per day at 13 months) (Lapinleimu et al., 1995). Children from 13 months of age with low sucrose intake or with high dietary fibre intake consumed foods that were more nutrient dense and had better dietary quality than children with high or average sucrose or fibre consumption (Niinikoski and Ruottinen, 2012).

Table 5 gives an overview of the intakes of dietary fibre which are considered adequate for the majority of young children.

 Table 5:
 Intakes of carbohydrates and dietary fibre considered adequate for the majority of infants and young children

| Age (months) | Total carbohydrates | Fibre |
|--------------|-------------------------|----------|
| 0 to < 6 | 40–45 E% | _ |
| 6 to < 12 | 45–55 E% ^(a) | _ |
| 12 to <36 | 45–60 E% | 10 g/day |

(a): With fat 40 E%.

4.6. Water

Water is involved in practically all functions of the human body and is its main constituent (up to 75 % of total body weight in newborns, around 60 % in infants in the second half of the first year of life and young children (Fomon et al., 1982; Butte et al., 2000; Fomon and Nelson, 2002)). Total body water, hydration of the intracellular and extracellular compartment and the balance between in- and output of water are homeostatically controlled, predominantly by mechanisms which modify excretion and, less importantly, by stimulation of intake.

Total dietary water intake comprises the water content of foods and of beverages, including drinking water (both tap and bottled water). Water produced through oxidation of food in the body (theoretically 0.41 mL per gram protein oxidised plus 0.6 mL per gram carbohydrate oxidised plus 1.07 mL per gram fat oxidised (Lusk, 1928)) is not included.

0 to < 6 months

Exclusively breast-fed infants do not need additional water; therefore, milk volumes consumed can be considered as the basis to estimate adequate water intakes when corrected for the water content of human milk (87 %) during the first six months of life (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010a).

In its previous Opinion (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010a), the Panel derived an AI for total dietary water of 100 to 190 mL per kg body weight per day based on an average daily volume of milk of 800 mL,



equivalent to 696 mL of water and an upper bound of human milk intake of 1 200 mL per day, corresponding to 1 044 mL of water.

The Panel considers an average volume of total dietary water of 700 to 1 000 mL per day to be adequate for the majority of infants from 0 to < 6 months.

6 to < 12 months

For the second half of the first year of life, the Panel based the AI set in its previous Opinion (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010a) on estimates of total dietary water intake from both human milk (or breast milk substitutes) and complementary food and beverages, although reported values from EU countries are few and differ in assessment methodology. Median total daily water intakes in healthy male infants at the age of 9 and 12 months were 834 mL (P90: 1 070 mL) and 907 mL (P90: 1 063 mL) or 93 and 87 mL per kg body weight per day. For female infants, total daily water intake at 9 and 12 months of age was 839 mL (P90: 1 114 mL) and 780 mL (P90: 1 085 mL) or 99 and 88 mL per kg body weight per day, respectively (Alexy and Kersting, 1999).

This led to an AI of 800 to 1 000 mL for total dietary water per day which the Panel considers adequate for the majority of infants in the second half of the first year of life.

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

In the Panel's previous Opinion (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010a), an AI of 1 300 mL of total dietary water per day for the age group two to three years was derived based on observed mean intakes, which ranged from 1 100 to 1 200 mL per day, and correcting for a desirable water–energy relationship and for inter-individual variation. The AI of 1 100 to 1 200 mL of total dietary water for children aged one to two years was set by interpolation.

The Panel considers an average volume of total dietary water of 1 100 to 1 300 mL per day to be adequate for the majority of young children aged from 12 to < 36 months.

4.7. Calcium

Calcium is an integral component of the skeleton; approximately 99 % of total body calcium is found in bones and teeth, where it is mainly present as calcium hydroxyapatite. It has a structural role, and is needed for bone rigidity, strength and elasticity (Bonewald, 2011). If the dietary supply of calcium is insufficient to meet physiological requirements, calcium is resorbed from the skeleton so as to maintain blood concentrations within the range required for normal cellular and tissue functions. This leads to skeletal disorders (Abrams, 2010).

No UL for calcium was set for infants and young children owing to insufficient data. A UL for adults has been set at 2 500 mg per day (EFSA NDA Panel, 2012b).

0 to < 6 months

Calcium in breast milk was found to be in the range of 200 to 300 mg/L (Rodriguez Rodriguez et al., 2002; Hicks et al., 2012; Olausson et al., 2012).

The Panel considers that observed mean calcium intakes from breast milk of 200 mg per day (i.e. $250 \text{ mg/L} \times 0.8 \text{ L}$) are adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life.

6 to < 12 months

The SCF (1993b) set an AI of 400 mg calcium per day for infants aged 6 to < 12 months; in the absence of reliable information, the same value was taken as the value for young children aged 12 to < 36 months.

This value is consistent with more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies, which range from 260 to 540 mg per day (i.e. 260 mg (IoM, 1997), 270 mg (NHMRC, 2006), 330 mg (D-A-CH, 2013), 400 mg (WHO/FAO, 2004), 450 mg (Gezondheidsraad, 2000), 500 mg (Afssa, 2001), 540 mg (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013) per day). These DRVs were derived by extrapolation from observed mean intakes from breast milk in younger infants and/or by a factorial approach.

Taking the AI of the SCF (1993b) as a basis, the Panel considers that a calcium intake of 400 mg per day is adequate for the majority of infants aged from 6 to < 12 months.

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

The SCF (1993b) set a PRI of 400 mg calcium per day for young children, which was based on a factorial approach.

More recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies range from 500 to 700 mg (i.e. 500 mg (Gezondheidsraad, 2000; Afssa, 2001; WHO/FAO, 2004; NHMRC, 2006), 600 mg (D-A-CH, 2013; Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013), 700 mg (IoM, 1997)). These PRIs were generally derived by a factorial approach.

The factorial approach taken by D-A-CH (2013) was based on the calcium intake needed to supply for a calcium retention of 142 mg per day with urinary losses of 37 mg per day, faecal losses of 37 mg per day, i.e. 216 mg per day (Lynch et al., 2007), and assuming an absorption efficiency of 45.6 %.

Taking the PRI of D-A-CH (2013) as a basis, the Panel considers that a calcium intake of 600 mg per day is adequate for the majority of young children.

4.8. Phosphorus

Although phosphorus in the form of phosphate ions is essential for numerous body functions, its metabolism is intricately linked to that of calcium because of the actions of calcium-regulating hormones. Adequate phosphorus and calcium intakes are needed not only for skeletal growth and maintenance, but also for many cellular roles, such as energy production (i.e. adenosine triphosphate (ATP)). Too much phosphorus, in relation to too little dietary calcium, may contribute to bone loss, and too little phosphorus along with too little dietary calcium may not adequately maintain bone mass (Anderson, 2005).

Net phosphorus absorption is a linear function of phosphorus intake. For infants, absorption is highest from human milk (about 90 %), followed by cow's milk and protein hydrolysates (about 70 %) and soy formulae (about 60 %).

No UL for phosphorus has been established due to insufficient data (EFSA, 2004a).

While adults can tolerate varying Ca/P ratios in their diet, infants are more prone to disturbances in their calcium metabolism. A Ca/P molar ratio of 0.9 to 1.7 is usually considered safe (SCF, 1993b).

0 to < 6 months

The average concentration of phosphorus in breast milk in 10 studies reviewed by Atkinson et al. (1995) was reported to be 120 mg/L.

The Panel considers that observed mean intakes of phosphorus from breast milk of 100 mg per day (i.e. $120 \text{ mg/L} \times 0.8 \text{ L}$) are adequate for the majority of infants for the first half-year of life.

<u>6 to < 12 months</u>

The SCF (1993b) concluded on a PRI of 300 mg phosphorus per day for infants in the second half of the first year of life based on an equimolar relationship between calcium and phosphorus.

This value is in line with more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative authorities that are in the range of 275 to 420 mg per day (i.e. 275 mg (IoM, 1997; Afssa, 2001; NHMRC, 2006), 300 mg (D-A-CH, 2013) and 420 mg (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013) per day). These were mainly based on observed mean intakes from breast milk and complementary foods.

Taking the PRI of the SCF (1993b) as a basis, the Panel considers that a phosphorus intake of 300 mg per day is adequate for the majority of infants aged from 6 to < 12 months.

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

The SCF (1993b) concluded on a PRI of 300 mg phosphorus per day for young children based on an equimolar relationship between calcium and phosphorus.

More recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative authorities are in the range of 360 to 500 mg per day (i.e. 360 mg (Afssa, 2001), 460 mg (IoM, 1997; NHMRC, 2006), based on factorial approaches, 470 mg (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013), based on an equimolar basis to calcium requirements, and 500 mg (D-A-CH, 2013) per day).

The Panel decided not to use the PRI set by the SCF (1993b). The PRI established by IoM (1997) was based on an estimation of body accretion of phosphorus assuming an efficiency of phosphorus absorption of 70 %.

Taking the PRI of the IoM (1998) as a basis, the Panel considers that a phosphorus intake of 460 mg per day is adequate for the majority of young children.

4.9. Magnesium

Magnesium is the second most abundant intracellular cation after sodium and is a critical cofactor in several enzymatic reactions. Severe magnesium deficiency is very rare and causes neuromuscular manifestations (Feillet-Coudray and Rayssiguier, 2005).

No UL for magnesium normally present in foods could be established by the SCF. A UL related to readily dissociable forms of magnesium was set at 250 mg per day for children aged from four years upwards and adults (SCF, 2001b).

0 to < 6 months

Reported concentrations of magnesium in breast milk vary over a wide range (15 to 64 mg/L), with a median value of 31 mg/L and 75 % of reported mean concentrations below 35 mg/L (Dorea, 2000).

The Panel considers that observed mean intakes of magnesium from breast milk of 25 mg per day (i.e. $31 \text{ mg/L} \times 0.8 \text{ L}$) are adequate for the majority of infants for the first half-year of life.

6 to < 12 months

No DRV was set by the SCF (1993b) for infants in the second half of the first year of life, but a guidance value of 80 mg magnesium per day was given.

This value is in line with more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies, which are in the range between 54 and 80 mg per day (i.e. 54 mg (WHO/FAO, 2004), 60 mg (D-A-CH, 2013), 75 mg (IoM, 1997; NHMRC, 2006) and 80 mg (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013) per day).

Taking the guidance value of the SCF (1993b) as a basis, the Panel considers that a magnesium intake of 80 mg per day is adequate for the majority of infants aged from 6 to < 12 months.

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

The SCF (1993b) derived a guidance value of 85 mg magnesium per day for young children.

This value is consistent with more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies, which are in the range of 60 to 120 mg per day (i.e. 60 mg (WHO/FAO, 2004), 80 mg (IoM, 1997; Afssa, 2001; NHMRC, 2006; D-A-CH, 2013) and 85–120 mg (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013) per day).

Taking the guidance value of the SCF (1993b) as a basis, the Panel considers that a magnesium intake of 85 mg per day is adequate for the majority of young children.

4.10. Sodium, chloride and potassium

Cell membrane potentials in cells throughout the body are controlled by the concentrations of sodium and potassium. Their concentration gradients are tightly regulated as they provide the potential for neural transmission, muscle contraction and vascular tone as well as the drive for active transport of nutrients (e.g. glucose). Potassium is the major intracellular and sodium the major extracellular cation in the body. Chloride is the most abundant anion in the extracellular fluid and counterbalances the intracellular negative charges provided by proteins. Chloride also plays a major role as a constituent of hydrochloric acid excreted in the gastric juice.

Sodium, chloride and potassium deficiency arising from inadequate dietary intakes are unlikely because of the ubiquity of these elements (SCF, 1993b).

Published reference values generally agree that the basal losses of these ions in children have not been well defined and that there is a lack of evidence to set specific DRVs for these minerals in young children (DoH, 1991; SCF, 1993b; NHMRC, 2006). No ULs for sodium, potassium and chloride were derived by the Panel owing to insufficient data (EFSA, 2005a, 2005d, 2005c). The major adverse effect of increased sodium chloride intake is elevated blood pressure, a risk factor for cardiovascular and renal diseases, and high levels of blood potassium may affect cardiac function. In addition, it has been suggested that taste preferences later in life are influenced by salt intakes in early life (Stein et al., 2012).

4.10.1. Sodium

0 to < 6 months

The average content of sodium in human milk is reported to be in the range of 6-7 mM (0.14-0.16 g/L) (IoM, 2005b).

The Panel considers that observed mean sodium intakes from breast milk of 120 mg per day (i.e. $150 \text{ mg/L} \times 0.8 \text{ L}$) are adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life.

6 to < 12 months

No DRVs for sodium have been set by the SCF (1993b) for infants in the second half of the first year of life.

More recent reference values for sodium intakes for infants aged from 6 to < 12 months from other scientific or authoritative bodies range from 170 to 370 mg per day (i.e. 170 mg (NHMRC, 2006), 180 mg (D-A-CH, 2013) and 370 mg (IoM, 2005b) per day). These were derived from observed mean intakes from human milk and complementary foods (IoM, 2005b), by extrapolation from younger

infants (NHMRC, 2006) and by a factorial approach based on growth-related increments in intra- and extracellular fluid plus allowances for renal and extrarenal losses (D-A-CH, 2013).

Taking into account the uncertainties underlying the derivation of reference values for sodium, the Panel considers that a sodium intake in the range of 170 to 370 mg per day is adequate for the majority of infants aged from 6 to < 12 months.

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

No DRVs for sodium have been set by the SCF (1993b) for young children either

More recent reference values for sodium intakes for infants from 12 to < 36 months from other scientific or authoritative bodies range from 200 to 1 000 mg (i.e. 200-400 mg (NHMRC, 2006), 300 mg (D-A-CH, 2013), 1 000 mg (IoM, 2005b)). These AIs were mainly extrapolated (based on relative energy intake) from the AI of adults.

The Panel decided to carry forward the value set for infants in the second half of the first year of life, and considers that a sodium intake of 170 to 370 mg sodium per day is adequate for the majority of young children.

4.10.2. Chloride

0 to < 6 months

The average chloride content of breast milk has been reported to be 11 mM (0.4 g/L) (IoM, 2005b).

The Panel considers that observed mean chloride intakes from breast milk of 300 mg per day (i.e. $0.4 \text{ g/L} \times 0.8 \text{ L}$) are adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life.

6 to < 12 months

No DRVs for chloride have been set by the SCF (1993b) for infants in the second half-year of life.

More recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies amount to 270 mg (D-A-CH, 2013) and 570 mg (IoM, 2005b) per day, which were derived from requirements for sodium using a molar ratio of 1.

Following the same approach as for sodium, the Panel considers that a chloride intake of 270 to 570 mg per day is adequate for the majority of infants aged from 6 to < 12 months.

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

No DRVs for chloride have been set by the SCF (1993b) for young children either.

More recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies amount to 450 mg (D-A-CH, 2013) and 1.5 g (IoM, 2005b) per day. These were derived from requirements for sodium using a molar ratio of 1 (D-A-CH, 2013) and by extrapolation from the adult AI (IoM, 2005b).

As for sodium, the Panel decided to carry forward the value set for infants in the second half of the first year of life, and considers that a chloride intake of 270 to 570 mg per day is adequate for the majority of young children.

4.10.3. Potassium

0 to < 6 months

The average content of potassium in human milk is reported to be around 0.5 g/L (IoM, 2005b).

The Panel considers that observed mean potassium intakes from breast milk of 400 mg per day (i.e. $0.5 \text{ g/L} \times 0.8 \text{ L}$) are adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life.

6 to < 12 months

The SCF (1993b) derived a PRI for potassium of 800 mg per day for infants aged from 6 to < 12 months, which was based on a factorial approach.

This is consistent with more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies that range from 650 to 1 100 mg per day (i.e. 650 mg (D-A-CH, 2013), 700 mg (IoM, 2005b; NHMRC, 2006) and 1 100 mg (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013) per day).

Taking the PRI of the SCF (1993b) as a basis, the Panel considers that a potassium intake of 800 mg per day is adequate for the majority of infants aged from 6 to < 12 months.

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

A PRI of 800 mg per day was set by the SCF (1993b) also for children aged from 12 to < 36 months based on a factorial approach.

More recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies range from 1 to 3 g per day (i.e. 1 g (D-A-CH, 2013), 1.4 g (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013), 2 g (NHMRC, 2006) and 3 g (IoM, 2005b) per day).

Even though the PRI derived by the SCF is at the lower end of these reference values, the Panel decided to use it and considers that a potassium intake of 800 mg per day is adequate for the majority of young children.

4.11. Iron

Iron is an essential trace element that has important metabolic functions, including oxygen transport, and is involved in many redox reactions. Insufficient intake results in the deficiency condition anaemia, impaired psychomotor development and cognitive performance and reduced immune function (EFSA, 2004a).

Absorption of iron from breast milk is somewhat higher than absorption from infant formula and ironfortified complementary foods (Domellöf, 2007; Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013). It has been shown that infants have the ability to up-regulate iron absorption when iron stores decrease (Domellöf et al., 2002a; Hicks et al., 2006). This ability of each individual to adapt iron absorption to iron status is likely to make infants more resistant to iron deficiency than the factorial approach would predict.

No UL for iron from all sources has been set by the Panel owing to insufficient data (EFSA, 2004a).

0 to < 6 months

The average iron concentration in breast milk is low and considered to be around 0.35 mg/L (IoM, 2001).

Dietary iron requirements in infants are considered to be negligible in the first four to six months of life (SCF, 1993b). The newborn healthy infant has an iron content of about 250 to 300 mg (75 mg per kg body weight). This iron will cover the needs of the infant during the first four to six months of



life, and this explains why iron requirements during this period can be provided by human milk (WHO/FAO, 2004).

The Panel considers that observed mean iron intakes from breast milk of 0.3 mg per day (i.e. $0.35 \text{ mg/L} \times 0.8 \text{ L}$) are generally sufficient to ensure that iron status in the first half year of life remains within the normal range for most healthy term infants in industrialised countries (Jonsdottir et al., 2012). It should, however, be noted that for formula-fed infants and some breast-fed infants after 4 to 6 months of age an intake equivalent to this value is not sufficient to maintain iron status within the normal range.

<u>6 to < 12 months.</u>

The SCF (1993b) derived a PRI for iron for infants from 6 to < 12 months of 6.2 mg per day when assuming an absorption efficiency of 15 % and of 9 mg per day when a 10 % absorption efficiency was assumed. This PRI was based on the factorial approach.

Although this value is in line with more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies, which range from 6 to 11 mg per day (i.e. 6 mg (WHO/FAO, 2004), 7 mg (Afssa, 2001), 8 mg (D-A-CH, 2013; Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013) and 11 mg (IoM, 2001; NHMRC, 2006) per day), the Panel decided not to use the PRI of the SCF (1993b), as it considered basic iron requirements of infants in the second half-year of life to be similar to those of young children whereas the PRIs of the SCF (1993b) differed for these two age groups.

The Panel proposes to take the reference values of the Nordic Council of Ministers (2013) and the D-A-CH (2013) as a basis. These were based on observed iron intakes of infants at the end of the first year of life who did not develop iron deficiency (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013) and on a factorial approach (D-A-CH, 2013).

Taking the AI of Nordic Council of Ministers (2013) and the PRI of D-A-CH (2013) as a basis, the Panel considers that an iron intake of 8 mg per day is adequate for the majority of infants from 6 to < 12 months.

12 to < 36 months

The SCF (1993b) set a PRI for iron for young children of 3.9 mg per day based on the factorial approach.

More recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies range from 3.9 to 9 mg per day (i.e. 3.9 mg (WHO/FAO, 2004), 7 mg (Afssa, 2001; IoM, 2001), 8 mg (D-A-CH, 2013; Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013) and 9 mg (NHMRC, 2006) per day).

As for infants in the second half of the first year of life, the Panel took the AI of Nordic Council of Ministers (2013) and the PRI of D-A-CH (2013) as a basis and considers that an iron intake of 8 mg per day is adequate for the majority of children aged from 12 to < 36 months.

4.12. Zinc

Zinc is involved in many aspects of cell metabolism, with several enzymes depending on zinc for catalytic activity. It plays a role in immune function, protein synthesis, wound healing, deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) synthesis and cell division (IoM, 2001). Because of the involvement of zinc in many core areas of metabolism, the features of zinc deficiency are frequently quite unspecific and include impaired growth velocity as one of the primary clinical signs of mild zinc deficiency (IoM, 2001).

A UL for zinc of 7 mg per day for one to three-year-old children was derived by the SCF (2002a).

0 to < 6 months

Zinc concentrations in human milk sharply decline over the early months post partum and cannot be influenced by maternal intakes. The average content of human milk is approximately 4 mg/L at two weeks, 3 mg/L at one month, 2 mg/L at two months, 1.5 mg/L at three months and 1.2 mg/L at six months post partum (Krebs et al., 1995).

For the first four to six months of life, breast milk provides sufficient zinc for infants (Prasad, 2003). No report exists describing zinc deficiency in full-term breast-fed infants up to six months of age.

In the early months of life, daily zinc intakes from breast milk amount to around 2 mg (i.e. $2.5 \text{ mg/L} \times 0.8 \text{ L/day}$) and the Panel considers these intakes to be adequate for the majority of healthy term breast-fed infants up to six months of life.

Evidence supports the concept that zinc in formula can be up to four times less available than from human milk (Casey et al., 1981; Han et al., 2011). Zinc absorption from soy-based formula is lower than from cow's milk-based formula because of its high phytate content (Lönnerdal et al., 1984). Infant formulae are usually fortified with zinc to levels higher than in human milk (0.5-1.5 mg/100 kcal²⁰) to compensate for lower absorption. This leads to daily zinc intakes of around 3 to 5 mg. Such levels of intake were not found to be associated with zinc deficiency in a study in Korean infants who received daily around 4 to 4.5 mg zinc from cow's milk-based formulae or around 5.5 to 7 mg zinc from soy-based formulae (Han et al., 2011).

6 to < 12 months

Breast milk does not provide sufficient amounts of zinc for infants older than six months (Prasad, 2003). In addition to breast milk, age-appropriate foods should be consumed in order to meet requirements (Krebs et al., 2012).

For infants in the second half of the first year of life, the SCF (1993b) had derived a PRI of 4 mg zinc per day following a factorial approach. The absorption rate was taken as 30 %.

This is consistent with the approach taken by WHO/FAO (2004) and in line with more recent reference values of other scientific or authoritative bodies, which range from 2 mg (D-A-CH, 2013) through 3 mg (IoM, 2001; NHMRC, 2006) to 5 mg (Afssa, 2001; Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013) per day.

Taking the PRI of the SCF (1993b) as a basis, the Panel considers that a zinc intake of 4 mg per day is adequate for the majority of infants from 6 to < 12 months.

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

For young children, the SCF (1993b) used a similar approach to the one for infants, but interpolated values for basal losses between the ones for adults and infants and derived a PRI of 4 mg zinc per day.

This is in line with more recent reference values of other scientific or authoritative bodies which are in the range of 2.4 to 8.3 mg per day (i.e. 2.4–8.3 mg (WHO/FAO, 2004), 3 mg (IoM, 2001; NHMRC, 2006; D-A-CH, 2013), 5–6 mg (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013) and 6 mg (Afssa, 2001) per day).

Taking the PRI of the SCF (1993b) as a basis, the Panel considers that a zinc intake of 4 mg per day is adequate for the majority of young children.

²⁰ Commission Directive 2006/141/EC of 22 December 2006 on infant formulae and follow-on formulae and amending Directive 1999/21/EC, OJ L 401, 30.12.2006, p. 1



4.13. Copper

Copper is an essential nutrient and an indispensable cofactor of many proteins including important enzymes involved in oxidative reactions, in the production of collagen and of pigment, in iron metabolism and in the function of heart, brain and the immune system. Copper absorption in the gut decreases with increasing intake and varies between 35 and 70 %. Copper deficiency is rare in humans and occurs predominantly in premature and small-for-gestational-age infants fed cow's milk formulae, patients with malnutrition, patients receiving total parenteral nutrition devoid of copper or subjects consuming high-zinc supplements. Deficiency symptoms are anaemia, leucopenia, osteoporosis, neurological disturbances and fragility of blood vessels that can result in spontaneous ruptures of vessels (SCF, 1993b).

Copper excess results acutely in gastrointestinal symptoms and chronically in liver and kidney dysfunction. A UL for copper of 1 mg per day was derived by the SCF (2003d) for children aged one to three years.

0 to < 6 months

Breast milk concentrations of copper observed in Europe ranged between 97 and 1 400 μ g/L, with medians between 368 and 400 μ g/L and mean values of 329 to 390 μ g/L (Krachler et al., 1998; Rodriguez Rodriguez et al., 2002; Leotsinidis et al., 2005). Copper concentrations in human milk progressively decline over the months postpartum (IoM, 2001).

Exclusively breast-fed infants do not show signs of copper deficiency, presumably due to copper stores acquired during intrauterine life.

Therefore, the Panel considers that observed mean copper intakes from breast milk of 0.3 mg per day (i.e. $350 \ \mu g/L \times 0.8 \ L$) are adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life.

6 to < 12 months

The SCF (1993b) set a PRI for copper for infants in the second half of the first year of life of 36 μ g per kg body weight per day (0.3 mg per day) based on a factorial approach assuming an absorption efficiency of 50 %.

This value is consistent with more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies, which range from 0.22 to 0.7 mg per day (i.e. 0.22 mg (IoM, 2001; NHMRC, 2006), 0.3 mg (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013), 0.6 mg (Afssa, 2001) and 0.6–0.7 mg (D-A-CH, 2013) per day). WHO (1996) recommended 40 μ g/kg body weight per day.

Taking the PRI of the SCF (1993b) as a basis, the Panel considers that a copper intake of 0.3 mg per day is adequate for the majority of infants from 6 to < 12 months.

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

The SCF (1993b) set the PRI for copper for young children at 0.4 mg per day by interpolation.

This value is in line with more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies, which range from 0.34 to 0.75 mg per day (i.e. 0.34 mg (IoM, 2001), 0.3–0.4 mg (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013), 0.5-1 mg (D-A-CH, 2013), 0.7 mg (NHMRC, 2006) and 0.75 mg (Afssa, 2001) per day). WHO (1996) recommended 28 μ g per kg body weight per day.

Taking the PRI of the SCF (1993b) as a basis, the Panel considers that a copper intake of 0.4 mg per day is adequate for the majority of young children.



4.14. Selenium

Selenocysteine is an indispensable constituent of 25 different selenoproteins. Most selenoproteins are involved in redox reactions and three deiodinases convert thyroxine to triiodothyronine, but the function of some selenoproteins is as yet unknown. Dietary selenium absorption is not under homeostatic control and varies from 50 to 90 % (Fairweather-Tait et al., 2010; Fairweather-Tait et al., 2011). Selenium deficiency, e.g. following long-term parenteral nutrition, malabsorption syndromes or use of special diets containing insufficient selenium, leads to impaired muscle function and loss of pigment in hair and skin. In selenium-deficient regions, Keshan disease, a cardiomyopathy, and Kaschin–Beck disease, a degenerative osteoarthropathy, have been observed. The aetiology of both is probably not only due to selenium deficiency (SCF, 1993b).

Chronic selenium excess is characterised by hair loss and nail dystrophy, breath smelling of garlic, dermatitis and neurological and endocrinological symptoms (selenosis). The SCF (2000f) has set a UL for selenium of 60 μ g per day for children aged one to three years.

0 to < 6 months

A wide range of selenium concentrations in human milk have been observed, depending on the amount of selenium consumed by the mother from natural foods. In general, selenium concentrations are highest in colostrum (zero to five days, median 26 μ g/L). Breast milk concentrations of selenium in Europe range from 3 to 84 μ g/L, with a mean value of $16.3 \pm 4.7 \mu$ g/L (Krachler et al., 1998; Zachara and Pilecki, 2000; Navarro-Blasco and Alvarez-Galindo, 2003; Özdemir et al., 2008).

The Panel considers that observed mean selenium intakes from breast milk of 12.5 μ g per day (i.e. 16 μ g/L × 0.8 L) are adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life.

6 to < 12 months

The SCF (1993b) defined a PRI for selenium for infants in the second half of the first year of life of 10 μ g per day, which was extrapolated from the adult value.

Although this is in line with more recent reference values of other scientific or authoritative bodies, which range from 7 to 30 μ g per day (i.e. 7–30 μ g (D-A-CH, 2013), 10 μ g (WHO/FAO, 2004), 15 μ g (NHMRC, 2006; Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013) and 20 μ g (IoM, 2000b; Afssa, 2001) per day), the Panel decided not to use the PRI of the SCF (1993b) but proposes to take as a basis the AI of NHMRC (2006), which was derived by allometric scaling from young infants.

Taking the AI of NHMRC (2006) as a basis, the Panel considers that a selenium intake of 15 μ g per day is adequate for the majority of infants from 6 to < 12 months.

$\underline{12 \text{ to} < 36 \text{ months}}$

The SCF (1993b) has derived a PRI for selenium for young children of 10 μ g per day by extrapolation from the adult value.

More recent reference values of other scientific or authoritative bodies are in the range of 10 to 40 μ g per day (i.e. 10–40 μ g (D-A-CH, 2013), 17 μ g (WHO/FAO, 2004), 20 μ g (IoM, 2000b; Afssa, 2001) and 20–25 μ g (NHMRC, 2006; Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013) per day. The Panel decided not to use the PRI of the SCF (1993b) but proposes to take as a basis the PRI of IoM (2000b), which was based on selenium intakes that would maximise glutathioneperoxidase (GPX) activity in plasma.

Taking the PRI of IoM (2000b) as a basis, the Panel considers that a selenium intake of 20 μ g per day is adequate for the majority of young children.

4.15. Iodine

The most critical physiological role for iodine is the normal functioning of the thyroid gland. Iodine deficiency is the most common cause of preventable mental retardation in the world. Inadequate intake of iodine results in a reduction in thyroid hormone production. Diminished thyroid iodine content and increased turnover make neonates the age group most vulnerable to the effects of iodine deficiency (Houston, 2005).

A UL for iodine was set at 200 µg per day for children aged one to three years based on biochemical changes in thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) levels (SCF, 2002e).

0 to < 6 months

The iodine content of breast milk does not reflect the iodine requirement of the (breast-fed) infant, as it depends on the iodine status of the mother. After initial high concentrations in colostrum, the iodine concentration decreases. In Portugal, a median iodine concentration of 95 μ g/L (interquartile range (IQR) 68–143 μ g/L) was measured at day 3 and of 70 μ g/L (IQR 50–102 μ g/L) at three months post partum (Costeira et al., 2009). However, there is a large overlap of breast milk iodine concentrations between iodine-sufficient and iodine-deficient countries (Zimmermann, 2007).

The Panel assumes that the iodine concentration of mature breast milk of European women is in the range 50–100 μ g/L. Assuming a milk intake of 0.8 L per day, between 40 and 80 μ g iodine per day would be consumed.

Taking into account that the reported iodine concentrations in human milk may include data from women with low iodine status and that the iodine requirement of the young infant may be high because of the need to acquire iodine stores in the thyroid and that a urinary iodine concentration of $> 100 \ \mu g/L$ has been found to be associated with the smallest thyroid volume in three-month-old children (Böhles et al., 1993), the Panel considers that an iodine intake of 90 μg per day is adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life.

6 to < 12 months

The SCF (1993b) has derived an AI for iodine for infants in the second half of the first year of life of 50 μ g per day.

More recent reference values of other scientific or authoritative bodies are in the range of 50 to 130 μ g per day (i.e. 50 μ g (D-A-CH, 2013, for Switzerland; Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013), 80 μ g (D-A-CH, 2013, for Germany and Austria), 90 μ g (Afssa, 2001; WHO/FAO, 2004), 110 μ g (NHMRC, 2006) and 130 μ g (IoM, 2001) per day).

The Panel decided not to use the AI of the SCF (1993b). The Panel notes the wide range of reference values and decided to take the mid-point of this range as a basis.

The Panel considers that an iodine intake of 90 μ g per day is adequate for the majority of infants in the second half of the first year of life.

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

The SCF (1993b) has derived an AI for iodine for young children of 70 µg per day.

More recent reference values of other scientific or authoritative bodies are in the range of 80 to 100 μ g per day (i.e. 80 μ g (Afssa, 2001), 70–90 μ g (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013), 90 μ g (IoM, 2001; WHO/FAO, 2004; NHMRC, 2006; D-A-CH, 2013, for Switzerland) and 100 μ g (D-A-CH, 2013, for Germany and Austria) per day).

The Panel decided not to use the AI of the SCF (1993b) but to take the AI/PRIs of other bodies (i.e. (IoM, 2001; WHO/FAO, 2004; NHMRC, 2006; D-A-CH, 2013, for Switzerland; Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013) as a basis, which were mainly based on urinary iodine excretion and balance studies. The Panel considers that an iodine intake of 90 μ g per day is adequate for the majority of young children.

4.16. Chromium

Chromium(III) is ubiquitous, occurring in water, soil and biological systems. No function of chromium in normal human metabolism has been identified, although it has been reported to influence carbohydrate, lipid, and protein metabolism via an effect on insulin action. Dietary chromium is poorly absorbed (only 0.4 to 2.5 %) and less than 1 % of an ingested dose is retained (SCF, 1993b). Some authors have suggested that cases of dietary chromium deficiency occurred in malnourished infants (Hopkins et al., 1968).

The SCF (2003e) did not derive DRVs for chromium. Owing to limited data the SCF (2003e) was also unable to set a UL.

The Panel considers that owing to the limited evidence available no conclusions can be drawn on any levels of chromium intakes which can be considered adequate for the majority of infants and young children.

4.17. Molybdenum

In humans, sulphite oxidase, xanthine oxidoreductase, aldehyde oxidase and mitochondrial amidoxime-reducing component require molybdenum linked with a pterin (molybdopterin) as cofactor (Reiss and Hahnewald, 2011). These enzymes are involved in the catabolism of sulphur-containing amino acids and of heterocyclic compounds, including purines, pyrimidines, pteridins and pyridines, and in the metabolism of aromatic aldehydes (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013e). A distinct molybdenum deficiency syndrome has not been observed in animals when subjected to molybdenum restriction, despite considerable reduction in the activity of molybdoenzymes (Cohen et al., 1973; Johnson et al., 1974). In humans, a single case report of a syndrome suggestive of dietary molybdenum deficiency in a patient on total parenteral nutrition for several months has been reported (Abumrad et al., 1981), but clinical signs of molybdenum deficiency in otherwise healthy humans have not been observed.

A UL for molybdenum for children older than one year was set at 0.1 to 0.5 mg/day (SCF, 2000a).

0 to < 6 months

Mean molybdenum concentrations in human milk were reported to range between 0.72 and 4 μ g/L with a mean of around 2.5 μ g/L (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013e).

The Panel considers that observed mean molybdenum intakes from breast milk of 2 μ g per day (i.e. 2.5 μ g/L \times 0.8 L) are adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life.

$\underline{6 \text{ to} < 12 \text{ months}}$

The Panel has recently set an AI for molybdenum of 10 μ g per day for infants from 6 to < 12 months, derived by extrapolation from the AI for adults (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013e).

12 to < 36 months

The Panel has recently set an AI for molybdenum of 15 μ g per day for children aged from 12 to < 36 months, derived by extrapolation from the AI for adults (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013e).

4.18. Manganese

Manganese is a component of metalloenzymes such as superoxide dismutase, arginase and pyruvate carboxylase, and is involved in amino acid, lipid and carbohydrate metabolism. Glycosyltransferases and xylosyltransferases, which are involved in proteoglycan synthesis, are sensitive to manganese status in animals (Nielsen, 1999). Manganese-deficient animals exhibit impaired growth, skeletal abnormalities, reproductive deficits, ataxia of the newborn and defects in lipid and carbohydrate metabolism. A specific deficiency syndrome has not been described in humans (SCF, 1993b).

As a no observed adverse effect level (NOAEL) for critical endpoints from animal studies was not available, and because of the limitations of the data on potential neurotoxic effect of high dietary intakes of manganese in humans, a UL could not be set (SCF, 2000c).

0 to < 6 months

The mean manganese concentrations of human milk vary from 0.8 to 30 μ g/L (3–30 μ g/L in Europe), but most values are around 4 μ g/L (Mullee et al., 2012).

The Panel considers that observed mean manganese intakes from breast milk of 3 μ g per day (i.e. 4 μ g/L × 0.8 L) are adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life.

6 to < 12 months

The Panel recently set a range of AIs for manganese for infants from 6 to < 12 months of 0.02 to 0.5 mg per day (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013f). The lower value was chosen as the estimated intake resulting from upwards extrapolation of manganese intakes in fully breast-fed infants. The higher value of the range was chosen at the intermediate level between the observed intakes of manganese in infants aged 6 and 12 months of 0.65 mg per day and the value of 0.4 mg per day estimated from extrapolation of the adult AI by isometric scaling.

12 to < 36 months

The Panel (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013f) recently set an AI of 0.5 mg per day for young children based on isometric scaling from the AI for adults.

4.19. Fluoride

Fluoride is the anionic form of fluorine. Fluoride occurs naturally after reaction of fluorine, which is the most electronegative and reactive of all elements, with metallic elements or with hydrogen (IoM, 1997). Fluoride in the body is mainly associated with calcified tissue (bone and teeth). Fluoride has been known to be useful in the control of caries development for more than a hundred years (Sampaio and Levy, 2011). No signs of fluoride deficiency have been identified in humans. A lack of fluoride intake during development will not alter tooth development but may result in increased susceptibility of enamel to acid attacks after eruption. However, caries is not a fluoride deficiency disease and fluoride is not an essential nutrient (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013d).

The SCF (2003c) has recommended a maximum fluoride level of 0.6 to 0.7 mg/L in infant formula and follow-on formula, equivalent to an intake of about 0.1 mg per kg body weight per day in infants during the first six months of life (body weight 5 kg). In the case of powdered formula, this maximum will be exceeded if water containing more than 0.7 mg/L fluoride is used for its preparation. Based on its effects on dental fluorosis, the UL for fluoride was set at 1.5 mg per day for children aged one to three years (EFSA, 2005b).

0 to < 6 months

Fluoride concentrations in human milk vary from non-detectable to 100 μ g/L, with a trend for lower concentrations in regions with low fluoride concentrations in drinking water (≤ 0.3 mg/L), with the



exception of a study reporting values of around 500 μ g/L for both ionic and total fluoride (Pasternak et al., 1998).

The Panel considers that observed mean fluoride intakes from breast milk of 80 μ g per day (i.e. 100 μ g/L \times 0.8 L) are adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013d).

6 to < 12 months

The Panel has recently set an AI for fluoride for infants from 6 to < 12 months of 0.4 mg per day, based on a dose–response relationship between caries incidence and consumption of drinking water with different fluoride concentrations (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013d).

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

The Panel has recently set an AI for fluoride of 0.6 mg per day for young children, based on a dose–response relationship between caries incidence and consumption of drinking water with different fluoride concentrations (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013d).

4.20. Vitamin A

Vitamin A is the common name of various all-*trans*-retinol chemical compounds including both the naturally occurring forms of vitamin A as well as the many synthetic analogues of retinol. Vitamin A has several important functions, including a role in vision, maintenance of epithelial surfaces, immune competence, growth, development and reproduction (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013). Early indications of vitamin A deficiency are impaired night vision. At later stages dryness of the conjuctiva and cornea develops (SCF, 1993b)

A UL for preformed vitamin A (retinol and retinyl esters) of 800 μ g retinol equivalents (RE; 1 RE = 6 μ g β -carotene or 1 μ g retinol) per day has been set based on the risk of hepatotoxicity and teratogenicity and subsequent extrapolation to children (SCF, 2002c). Infants given single doses of 15 and 30 mg RE showed no adverse effects (Humphrey et al., 1998).

0 to < 6 months

Vitamin A concentrations in human milk in Western countries were traditionally considered to be between 450 and 600 μ g/L, whereas considerably lower values were reported in two recent studies: 80 μ g/L (Tijerina-Saenz et al., 2009) and 85 μ g/L (Szlagatys-Sidorkiewicz et al., 2012).

Taking the content of vitamin A in human milk to be 450 μ g/L, the Panel considers that observed mean vitamin A intakes from breast milk of 350 μ g RE per day (i.e. 450 μ g/L \times 0.8 L) are adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life.

6 to < 12 months

The SCF (1993b) set an AI of 350 μ g RE per day for infants from 6 to < 12 months, which was based on observed mean intakes from breast milk.

This is in line with more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies, which range from 300 to 600 μ g RE per day (i.e. 300 μ g (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013), 350 μ g (Afssa, 2001), 400 μ g (WHO/FAO, 2004), 430 μ g (NHMRC, 2006), 500 μ g (IoM, 2001) and 600 μ g (D-A-CH, 2013) RE per day).

Taking the AI of the SCF (1993b) as a basis, the Panel considers that a vitamin A intake of 350 μ g RE per day is adequate for the majority of infants from 6 to < 12 months.

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

The SCF (1993b) set an AI of 400 μ g RE per day for young children.

This is in line with more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies, which range from 300 to 600 RE μ g per day (i.e. 300 μ g (IoM, 2001; NHMRC, 2006), 300–350 μ g (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013), 400 μ g (Afssa, 2001; WHO/FAO, 2004) and 600 μ g (D-A-CH, 2013) per day).

Taking the AI of the SCF (1993b) as a basis, the Panel considers 400 μ g RE per day to be adequate to cover the dietary needs of children aged from 12 to < 36 months.

4.21. Vitamin D

Vitamin D (vitamin D_3 , cholecalciferol) may come from the diet but can also be synthesised from 7-dehydrocholesterol in the skin under the influence of ultraviolet B light. Though sufficient exposure of the skin to sunshine may fully cover vitamin D requirements, depending on geographical area and lifestyle factors, there might be a need to provide vitamin D via the diet. However, the diverse origin of vitamin D in the organism makes it difficult to determine exact dietary requirements. The principal function of the active vitamin D metabolite $(1,25(OH)_2D)$ is to maintain intracellular and extracellular calcium concentrations within a physiologically acceptable range that supports cellular processes, neuromuscular function and bone ossification. This regulation is accomplished by enhancing the efficiency of the small intestine in absorbing dietary calcium and phosphorus, and by mobilising calcium and phosphorus from the bone (EFSA NDA Panel, 2012c; Braegger et al., 2013). Early signs of vitamin D deficiency are subclinical and include decreased serum concentrations of calcium and phosphorus while later signs comprise inadequate skeletal mineralisation (rickets and osteomalacia), bone deformities, bone pain, and alterations in muscle metabolism and respiratory function (SCF, 1993b).

The best indicator of vitamin D status is considered to be 25(OH)D vitamin serum concentrations. 25(OH)D vitamin serum concentrations < 50 nmol/L are usually accepted as indicators of vitamin D deficiency, whereas values < 25 nmol/L are generally considered as signs of severe vitamin D deficiency (Braegger et al., 2013). However, the use of a 25(OH)D serum concentrations of 50 nmol/L to indicate sufficiency is supported mainly by studies in adult bone health.

ULs were set by the Panel (EFSA NDA Panel, 2012c) for infants at 25 μ g per day and for young children at 50 μ g per day based on data relating high vitamin D intakes to impaired growth and hypercalcaemia.

0 to < 6 months

The mean vitamin D content of breast milk in healthy women has been reported to be in the range 0.25 to 2 μ g/L (Dawodu and Tsang, 2012). There is general agreement that human milk does not contain sufficient vitamin D to prevent rickets, even if the mother takes vitamin D supplements (Olafsdottir et al., 2001). Because of its low content in breast milk, vitamin D concentrations in human milk are considered not to be a good reference to set an AI for infants aged from 0 to < 6 months.

It has been reported that clinical deficiencies in infants receiving vitamin D at doses of 10 μ g per day have not been observed and an intake of 10 μ g per day appears to maintain serum 25(OH)D concentrations generally above 50 nmol/L throughout infancy (Braegger et al., 2013). In a recent study, 38 out of 39 Canadian infants receiving 10 μ g of vitamin D per day exhibited serum or plasma 25(OH)D concentrations \geq 50 nmol/L by three months of age, and this concentration was sustained in 37 infants at 12 months (Gallo et al., 2013).

On the basis of these considerations, the Panel considers that a vitamin D intake of 10 μ g per day is adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life.

<u>6 to < 12 months</u>

The SCF (1993b) previously set an AI for vitamin D for infants aged from 6 to < 12 months of 10–25 µg per day based on 25(OH)D serum concentrations.

This is in line with more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies, which range from 5 to 25 μ g per day (i.e. 5 μ g (WHO/FAO, 2004; NHMRC, 2006), 10 μ g (Gezondheidsraad, 2000; IoM, 2011; D-A-CH, 2013; Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013) and 20–25 μ g (Afssa, 2001) per day).

Taking the AI of the SCF (1993b) as a basis, the Panel considers that a vitamin D intake of 10 μ g per day is adequate for the majority of infants aged from 6 to < 12 months having minimal sun exposure.

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

The SCF (1993b) previously set an AI for vitamin D for young children of 10 μ g per day based on 25(OH)D serum concentrations.

This is in line with more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies, which range from 5 to 20 μ g per day (i.e. 5 μ g (WHO/FAO, 2004; NHMRC, 2006), 10 μ g (Afssa, 2001; Gezondheidsraad, 2012; Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013), 15 μ g (IoM, 2011) and 20 μ g (D-A-CH, 2013) per day).

Taking the AI of the SCF (1993b) as a basis, the Panel considers that a vitamin D intake of 10 μ g per day is adequate for the majority of young children having minimal sun exposure.

4.22. Vitamin E

Within the chemical family of tocopherols and tocotrienols, today only alpha-tocopherol is considered to play a role in covering human nutritional requirements.

The major biological role of alpha-tocopherol is antioxidant activity contributing to the prevention of propagation of free radicals in various lipid structures within the organism. In addition to its antioxidant activity, alpha-tocopherol is also suggested to play a role in immune enhancement, inhibition of platelet aggregation and anti-inflammatory functions (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013). Vitamin E deficiency is rare and develops only after years during which plasma tocopherol concentrations are extremely low in children and adults unable to utilise vitamin E adequately, who subsequently develop a characteristic and progressive neurological syndrome (SCF, 1993b).

Because of its role in preventing lipid peroxidation, alpha-tocopherol requirements should theoretically be related to PUFA intakes (Aggett et al., 1998). However, difficulties in precisely defining the PUFA content of foods ready to be consumed make it impracticable to include this parameter in formulating alpha-tocopherol requirements.

Alpha-tocopherol intakes provided by food sources have not been associated with any adverse effect and the SCF (2003a) did not propose a UL for infants and children. For adults, a UL of 300 mg per day was proposed.

0 to < 6 months

The value traditionally used for characterising alpha-tocopherol content in human milk was 3.49 mg alpha-tocopherol equivalents (TE)/L (Jansson et al., 1981). This value was closely corroborated in three-month-old infants in one recent study (3.48 mg/L) (Antonakou et al., 2011), whereas different values have been reported in other studies (2.32 mg/L (Tijerina-Saenz et al., 2009) and 1.10 mg/L (Szlagatys-Sidorkiewicz et al., 2012)).

The Panel considers that observed mean vitamin E intakes of 3 mg TE per day from breast milk (i.e. $3.5 \text{ mg/L} \times 0.8 \text{ L}$) are adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life.

6 to < 12 months

In its Opinion, the SCF (1993b) concluded on an AI of 0.4 mg alpha-TE per gram PUFA intake for all population groups. Owing to the inherent impracticability of such a recommendation and uncertainties about mean PUFA intakes in this population group, the Panel reviewed more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies. These AIs ranged from 3 to 5 mg per day (i.e. 3 mg per day (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013) based on a ratio of alpha-tocopherol to total PUFAs of 0.6, 4 mg per day (Afssa, 2001; D-A-CH, 2013) and 5 mg per day (IoM, 2000b; NHMRC, 2006) extrapolated from the AI of younger infants).

Taking the AI of IoM (2000b) and NHMRC (2006) as a basis, the Panel considers that an alphatocopherol intake of 5 mg per day is adequate for the majority of infants aged from 6 to < 12 months. This covers also infants with the highest observed PUFA intakes (i.e. 5.30 ± 2 g (mean \pm SD) PUFAs per day (Hilbig, 2005)), if related to PUFA intakes.

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

As for older infants, the Panel decided not to use the AI set by the SCF (1993b).

More recent reference values for young children set by other scientific or authoritative bodies are in the range of 4 to 6 mg TE per day (i.e. 4–5 mg per day (NHMRC, 2006; Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013) based on a ratio of alpha-tocopherol to total PUFAs of 0.6 or on observed mean intakes of 6 mg per day (IoM, 2000b; Afssa, 2001; D-A-CH, 2013) based on interpolation between adults and infants or on extrapolation from adults).

Taking the AI of IoM (2000b), Afssa (2001) and D-A-CH (2013) as a basis, the Panel considers that alpha-tocopherol intakes of 6 mg per day are adequate for the majority of young children. This covers also young children with the highest observed PUFA intakes (i.e. mean \pm SD: 6.0 \pm 1.7 g, 6.0 \pm 2.2 g and 6.5 \pm 0.2 g PUFA per day (Ulbak et al., 2004; Hilbig, 2005; de Boer et al., 2006)), if related to PUFA intakes.

4.23. Vitamin K

Vitamin K activity is shown mostly by phylloquinone but also by several other compounds containing a naphthoquinone structure. Besides dietary intake of preformed vitamin K, bacterial synthesis in the intestine also contributes to covering requirements. Vitamin K is needed primarily for the synthesis of various factors and proteins involved in blood coagulation. While low vitamin K stores at birth may predispose to haemorrhages in healthy neonates and young infants, later in life clinical consequences of vitamin K deficiency are seen almost exclusively in sick children. Therefore, in several countries different parenteral or oral regimens of vitamin K supplementation of neonates are in place.

There are no appropriate data from which to derive a numerical UL for vitamin K, but there is no evidence of adverse effects associated with supplementary intakes of vitamin K in the form of phylloquinone of up to 10 mg per day for limited periods of time (SCF, 2003b).

0 to < 6 months

Mean vitamin K concentrations in human milk are around 2.5 μ g/L but vary considerably from 0.85 to 9.2 μ g/L (IoM, 2001).

The SCF (1993b) did not set a DRV for vitamin K but indicated that an intake of 1 μ g per kg body weight per day appeared to be adequate for all age groups. This would amount to 5 μ g per day, considering an average weight of 5 kg for infants aged from 0 to < 6 months.

This is in line with more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies ranging from 2 μ g to 10 μ g per day (i.e. 2 μ g (IoM, 2001; NHMRC, 2006), 4 μ g up to four months (D-A-CH, 2013), 5 μ g (WHO/FAO, 2004) and 5–10 μ g (Afssa, 2001) per day).

The Panel considers that a vitamin K intake of 5 μ g per day is adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life, assuming that infants also receive prophylactic vitamin K at birth in amounts recommended by health authorities in the different Member States.

6 to < 12 months

Taking the guidance of the SCF (1993b) of 1 μ g vitamin K per kg body weight per day as basis, this would lead to an AI of 8.5 μ g per day, considering an average weight of 8.5 kg for infants in the second half of the first year of life.

This is in line with more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies ranging from 2.5 μ g to 10 μ g per day (i.e. 2.5 μ g (IoM, 2001; NHMRC, 2006), 5–10 μ g (Afssa, 2001) and 10 μ g (WHO/FAO, 2004; D-A-CH, 2013) per day.

The Panel considers that a vitamin K intake of 8.5 μ g per day is adequate for the majority of infants aged from 6 to < 12 months.

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

Assuming an average weight of 11.8 kg for young children and taking as the basis 1 μ g per kg body weight per day, as suggested by the SCF (1993b), this would amount to an intake of vitamin K of 12 μ g per day.

More recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies range from 15 μ g to 30 μ g per day (i.e. 15 μ g (Afssa, 2001; WHO/FAO, 2004; D-A-CH, 2013), 25 μ g (NHMRC, 2006) and 30 μ g (IoM, 2001) per day).

Even though more recent advice given by other bodies is slightly above the guidance value derived by the SCF, the Panel decided to use the value of the SCF (1993b) and considers that a vitamin K intake of 12 μ g per day is adequate for the majority of young children.

4.24. Thiamin (vitamin B_1)

The principal metabolic function of thiamin is as a precursor for thiamin pyrophosphate which is the coenzyme for a number of reactions involved in carbohydrate and branched-chain amino acid metabolism and in central energy-yielding metabolic pathways. Lack of thiamin causes the deficiency disease beriberi (SCF, 1993b).

The SCF concluded that, although no UL could be established for thiamin, existing evidence indicates that current levels of intake of thiamin from all sources do not represent a health risk for the general population (SCF, 2001c).

0 to < 6 months

The average content of thiamin in human milk is 0.2 mg/L (IoM, 1998) with a range of 0.15 to 0.33 mg/L (SCF, 2003c).

The Panel considers that observed mean intakes of thiamin from breast milk (i.e. $0.2 \text{ mg/L} \times 0.8 \text{ L}$) and rounding up to 0.2 mg per day are adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life.

6 to < 12 months

In its Opinion, the SCF (1993b) considered the requirement for thiamin to depend on the utilisation of energy-yielding substrates and set a PRI of 100 μ g per MJ.

Taking the PRI of the SCF (1993b) as a basis and the average energy requirement of infants at nine months of age to be 2.8 MJ per day, the Panel considers that a thiamin intake of 0.3 mg per day is adequate for the majority of infants aged from 6 to < 12 months.

This is in line with more recent reference values given by other scientific or authoritative bodies, which range from 0.2 to 0.4 mg per day (i.e. 0.2 mg (Gezondheidsraad, 2000; Afssa, 2001), 0.3 mg (IoM, 1998; WHO/FAO, 2004; NHMRC, 2006) and 0.4 mg (D-A-CH, 2013; Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013) per day).

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

As for infants in the second half of the first year of life, the Panel decided to use the PRI of the SCF (1993b). Taking into account an average energy requirement of 4.2 MJ per day of 24-month-old children and rounding up, the Panel considers that a thiamin intake of 0.5 mg per day is adequate for the majority of young children.

This is also in line with more recent reference values given by other scientific or authoritative bodies, which range from 0.3 to 0.6 mg per day (i.e. 0.3 mg (Gezondheidsraad, 2000), 0.4 mg (Afssa, 2001), 0.5 mg (IoM, 1998; WHO/FAO, 2004; NHMRC, 2006), 0.5–0.6 mg (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013) and 0.6 mg (D-A-CH, 2013) per day).

4.25. Riboflavin (vitamin B_2)

Riboflavin functions as a coenzyme in numerous redox reactions. Riboflavin is a precursor of certain essential coenzymes such as flavin mononucleotide (FMN) and flavin-adenine dinucleotide (FAD). In these coenzyme forms riboflavin functions as a catalyst for redox reactions. Isolated dietary riboflavin deficiency usually does not occur, but deficiency can be observed in association with other nutritional deficiencies (SCF, 2000e; Powers, 2003).

Although no numerical UL could be established by the SCF for riboflavin, it concluded that existing evidence indicates that current levels of intake of riboflavin from all sources do not represent a health risk for the general population (SCF, 2000e).

0 to < 6 months

The average content of riboflavin in human milk is 0.35 mg/L (IoM, 1998).

The Panel considers that observed mean riboflavin intakes from breast milk (i.e. $0.35 \text{ mg/L} \times 0.8 \text{ L}$) and rounding up to 0.3 mg per day are adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life.

6 to < 12 months

The SCF (1993b) set an AI for riboflavin of 0.4 mg per day for infants aged from 6 to < 12 months, which was based on observed mean intakes that restored the erythrocyte glutathione reductase activation coefficient to normal in this population group.

This value is in line with more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies, which are set at 0.4 mg per day (IoM, 1998; Gezondheidsraad, 2000; Afssa, 2001; WHO/FAO, 2004; NHMRC, 2006; D-A-CH, 2013) and 0.5 mg per day (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013).

Taking the AI of the SCF (1993b) as a basis, the Panel considers that a riboflavin intake of 0.4 mg per day is adequate for the majority of infants aged from 6 to < 12 months.

12 to < 36 months

The SCF (1993b) derived an AI for riboflavin of 0.8 mg per day for young children, which was derived from the AI of young adults on the basis of the energy expenditure.

This value is in line with more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies, which range from 0.5 to 0.8 mg per day (i.e. 0.5 mg (IoM, 1998; Gezondheidsraad, 2000; WHO/FAO, 2004; NHMRC, 2006), 0.6–0.7 mg (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013), 0.7 mg (D-A-CH, 2013) and 0.8 mg (Afssa, 2001) per day).

Taking the AI of the SCF (1993b) as a basis, the Panel considers that a riboflavin intake of 0.8 mg per day is adequate for the majority of young children.

4.26. Niacin

Niacin is the term used to describe two related compounds, nicotinic acid and nicotinamide, both of which have biological activity. Tryptophan can be used for niacin biosynthesis and 60 mg of tryptophan is considered to be 1 mg of niacin equivalent (NE). Niacin is the precursor for two cofactors, NAD (nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide) and NADP (nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate), which are essential for the functioning of a wide range of enzymes involved in redox reactions. A deficiency of niacin leads to characteristic changes, known as pellagra, and may include gastrointestinal and central nervous system symptoms (SCF, 1993b).

In adults, nicotinic acid has been used in the treatment of hypercholesterolaemia and dose-related adverse effects have been reported. Flushing is the most common side effect and can occur at relatively low doses. Chronic toxicity in the form of hepatotoxicity, hyperglycaemia, hyperuricaemia and adverse ophthalmological effects has been reported frequently. There are no reports of acute toxicity with nicotinamide, but high doses over longer periods of time have been associated with liver dysfunction. The UL for children aged one to three years of nicotinic acid (2 mg per day) and nicotinamide (150 mg per day) have been derived from adult values on the basis of reference body weights (SCF, 2002d).

0 to < 6 months

The average content of niacin in human milk is 1.8 mg/L (IoM, 1998).

The Panel considers that observed mean niacin intakes from breast milk (i.e. $1.8 \text{ mg/L} \times 0.8 \text{ L}$) and rounding up to 2 mg NE per day are adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life.

$\underline{6 \text{ to} < 12 \text{ months}}$

The SCF (1993b) derived a PRI of 1.6 mg NE/MJ, which was based on the results of depletion–repletion studies. After expressing it as mg NE per day, the SCF concluded on a PRI of 5 mg NE per day based on the AR for energy set by the SCF (1993b).

This value is consistent with more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies, which range from 2 to 5 mg NE per day (i.e. 2 mg (Gezondheidsraad (2000), 3 mg (Afssa, 2001), 4 mg (IoM, 1998; WHO/FAO, 2004; NHMRC, 2006) and 5 mg (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2004; D-A-CH, 2013) NE per day).

Taking the PRI of the SCF (1993b) as a basis, the Panel considers that a niacin intake of 5 mg NE per day is adequate for the majority of infants aged from 6 to < 12 months.

12 to < 36 months

Using the above-mentioned considerations, the SCF (1993b) derived a PRI of 9 mg NE per day for young children.

This value is consistent with more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies, which range from 4 mg to 9 mg NE per day (i.e. 4 mg (Gezondheidsraad, 2000), 6 mg (IoM, 1998; Afssa, 2001; WHO/FAO, 2004; NHMRC, 2006), 7 mg (D-A-CH, 2013) and 7–9 mg (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013) NE per day).

Taking the PRI of the SCF (1993b) as a basis, the Panel considers that a niacin intake of 9 mg NE per day is adequate for the majority of young children.

4.27. Pantothenic acid

Pantothenic acid is required in the synthesis of coenzyme A and acyl carrier proteins and thus has a central role in a wide variety of metabolic pathways. Pantothenic acid deficiency is rare because of the widespread nature of the vitamin. Deficiency has been observed only in individuals on a diet free of pantothenic acid or given an antagonist to pantothenic acid (SCF, 1993b).

The SCF estimated that, although no numerical UL could be established for pantothenic acid, existing evidence indicates that current levels of intake of pantothenic acid from all sources do not represent a health risk for the general population (SCF, 2002b).

0 to < 6 months

The average content of pantothenic acid in human milk is reported to be 2.5 mg/L (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013a).

The Panel considers that observed mean pantothenic acid intakes from breast milk (i.e. $2.5 \text{ mg/L} \times 0.8 \text{ L}$) of 2 mg per day are adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life.

6 to < 12 months

In its opinion undergoing public consultation (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013a), the Panel proposed an AI for pantothenic acid of 3 mg per day for infants in the second half of the first year of life on the basis of extrapolation of the AI of younger infants using allometric scaling based on reference body weights.

The Panel considers that a pantothenic acid intake of 3 mg per day is adequate for the majority of infants aged from 6 to < 12 months.

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

In its opinion undergoing public consultation (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013a), the Panel proposed an AI for pantothenic acid of 4 mg per day for young children based on observed intakes in this age group from European countries.

The Panel considers that a pantothenic acid intake of 4 mg per day is adequate for the majority of young children.

4.28. **Pyridoxine** (vitamin B₆)

Pyridoxine comprises six compounds—pyridoxal, pyridoxine, pyridoxamine and their corresponding 5'-phosphates. Interconversion is possible between all forms. Pyridoxine acts as a coenzyme in the metabolism of amino acids, glycogen, PUFAs and phospholipids. Clinical symptoms of vitamin B_6 deficiency are very rare since the vitamin is widely distributed in food (SCF, 1993b).

A UL for young children of 5 mg per day has been set by extrapolation from adults based on the risk of neurotoxicity (SCF, 2000g).

0 to < 6 months

The content of pyridoxine in breast milk varies greatly and is dependent on maternal intakes. The average concentration of pyridoxine in milk of unsupplemented well-nourished mothers is 0.13 mg/L, reflecting a maternal pyridoxine intake of less than 2.5 mg per day (IoM, 1998).

The Panel considers that observed pyridoxine intakes from breast milk (i.e. $0.13 \text{ mg/L} \times 0.8 \text{ L}$) and rounding to 0.1 mg per day are adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life.



This is consistent with the requirement of 15 μ g per gram of ingested protein assumed by the SCF (1993b).

6 to < 12 months

The SCF (1993b) derived a PRI for pyridoxine of 0.4 mg per day for infants aged from 6 to < 12 months based on the adult PRI of 15 µg pyridoxine per gram of dietary protein.

This value is consistent with more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies, which range from 0.2 to 0.4 mg per day (i.e. 0.2 mg (Gezondheidsraad, 2003), 0.3 mg (IoM, 1998; Afssa, 2001; WHO/FAO, 2004; NHMRC, 2006; D-A-CH, 2013) and 0.4 mg (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013) per day).

Taking the PRI of the SCF (1993b) as a basis, the Panel considers that a pyridoxine intake of 0.4 mg per day is adequate for the majority of infants aged from 6 to < 12 months.

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

The SCF (1993b) established a PRI for pyridoxine of 0.7 mg per day for young children based on the adult PRI of 15 μ g pyridoxine per gram of dietary protein.

This value is consistent with more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies that range from 0.4 to 0.7 mg per day (i.e. 0.4 mg (IoM, 1998; Gezondheidsraad, 2003; D-A-CH, 2013), 0.5 mg (WHO/FAO, 2004; NHMRC, 2006), 0.6 mg (Afssa, 2001) and 0.5–0.7 mg (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013) per day).

Taking the PRI of the SCF (1993b) as a basis, the Panel considers that a pyridoxine intake of 0.7 mg per day is adequate for the majority of young children.

4.29. Biotin

Biotin functions as a coenzyme for several carboxylases and plays a role in metabolism of carbohydrates, fats and amino acids. Biotin deficiency is very rare. It has been described following prolonged consumption of large amounts of raw egg whites (biotin bound by avidin and not available for absorption) and during biotin-free long-term parenteral nutrition. Biotin deficiency has also been described in inherited biotidinase deficiency (SCF, 1993b).

The SCF estimated that, although no numerical UL could be established for biotin, existing evidence indicates that current levels of intake of biotin from all sources do not represent a health risk for the general population (SCF, 2001a).

0 to < 6 months

The average content of biotin in human milk is 5 µg/L (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013g).

The Panel considers that observed mean biotin intakes from breast milk (i.e. $5 \mu g/L \times 0.8 L$) of $4 \mu g$ per day are adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life.

6 to < 12 months

In its opinion undergoing public consultation (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013g), the Panel proposed an AI for biotin of 6 μ g per day for infants in the second half of the first year of life on the basis of extrapolation of the AI of younger infants using allometric scaling based on reference body weights.

The Panel considers that a biotin intake of 6 μ g per day is adequate for the majority of infants aged from 6 to < 12 months.



<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

In its opinion undergoing public consultation (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013g), the Panel proposed an AI for biotin of 20 μ g per day for young children based on observed intakes in this age group from European countries.

The Panel considers that a biotin intake of 20 μg per day is adequate for the majority of young children.

4.30. Folate

Folate is the generic term used for a group of compounds with a basic structure consisting of a double aromatic pteridine ring linked through a methylene bridge to *p*-aminobenzoic acid to which one or more glutamate residues are linked by γ -peptide bonds. Folate is essential for the synthesis of ribonucleic acid (RNA) and DNA, and consequently for cell division and tissue growth. Folate deficiency impairs DNA replication and cell division, which adversely affects rapidly proliferating tissues such as bone marrow and results in decreased production of blood cells. It has also been reported that folate deficiency is associated with structural damage of DNA, which might have implications for cancer development (Crider et al., 2012).

Because the absorption efficiency of folates varies depending on their chemical form, dietary folate equivalents (DFE) have been defined by IoM (1998) as 1 DFE = 1 μ g food folate = 0.6 μ g folic acid from fortified food or as a supplement consumed with food = 0.5 μ g of a folic acid supplement taken on an empty stomach.

A UL for folic acid of 200 μ g per day was set by the SCF (2000d) for children aged one to three years. A UL for food folate was not derived.

0 to < 6 months

The average content of folate in human milk was found to be 80 μ g/L (Houghton et al., 2009).

The Panel considers that observed mean folate intakes from breast milk (i.e. $80 \ \mu g/L \times 0.8 \ L$) and rounding up to 65 μg DFE per day are adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life.

6 to < 12 months

The SCF (1993b) proposed a PRI of 50 μ g per day for older infants based on a study which found that 3.6 μ g folic acid per kg body weight appeared to maintain plasma concentrations.

More recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies range from 50 to 85 μ g per day (i.e. 50 μ g (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013), 60 μ g (Gezondheidsraad, 2003), 70 μ g (Afssa, 2001), 80 μ g (IoM, 1998; WHO/FAO, 2004; NHMRC, 2006) and 85 μ g (D-A-CH, 2013) per day).

The Panel decided not to use the PRI set by the SCF (1993b) but to use as a basis the AI of the IoM (1998) and the NHMRC (2006), which was derived by extrapolating from the AI for infants aged from 0 to < 6 months using metabolic weight.

Taking the AI of these bodies as a basis, the Panel considers that a folate intake of 80 μ g DFE per day is adequate for the majority of infants aged from 6 to < 12 months.

12 to < 36 months

The SCF (1993b) proposed a PRI of 100 μ g per day for young children extrapolated from adults on the basis of energy expenditure.

This is in line with more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies, which range from 60 to $150 \ \mu g$ per day (i.e. $60-80 \ \mu g$ (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013), $85 \ \mu g$

(Gezondheidsraad, 2003), 100 μ g (Afssa, 2001), 120 μ g (D-A-CH, 2013) and 150 μ g (IoM, 1998; WHO/FAO, 2004; NHMRC, 2006) per day).

Taking the PRI of the SCF (1993b) as a basis, the Panel considers that a folate intake of 100 μ g DFE per day is adequate for the majority of young children.

4.31. Cobalamin (vitamin B_{12})

Vitamin B_{12} is the generic name for a specific group of cobalt-containing corrinoids with biological activity in humans. This group of biologically active corrinoids is also described as cobalamins. Cobalamin functions primarily as a coenzyme in intermediary metabolism. Cobalamin deficiency is very rare in infants and young children, provided that they do not receive a vegan diet or breast milk from a mother on a vegan diet not receiving cobalamin supplements (Dror and Allen, 2008). The most obvious sign of cobalamin deficiency is impairment of neurological development (Black, 2008).

No UL could be established by the SCF for cobalamin, but existing evidence indicates that current levels of intake of cobalamin from all sources do not represent a health risk for the general population (SCF, 2000b).

0 to < 6 months

The average content of cobalamin in human milk ranges from around 0.31 to 0.42 µg/L (IoM, 1998).

The Panel considers that observed mean cobalamin intakes from breast milk at the higher observed concentrations (i.e. $0.42 \ \mu g/L \times 0.8 \ L$) and rounding up to 0.4 μg per day are adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life.

$\underline{6 \text{ to} < 12 \text{ months}}$

The SCF (1993b) had proposed a PRI for cobalamin for infants in the second half of the first year of life of $0.5 \mu g$ per day based on the amount of cobalamin needed for alleviating deficiency symptoms.

This is in line with more recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies that are in the range of 0.5 to 0.8 μ g per day (i.e. 0.5 μ g (IoM, 1998; Afssa, 2001; Gezondheidsraad, 2003; NHMRC, 2006; Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013), 0.7 μ g (WHO/FAO, 2004) and 0.8 μ g (D-A-CH, 2013) per day).

Taking the PRI of the SCF as a basis, the Panel considers that a cobalamin intake of 0.5 μ g per day is adequate for the majority of infants aged from 6 to < 12 months.

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

For young children, the SCF (1993b) set a PRI of 0.7 μ g per day based on extrapolation from the PRI of adults on the basis of the energy expenditure, with adult PRIs having been based on studies on vitamin turnover and on biochemical deficiency.

More recent reference values from other scientific or authoritative bodies are in the range of 0.6 to 1 μ g per day (i.e. 0.6–0.8 μ g (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013), 0.7 μ g (Gezondheidsraad, 2003), 0.8 μ g (Afssa, 2001), 0.9 μ g (IoM, 1998; WHO/FAO, 2004; NHMRC, 2006) and 1 μ g (D-A-CH, 2013) per day). These values were mainly derived by extrapolation from adults, except for the German-speaking countries (D-A-CH, 2013), values for which were based extrapolation from young infants.

The Panel decided not to use the PRI set by the SCF (1993b) but to use the PRI set by the IoM (1998), WHO/FAO (2004) and the NHMRC (2006).

Taking the PRI of these bodies as a basis, the Panel considers that a cobalamin intake of $0.9 \,\mu g$ per day is adequate for the majority of young children.

4.32. Vitamin C

Vitamin C (L-ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid) is an enzyme cofactor for biochemical reactions catalysed by mono-oxygenases, dioxygenases and mixed function oxygenases. Vitamin C plays an important role in the biosynthesis of collagen, is essential for the synthesis of carnitine and catecholamines, and is also involved in the metabolism of cholesterol to bile acids. Vitamin C in aqueous solution readily scavenges reactive oxygen and nitrogen species, as well as singlet oxygen and hypochlorite, and is part of the antioxidant network of the body (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013c). Frank vitamin C deficiency in children leads to scurvy but has been observed only after the sixth month of life in infants fed a diet consisting of cow's milk with no fruits and vegetables (Fomon, 2001).

Vitamin C is of low acute toxicity and available data on adverse effects are limited. No UL has been set by the Panel but available human data suggest that supplemental daily doses of vitamin C up to about 1 g in addition to normal dietary intakes in adults are not associated with adverse effects (EFSA, 2004b).

0 to < 12 months

The amount of vitamin C excreted via breast milk depends on the vitamin C status of the mother, and the vitamin C content in human milk reflects maternal vitamin C intake more than the infant's requirement (WHO/FAO, 2004). Therefore, vitamin C intakes from breast milk may result in intakes much higher than the requirement.

In its Opinion on DRVs for vitamin C (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013c), the Panel used the AI for vitamin C for infants in the second half of the first year of life set by the SCF (1993b). This AI was derived as three times the amount known to prevent scurvy.

The Panel considers that this value can also be extended to younger infants and considers that a vitamin C intake of 20 mg is adequate for the majority of infants aged from 0 to < 12 months.

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

In its previous Opinion (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013c), the Panel had used isometric scaling from the AR for adults which was determined by the quantity of vitamin C that balances metabolic vitamin C losses (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013c) to derive an AR of 15 mg per day and a PRI of 20 mg per day for young children.

The Panel considers that a vitamin C intake of 20 mg per day is adequate for the majority of young children.

4.33. Choline

Choline is a component of phospholipids, which are critical for normal membrane structure and function. In addition, as the major precursor of betaine, choline is used by the kidney to maintain water balance and by the liver as a source of methyl groups for the removal of homocysteine in methionine formation. Choline is also used in the production of acetylcholine. Although there is significant capacity for biosynthesis of the choline moiety in the liver, choline deficiency can occur in humans. Adults deprived of dietary choline become depleted of choline in their tissues and develop liver and muscle damage (Zhu and Zeisel, 2005).

No UL has been set by the SCF for choline.

0 to < 6 months

In human milk, the majority of choline is found as phospho- and glycerophosphocholine, with smaller amounts of free choline, phosphatidylcholine and sphingomyelin. Choline concentrations in human milk are influenced by choline intake and genetic polymorphisms. In one study (reported in two publications) choline levels were found to range between 144 to 170 mg/L (Ilcol et al., 2005; Allen, 2012). In a second study (Fischer et al., 2010) comparing breast milk concentrations in unsupplemented and supplemented mothers, the average choline content in breast milk amounted to 125 and 149 mg/L, respectively.

Assuming an average content of choline in breast milk of around 160 mg/L, the Panel considers that observed choline intakes from breast milk (i.e. 160 mg/L \times 0.8 L) and rounding up to 130 mg per day are adequate for the majority of infants in the first half-year of life.

<u>6 to < 12 months</u>

No DRVs for choline have been set by the SCF (1993b) for infants in the first half of the second year of life, while the IoM (1998) derived an AI of 150 mg per day by extrapolation from the AI for younger infants or extrapolation from adults, yielding the same results.

Taking the AI of the IoM (1998) as a basis, the Panel considers that a choline intake of 150 mg per day is adequate for the majority of infants aged from 6 to < 12 months.

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

No DRVs for choline have been set by the SCF (1993b). The IoM (1998) derived an AI of 200 mg per day by extrapolation from adults.

Taking the AI of the IoM (1998) as a basis, the Panel considers that a choline intake of 200 mg per day is adequate for the majority of young children.

Table 6 summarises the intakes of energy and nutrients which are considered by the Panel to be adequate for the majority of infants and young children.

 Table 6:
 Summary of intakes of energy and nutrients which are considered adequate for the majority of infants and young children

| Nutrient | Unit | 0 to | <6 mont | hs | 6 to - | <12 mon | ths | 12 to | <36 mon | ths |
|----------------------|-----------|-------------------|-------------------|-------|-------------------|---------|-----|-------------------|---------|-----|
| | | Months Boys Girls | | | Months Boys Girls | | | Months Boys Girls | | |
| Energy | MJ/d | 0-<1 | 1.5 | 1.4 | 6-<7 | 2.5 | 2.3 | 12 | 3.3 | 3.0 |
| 0.7 | | 1-<2 | 2.1 | 1.9 | 7-<8 | 2.7 | 2.4 | 24 | 4.3 | 4.0 |
| | | 2-<3 | 2.2 | 2.0 | 8-<9 | 2.8 | 2.5 | 36 | 4.9 | 4.6 |
| | | 3-<4 | 2.1 | 1.9 | 9-<10 | 2.9 | 2.6 | | | |
| | | 4-<5 | 2.3 | 2.1 | 10-<11 | 3.0 | 2.7 | | | |
| | | 5-<6 | 2.4 | 2.3 | 11-<12 | 3.1 | 2.8 | | | |
| Protein | g/d | 0-<1 | | | 6-<7 | 9 | 8 | 12 | 11 | 10 |
| | 0 | 1-<2 | 8 | 7 | 7-<8 | 11 | 10 | 18 | 11 | 11 |
| | | 2-<3 | 8 | 8 | 8-<9 | 11 | 10 | 24 | 12 | 11 |
| | | 3-<4 | 9 | 8 | 9-<10 | 11 | 10 | 36 | 13 | 13 |
| | | 4-<5 | 9 | 8 | 10-<11 | 11 | 10 | | | |
| | | 5-<6 | 9 | 8 | 11-<12 | 11 | 10 | | | |
| Fats | E% | | 50-55 | | | 40 | | | 35-40 | |
| LA | E% | | 4 | | | 4 | | | 4 | |
| ALA | E% | | 0.5 | | | 0.5 | | 0.5 | | |
| DHA | mg/d | 100 | | | | 100 | | 100 (<24 months) | | |
| DHA+EPA | mg/d | | | | | | | 250 (>24 months) | | |
| ARA | mg/d | 140 | | | | | | | | |
| Carbohydrates | E% | 40-45 | | | | 45-55 | | 45-60 | | |
| Fibre | g/d | | | | | | | 10 | | |
| Water | mL/d | 700-1000 | | | 0 | 00-1000 | | 1100-1300 | | |
| Calcium | | | | | 0 | | | 600 | | |
| | mg/d | 200 | | | 400 300 | | | 460 | | |
| Phosphorus Magnesium | mg/d | 100 | | | 80 | | | 85 | | |
| Magnesium | mg/d | 25 | | | 170-370 | | | 170-370 | | |
| Sodium Chloride | mg/d | | 120 | | 270-570 | | | 270-570 | | |
| Potassium | mg/d | | <u>300</u> 400 | | 800 | | | 4 | 800 | |
| | mg/d | 0.2 (1 | | £(-) | | | | | | |
| Iron | mg/d | | ast-fed in | | 8 | | | | 8 4 | |
| Zinc | mg/d | 2 (brea | st-fed inf | ants) | 4 0.3 | | | 4 0.4 | | |
| Copper | mg/d | | 0.3 | | | 15 | | | | |
| Selenium | µg/d | 12.5 | | | 90 | | | <u>20</u> 90 | | |
| Iodine Chromium | µg/d | | 90 | | 90 | | | 90 | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| Molybdenum | µg/d | 2 | | | | 10 | | <u> </u> | | |
| Manganese | mg/d | 0.003 | | | 0.02-0.5 | | | | | |
| Fluoride | mg/d | 0.08 | | | 0.4 | | | 0.6 | | |
| Vitamin A | μg RE/d | 350 | | | 350 | | | 400 | | |
| Vitamin D | $\mu g/d$ | | 10 | | 10 | | | 10 | | |
| Vitamin E | mg TE/d | | 3 | | 5 | | | 6 | | |
| Vitamin K | µg/d | 5 | | | 8.5 | | | 12 | | |
| Thiamin | mg/d | | 0.2 | | 0.3 | | | 0.5 | | |
| Riboflavin | mg/d | 0.3 | | | 0.4 | | | 0.8 | | |
| Niacin | mg NE/d | 2 | | 5 3 | | | 9 4 | | | |
| Pantothenic acid | mg/d | 2 | | | | | | | | |
| Pyridoxine | mg/d | 0.1 | | | 0.4 | | | 0.7 | | |
| Biotin | µg/d | 4 | | | 6 | | | 20 | | |
| Folate | μg DFE/d | | 65 | | 80 | | | 100 | | |
| Cobalamin | µg/d | 0.4 | | | 0.5 | | | 0.9 | | |
| Vitamin C | mg/d | 20 | | | 20 | | | 20 | | |
| Choline | mg/d | 130 | | | | 150 | | 200 | | |

5. Dietary intake

5.1. Dietary surveys

The Panel identified in total 29 publications reporting on nutrient intakes in infants and young children living in Europe.

Of these, nine surveys were conducted on a representative sample of the population in the country (i.e. Bulgaria (Petrova, 1998), Germany (Verzehrsstudie zur Ermittlung der Lebensmittelaufnahme von Säuglingen und Kleinkindern (VELS) (DGE, 2008), France (Fantino and Gourmet, 2008), Iceland (Thorsdottir et al., 2008), Ireland (IUNA, 2012), Italy (Sette et al., 2011), the Netherlands (de Boer et al., 2006; Ocké et al., 2008) and Norway (two surveys in different age groups) (Kristiansen et al., 2009; Overby et al., 2009).

Ten publications assessed dietary intakes at different time points in infants and young children participating in cohort studies, i.e. the German Dortmund Nutritional and Anthropometric Longitudinally Designed (DONALD) study (Hilbig, 2005; Schwartz et al., 2010), the UK Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children (ALSPAC) (Noble and Emmett, 2001; Emmett et al., 2002; Rogers et al., 2003; Noble and Emmett, 2006), the UK Southampton Women's Survey (SWS) (Marriott et al., 2008; Marriott et al., 2009), and the Finnish Type 1 Diabetes Prediction and Prevention (DIPP) study (Kyttälä et al., 2008; Kyttälä et al., 2010).

One study (Lagström et al., 1997) recruited children included in the Special Turku Coronary Risk Factor Intervention Project (STRIP) cohort study to participate in a nutrition intervention and data from the group not receiving any intervention were included in the present evaluation of the Panel.

One publication reported on nutrient intakes in an intervention study conducted in one city in Denmark (Ulbak et al., 2004).

The remaining studies were cross-sectional studies conducted on a regional level in Flanders, Belgium (Huybrechts and De Henauw, 2007; Sioen et al., 2007), in Helsinki, Finland (Räsanen and Ylonen, 1992), in Oslo, Norway (Andersen et al., 2003; Andersen et al., 2004), in five counties of Greece (Manios, 2006) and in Iceland (Gunnarsdottir et al., 2008).

In most surveys, dietary intake was assessed by dietary records with two (non-consecutive) to seven assessment days, with the majority using three-day dietary records. Twenty-four-hour recalls were used in three surveys (Petrova, 1998; Manios, 2006; Noble and Emmett, 2006), and two studies used semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaires (SFFQs) (Kristiansen et al., 2009; Overby et al., 2009).

The Panel decided not to consider further the two Norwegian surveys (Kristiansen et al., 2009; Overby et al., 2009) that used a SFFQ because of possible overestimation of nutrient intakes by this assessment method.

The Panel also did not consider further the Bulgarian survey (Petrova, 1998), which was conducted in a situation of socioeconomic decline seriously affecting the purchasing power of the population and the food supply (FAO, 1997) in the country and thus may no longer be representative of the nutritional situation of Bulgarian infants and young children of today.

0 to < 6 months

One survey available for infants aged from 0 to < 6 months was conducted in a representative sample of infants in France (Fantino and Gourmet, 2008). Data were also available from the DONALD study (Hilbig, 2005; Schwartz et al., 2010) and the ALSPAC study (Noble and Emmett, 2006).

While the data reported from the DONALD study (Hilbig, 2005; Schwartz et al., 2010) included intakes from both breast-fed and formula-fed infants at three months of age, the data presented in the reports from the ALSPAC study (Noble and Emmett, 2006) and by Fantino and Gourmet (2008) were derived from formula-fed infants at the age of four months and one to three months, respectively. These surveys included a total of 925 infants with a range of 64 to 262 infants per study group.

In all surveys conducted in this population group, mean and median energy and protein intakes were generally above the AR for energy or PRI for protein while mean and median vitamin D intakes were systematically below the AI. Mean or median intakes below the AI were also observed for vitamin E, thiamin, copper, iron and zinc in one study (Hilbig, 2005) and for folate in two surveys (Hilbig, 2005; Noble and Emmett, 2006).

6 to < 12 months

For infants in the second half of the first year of life, intake data were available from nine publications, of which four included data obtained in a representative sample of infants: the German VELS study (DGE, 2008) on infants aged between 6 and 12 months: the Dutch National Food Consumption Survey (de Boer et al., 2006) for 9-month-old infants the study by Thorsdottir et al. (2008) in 9- and 12-month-old Icelandic infants; and the study by Fantino and Gourmet (2008), from which data at 6 months and 10 to 12 months were considered by the Panel.

Data were available from the German DONALD study (Hilbig, 2005; Schwartz et al., 2010) for children aged six and nine months, from the UK SWS study (Marriott et al., 2008) for children aged six months, from the ALSPAC study (Noble and Emmett, 2001) for eight-month-old infants and from a sample of children participating in the Finnish STRIP study (Lagström et al., 1997) also for eight-month-old infants.

These surveys included a total of 2 785 infants, with between 43 and 618 infants per surveyed group.

As for younger infants, mean and median energy and protein intakes were above the AR or PRI, respectively. For vitamin D and iron, almost all studies reported mean and median intakes below the AI and PRI, respectively. Mean and median vitamin E and zinc intakes below the AI and the PRI, respectively, were reported for the two German surveys (Hilbig, 2005; DGE, 2008). Mean and median magnesium intakes just at the AI were reported in two surveys from the UK and France (Fantino and Gourmet, 2008; Marriott et al., 2008). Mean DHA intakes well below the AI were reported in the German DONALD study (Schwartz et al., 2010). However, DHA intakes in this study did not follow a normal distribution and any conclusions based on mean intakes may therefore not be robust.

<u>12 to < 36 months</u>

Nutrient intakes in young children were reported in 21 publications, of which six reported on five representative surveys in young children in the country. These were the publications by de Boer et al. (2006) and Ocké et al. (2008) for the Netherlands, reporting on intakes of 12- and 18-month-old children and two- to three-year-old children, respectively; the survey coordinated by IUNA (2012) for Ireland, from which data for one-, two- and three-year-old children were available; the VELS study (DGE, 2008) for Germany, which provided intakes for children aged 1 to 3.9 years; the study by Sette et al. (2011) for Italy, reporting on intakes in children aged 0 to 2.9 years; and the study by Fantino and Gourmet (2008) in France, from which data on children aged 19 to 24 months and 31 to 36 months were considered.

From the cohort studies. four publications provided data for 12-month-old children from the UK, Germany and Finland (Hilbig, 2005; Kyttälä et al., 2008; Marriott et al., 2009; Kyttälä et al., 2010), two for 18-month-old children from the UK (Emmett et al., 2002; Rogers et al., 2003), and three publications each for two- and three-year-old children from Germany and Finland (Hilbig, 2005; Kyttälä et al., 2010).

The regionally conducted studies investigated Norwegian children aged 12 and 24 months (Andersen et al., 2003; Andersen et al., 2004), Greek children aged one to three years (Manios, 2006), Finnish children aged one to three years (Räsanen and Ylonen, 1992; Lagström et al., 1997), Belgian children aged 30–48 months (Huybrechts and De Henauw, 2007; Sioen et al., 2007), Danish children at the age of 2.5 years (Ulbak et al., 2004) and Icelandic children at the age of three years (Gunnarsdottir et al., 2008).

These studies reported on a total of 9 107 children with 46 to 824 children per surveyed group.

Reported mean and median energy and protein intakes of young children were in all surveys above the AR or PRI, respectively, and reported iron, vitamin D and vitamin E intakes were generally below the PRI or AI, respectively. In addition, in around half of the surveys fibre intakes did not reach the AI. Mean and/or median vitamin A, DHA, thiamine, and selenium intakes below the AI or PRI were reported in one survey each (i.e. Finland, vitamin A (Kyttälä et al., 2008; Kyttälä et al., 2010); Belgium, DHA (Sioen et al., 2007); Germany, thiamin (Hilbig, 2005), the Netherlands, selenium (de Boer et al., 2006)). For calcium the surveys in German and Norwegian children reported intakes below the PRI (Andersen et al., 2003; Andersen et al., 2004; Hilbig, 2005; DGE, 2008). Intakes below the PRI for iodine were reported in German children (Hilbig, 2005; DGE, 2008) but not in the surveys from the UK and Finland (Emmett et al., 2002; Kyttälä et al., 2008; Kyttälä et al., 2010).

5.2. Risk of inadequate nutrient intakes

The Panel notes that intakes below the values which were considered by the Panel to be adequate for the majority of infants and young children do not necessarily mean that intakes in the given population group are at risk of inadequacy.

As outlined in section 3.1, if values that were considered adequate by the Panel for the majority of infants or young children were based on AIs and observed mean intakes were below these AIs, no conclusions can be drawn with respect to the risk of inadequacy of nutrient intakes in this population group without additional information on the nutrient status of the population, whereas groups with mean intakes at or above the AI can be assumed to have a low risk of inadequate intakes. Therefore, the Panel will not address further those nutrients of which the mean intakes of infants and young children studied in the dietary surveys described above were at or above the AI, i.e. biotin, riboflavin, magnesium, molybdenum and pantothenic acid, and for which overt deficiencies in infants and young children living in Europe have not been reported.

Even though it cannot be taken for granted that groups with mean or median intakes above the PRI have a low risk of inadequate intakes, the Panel decided not to consider further niacin, vitamin C, pyridoxine, cobalamin and phosphorus, of which observed mean intakes were generally at or above the PRI and overt deficiencies in infants and young children living in Europe have not been reported.

The Panel will also not address further fluoride, chromium, manganese and choline, for which no or only very limited intake data were available in the absence of any reported deficiencies in infants and young children living in Europe.

Intakes of sodium and potassium are generally above the PRI once complementary feeding is introduced. However, the Panel considers that these levels of intakes do not raise any specific concerns even though no ULs for sodium, potassium and chloride were derived by the Panel owing to insufficient data (EFSA, 2005a, 2005d, 2005c). These nutrients will therefore not be addressed further.

Furthermore, the Panel considers that intakes of water and carbohydrates in infants and young children living in Europe are not of concern and will not consider them further.

The Panel will therefore address in the following section whether intakes of energy, protein, essential fatty acids and n-3 PUFAs, dietary fibre, calcium, iron, zinc, copper, selenium, iodine, vitamin A,



vitamin D, vitamin E, vitamin K, thiamin and folate in infants and children living in Europe are at risk of being inadequate.

5.2.1. Energy

The Panel notes that observed average energy intakes in infants and young children living in Europe are generally above the AR. This Panel considers that energy intakes above requirements will lead to an unfavourable gain in body mass.

5.2.2. Protein

As for energy, protein intakes in infants and young children living in Europe were above the AR in all surveys and all population groups and were around 9 E% in infants aged from 0 to < 6 months, 10 to 15 E% in infants in the second half of the first year of life and 12 to 19 E% in young children.

In infants, a very high protein intake (around 20 E%) can impair the water balance, particularly when no other liquids are consumed and/or extrarenal water losses are increased. Consequently, such high protein intakes should be avoided in the first year of life. In adults, intakes of three to four times the PRI have been observed without apparent adverse effects or benefits (EFSA NDA Panel, 2012a).

The Panel considers that there is no conclusive evidence that protein intakes of the magnitude observed in the surveys considered by the Panel have adverse health consequences in the short or long term.

5.2.3. Essential fatty acids and LC-PUFAs

There are numerous reports on the fatty acid composition of breast milk from different European countries, but information on intakes of essential fatty acids and LC-PUFAs in infants aged less than six months were available only for German infants (Hilbig, 2005; Schwartz et al., 2010). In these infants mean intakes ranged from 5.81 to 6.70 E% for LA and from 0.67 to 0.77 E% for ALA. This is above the AI for LA of 4 E% and for ALA of 0.5 E% for infants aged from 0 to < 6 months. Intakes of ARA were reported to be 103 ± 55 mg per day, which is below the AI of 140 mg per day, and intakes of DHA were 57 ± 38 mg per day, which is below the AI of 100 mg per day for infants aged from 0 to < 6 months.

In the case of infants aged from 6 to < 12 months, mean intakes of LA in Germany (Schwartz et al., 2010), France (Fantino and Gourmet, 2008), the Netherlands (de Boer et al., 2006) and Finland (Lagström et al., 1997) were reported to be in the range of 3.4 to 6.8 E%, which is mostly above the AI of 4 E% for infants in the second half of the first year of life, except in the case of 10- to 12-month-old French infants, whose mean intake was reported to be 3.4 E%.

Mean intakes of ALA ranged from 0.46 to 0.86 E%, with intake being below the AI of 0.5 E% again only in French infants aged 10 to 12 months. Information on DHA intakes was available only from the German DONALD study, with mean intakes of 47 ± 119 mg per day at six months. The Panel notes the skewed intake distribution and considers that in the absence of information on median intakes no conclusions can be drawn from these values.

Information on fatty acid intakes in young children was available for French (Fantino and Gourmet, 2008), Dutch (de Boer et al., 2006), Belgian (Sioen et al., 2007) and Finnish (Räsanen and Ylonen, 1992; Lagström et al., 1997) children. Mean LA intakes ranged from 2.70 to 4.62 E%, with mean intakes generally below the AI of 4 E% and only Belgian children and some sub-groups of Finnish and Dutch children having intakes above the AI. Mean intakes of ALA were below or at the AI of 0.5 E% and ranged from 0.32 to 0.50 E%. A mean DHA intake of 43 mg per day was reported for Belgian children (no SD provided) with an IQR of 5–39 mg per day.

Intake of essential fatty acids is reflected in tissue levels of these fatty acids. Erythrocyte (red blood cell, RBC) LA and DHA and plasma levels of these fatty acids are generally accepted as good

biomarkers of intake over the past months and thus markers of n-6 and n-3 PUFA status. Deficiency of LA is indicated by appearance of the unusual Mead acid (20:3, n-9) in plasma, but no studies have reported any significant levels of this fatty acid in plasma of infants and young children living in Europe. It has been observed in adults that there is a positive association between the intake of total n-3 PUFAs and RBC DHA concentrations, which levels off at about 8 % of total fatty acids (Harris et al., 2008). However, no well-defined cut-off levels for status markers have been set to indicate deficiency/sufficiency of n-3 PUFAs in infants and young children.

The RBC DHA levels in nine-month-old healthy Danish infants has been shown to range from 2 to 12 % of total fatty acids (Engel et al., 2013). In another cohort of Danish infants, the mean (\pm SD) RBC DHA levels were found to be 6.6 ± 1.9 % of total fatty acids at nine months (n = 409) and 7.1 \pm 1.3 % of total fatty acids at three years (n = 176) (Harsløf et al., 2013). The mean RBC DHA concentration in 183 Dutch neonates was found to be 4.73 % of total fatty acids (Vlaardingerbroek and Hornstra, 2004). These levels have been shown to be determined by fatty acid desaturase genotype, fish intake and breast-feeding (Harsløf et al., 2013).

The Panel notes that data on intakes and status of LA in infants and young children living in Europe are of no concern.

The Panel notes that mean intakes of both ALA and DHA have been reported to be below the AI in some populations of infants and young children. The Panel considers that, in the absence of a clear relationship between intakes or biomarkers of n-3 PUFA status and clinical outcomes, the risk of inadequate intakes of ALA and DHA in infants and young children living in Europe cannot be quantified.

5.2.4. Dietary fibre

In young children, mean fibre intakes ranges from around 6 to 15 g per day, with around half of the surveys reporting mean intakes below the AI of 10 g per day for young children.

The Panel considers that, even though mean fibre intakes below the AI have been observed in some surveys, these levels of intake are not of concern.

5.2.5. Calcium

In none of the surveys were mean or median calcium intakes in infants and young children below the AI (200 and 400 mg per day for infants aged from 0 to < 6 months and from 6 to < 12 months, respectively) or AR (470 mg per day for young children) for the age group.

In the Dutch national survey (Ocké et al., 2008) the P5 of calcium intakes of two- to three-year-old boys was 452 mg per day and that of girls was 432 mg, which in both cases is below the AR of 470 mg per day for young children. For Irish children (IUNA, 2012), calcium intakes at P5 were 440, 416 and 386 mg per day at the ages of one, two and three years, respectively. However, almost 50 % of the Norwegian one- and two-year-old children (Andersen et al., 2003; Andersen et al., 2004) had calcium intakes below the AR.

Serum calcium concentrations are of limited use as a biomarker as they are tightly controlled and therefore do not reflect calcium status. In addition, urinary calcium excretion is of limited use as it can be influenced by factors other than calcium status, such as by vitamin D status.

The Panel considers that calcium intakes in infants and young children living in Europe generally do not give rise to concern over the risk of inadequate intakes.

5.2.6. Iron

None of the surveys reporting on iron intakes in infants below the age of six months reported mean or median intakes below the AI for infants aged from 0 to < 6 months of 0.3 mg per day. For infants in



the second half of the first year of life and young children, the Panel will compare intakes with the AI of 8 mg per day set by Nordic Council of Ministers (2013).

Median/mean intakes below the AI of 8 mg per day infants aged from 6 to < 12 months were observed in British infants at six and eight months of age (Noble and Emmett, 2001; Marriott et al., 2008) and in German infants at six and nine months (Hilbig, 2005) and at 6 to 12 months (DGE, 2008) of age, as well as in 9- and 12-month-old Icelandic infants (Thorsdottir et al., 2008). More than 50 % of the British infants (P50: 6.9 mg per day) studied by Marriott et al. (2008) and around 25 % of Dutch infants (P25: 8.3 mg per day) (de Boer et al., 2006) had intakes below the AI.

In almost all surveys which investigated iron intakes in Dutch, Irish, German, Italian, French, British, Finish, Norwegian, Belgian and Icelandic young children, iron intakes were below the AI of 8 mg for young children (Räsanen and Ylonen, 1992; Emmett et al., 2002; Andersen et al., 2003; Rogers et al., 2003; Andersen et al., 2004; Hilbig, 2005; de Boer et al., 2006 ; Huybrechts and De Henauw, 2007; DGE, 2008; Fantino and Gourmet, 2008; Gunnarsdottir et al., 2008; Kyttälä et al., 2008; Ocké et al., 2008; Marriott et al., 2009; Kyttälä et al., 2010; Sette et al., 2011; IUNA, 2012), except for 12-monthold Dutch children (de Boer et al., 2006).

Information on the use of supplements was available for one- to three-year-old Finnish young children (Kyttälä et al., 2010): such use was reported in 0.7–4 % of children, contributing, on average, around 7.5–12.1 mg per day to iron intakes.

A number of laboratory tests can be used to assess iron status, including determining serum ferritin (SF) concentrations, free erythrocyte protoporphyrin concentrations, zinc protoporphyrin-haem ratio, transferrin saturation (TSAT), serum transferrin receptor (TfR) concentrations, haemoglobin (Hb) concentrations or haematocrit and RBC indices (AAP Committee on Nutrition, 2009), with different markers estimating different aspects of iron status (Aggett et al., 2002). In spite of this plethora of markers of iron status, none of them is sufficiently validated in children (Domellöf et al., 2002b) and none of them is suitable to assess iron deficiency in the absence of anaemia (Aggett et al., 2002). Furthermore, reference ranges and cut-offs for the different iron status biomarkers are poorly defined in infants and young children, and the use of cut-offs defined for older ages is usually inappropriate for infants and young children owing to the large physiological changes in iron status and RBC morphology occurring during the first year of life (Domellöf et al., 2002b). SF is the most specific biochemical marker because it is correlated with total body iron stores, and low SF concentrations reflect depleted iron stores in the absence of inflammation, but are difficult to interpret at times of rapid systemic iron use, such as during rapid growth. Although SF concentrations during the first part of infancy seem to reflect relative changes in iron stores, no firm data indicate the exact cut-offs for when iron stores are depleted with functional consequences. Therefore, concentrations below the cutoff do not necessarily reflect depleted iron stores and the cut-off values currently in use with respect to anaemia (Hb < 110 g/L) and depleted iron stores (SF < 12 μ g/L) may overestimate the prevalence of iron depletion and iron deficiency anaemia (Aggett et al., 2002).

In a cross-sectional sample of the Euro-Growth study (Male et al., 2001) iron status was determined in 488 healthy term infants at 12 months of age from 11 study centres (i.e. Athens, Bilbao, Budapest, Dublin, Madrid, Naples, Porto, Rostock, Santiago, Umeå and Vienna) with the objective of assessing the prevalence of iron deficiency and iron deficiency anaemia in a representative sample of European infants. Iron deficiency was defined as the presence of two or more abnormal values of four iron status indicators: mean corpuscular volume (MCV) (< 70 fL), SF concentration (< 10 µg/L), TSAT (< 10 %) and serum TfR concentrations (> 4.4 mg/L). Iron deficiency anaemia was defined as Hb < 110 g/L plus two or more abnormal values of iron status indicators. Iron deficiency was observed in 7.2 % of the sample, with a higher prevalence in boys (9.2 %) than in girls (4.8 %). Iron deficiency anaemia occurred in 2.3 % of the sample (3.1 % of all boys surveyed and 1.3 % of girls). Duration of cow's milk consumption in this study was negatively correlated with iron status and formula feeding was associated with a lower risk of iron deficiency. Iron deficiency anaemia was significantly more frequent in children from a low (5.1 %) than from a high socioeconomic background (0 %).

Several studies assessed iron status in infants and young children at a national or regional level in European countries. However, different definitions of iron depletion, iron deficiency and iron deficiency anaemia and different cut-off values used in these studies make comparisons of the prevalence of iron deficiency in different populations difficult. While iron deficiency was distinguished from iron depletion in some studies by applying additional criteria other than SF concentrations, this was not done in other studies, in which iron deficiency was considered to occur when SF concentrations were below a certain cut-off value. For the purpose of the present Opinion, iron deficiency will be taken to have occurred when additional status markers were included in the definition of iron deficiency by the authors. Results based on SF concentrations will be classified only as iron depletion. The results of these studies are summarised in Tables 7 to 9.

| | | Defined as | | | | |
|-----------------------------|-------------------------------|------------|------|--------------------|--------------------|--|
| Study | Iron depletion Country Age | | n | Prevalence | SF (µg/L) | |
| Tuthill et al. (2002) | UK | 3 mo | 88 | 1.1 % | <10 | |
| Dube et al. (2010a) | DE | 4 mo | 76 | 6 % breast-fed | <12 | |
| | | | | 4 % formula-fed | | |
| Lind et al. (2003) | SE | 6 mo | 467 | 9 % | <12 | |
| Hay et al. (2004) | NO | 6 mo | 281 | 4 % | <12 | |
| Hay et al. (2004) | NO | 6 mo | 281 | 2 % | <10 | |
| Michaelsen et al. (1995) | DK | 6 mo | 57 | 0 % | <13 | |
| Öhlund et al. (2008) | SE | 6 mo | 105 | 7 % | <12 | |
| Dube et al. (2010a) | DE | 7 mo | 76 | 19 % breast-fed | <12 | |
| | | | | 0 % formula-fed | | |
| Hopkins et al. (2007) | UK | 8 mo | 649 | 3 % | <16 | |
| Capozzi et al. (2010) | IT | 8 mo | 385 | 8.1 % | <15 | |
| Gondolf et al. (2013) | DK | 9 mo | 260 | 7.8 % | <12 | |
| Michaelsen et al. (1995) | DK | 9 mo | 94 | 2 % | <13 | |
| Dube et al. (2010a) | DE | 10 mo | 76 | 21 % breast-fed | <12 | |
| | | | | 0 % formula-fed | | |
| Vendt et al. (2007) | EE | 9-12 mo | 171 | 31.6 % | <12 or MCV < 74 fL | |
| Lind et al. (2003) | SE | 12 mo | 467 | 16 % | <12 | |
| Bramhagen et al. (2011) | SE | 12 mo | 87 | 10.3 % | ≤12 | |
| Thorisdottir et al. (2012) | IS | 12 mo | 255 | 21.8 % | ≤12 | |
| Thorisdottir et al. (2013a) | IS | 12 mo | 108 | 5.7 % | <12 | |
| Hay et al. (2004) | NO | 12 mo | 249 | 10 % | <12 | |
| Hay et al. (2004) | NO | 12 mo | 249 | 5 % | <10 | |
| Hopkins et al. (2007) | UK | 12 mo | 644 | 5 % | <16 | |
| Thorisdottir et al. (2011) | IS | 12 mo | 141 | 5.8 % | <12 | |
| Thorsdottir et al. (2003) | IS | 12 mo | 111 | 41 % | <12 | |
| Freeman et al. (1998) | IE | 12 mo | 121 | 23 % | <10 | |
| Capozzi et al. (2010) | IT | 12 mo | 302 | 6.2 % | <15 | |
| Tuthill et al. (2002) | UK | 12 mo | 76 | 5.2 % | <10 | |
| Öhlund et al. (2008) | SE | 12 mo | 105 | 18 % | <12 | |
| Öhlund et al. (2008) | SE | 18 mo | 105 | 12 % | <12 | |
| Gompakis et al. (2007) | GR | 8 mo-2 y | 369 | 34.1 % | <10 | |
| Hay et al. (2004) | NO | 24 mo | 231 | 13 % | <12 | |
| Hay et al. (2004) | NO | 24 mo | 231 | 9 % | <10 | |
| Freeman et al. (1998) | IE | 24 mo | 121 | 50 % | <10 | |
| Bramhagen and Axelsson | SE | 2.5 y | 367 | 10 % | <12 | |
| (1999) | | | | | | |
| Freeman et al. (1998) | IE | 3 у | 121 | 46 % | <10 | |
| Thane and Bates (2000) | UK | 1.5-3 y | 334 | 34 % (omnivores) | <12 | |
| Thane and Bates (2000) | UK | 1.5-3 y | 11 | 73 % (vegetarians) | <12 | |
| Grant (1990) | UK | 1-4 y | 311 | 17 % | <10 or MCV < 75 fl | |
| Gibson (1999) | UK | 1.5-4.5 y | 904 | 20 % | <10 | |
| Thane et al. (2000) | UK | 1.5-4.5 y | 1003 | 20 % | <10 | |
| Gompakis et al. (2007) | GR | 2-6 y | 676 | 24.4 % | <10 | |

Table 7:Prevalence of iron depletion reported in studies conducted in infants and young children in
Europe on a national or regional level

mo: months, y: years

Table 8:Prevalence of iron deficiency reported in studies conducted in infants and young children
in Europe on a national or regional level

| Iron deficiency | | | | | | Defined as | | | | | |
|-------------------------------|---------|-------|-----|------------|--------------------|--------------------|-------------|-------------|---------------|--|--|
| Study | Country | Åge | n | Prevalence | SF (µg/L) | S-iron (µmol/L) | MCV (fL) | TSAT (%) | TfR (mg/L) | | |
| Bramhagen et al. (2011) | SE | 12 mo | 87 | 2.3 % | ≤12 ^(a) | | ≤72 | | <2.5 | | |
| Thorisdottir et al. (2011) | IS | 12 mo | 141 | 1.4 % | <12 | | <74 | | | | |
| Thorsdottir et al. (2003) | IS | 12 mo | 114 | 20 % | <12 | | <74 | | | | |
| Gunnarsson et al. (2004) | IS | 2 y | 71 | 9 % | <12 | | <74 | | | | |
| Bramhagen and Axelsson (1999) | SE | 2.5 y | 367 | 10 % | <12 ^(b) | <10 | ≤75 | <10 | | | |

(a): At least two out of three abnormal parameters

(b): SF < 12 μ g/L plus one abnormal other parameter or SF in the range of 12–19 μ g/L plus MCV and TSAT at abnormal level

mo: months, y: years, S: serum

Table 9: Prevalence of iron deficiency anaemia reported in studies conducted in infants and young children in Europe on a national or regional level

| Iron deficiency anaemia | | | | | Defined as | | | | | |
|---|---------|-----------|------|-----------------------|--------------------|--------------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|--|
| Study | Country | Age | n | Prevalence | SF (µg/L) | S-iron (µmol/L) | MCV (fL) | TSAT (%) | Hb (g/L) | |
| Dube et al. (2010a) | DE | 4 mo | 76 | 0 % | <12 | | | | <105 | |
| Lind et al. (2003) | SE | 6 mo | 467 | 2 % | <12 | | <73 | | <110 | |
| Hay et al. (2004) | NO | 6 mo | 281 | 3 % | <15 | | | | <110 | |
| Hay et al. (2004) | NO | 6 mo | 281 | 1 % | <15 | | <73 | | <110 | |
| Dube et al. (2010a) | DE | 7 mo | 76 | 4 % | <12 | | | | <105 | |
| Gondolf et al. (2013) | DK | 9 mo | 260 | 0.7 % | <12 | | | | <100 | |
| Dube et al. (2010a) | DE | 10 mo | 76 | 2 % | <12 | | | | <105 | |
| Vendt et al. (2007) | EE | 9-12 mo | 171 | 9.4 % | <12 | | <74 | | <105 | |
| Lind et al. (2003) | SE | 12 mo | 467 | 1 % | <12 | | <73 | | <110 | |
| Thorisdottir et al. (2011) | IS | 12 mo | 141 | 0 % | <12 | | <74 | | <105 | |
| Thorsdottir et al. (2003) | IS | 12 mo | 114 | 2.7 % | <12 | | <74 | | <105 | |
| Hay et al. (2004) | NO | 12 mo | 249 | 10 % | <15 | | | | <110 | |
| Hay et al. (2004) | NO | 12 mo | 249 | 3 % | <15 | | <73 | | <110 | |
| Tympa- Psirropoulou et al. (2005) | GR | 1.5 y | 938 | 8 % | <10 | | <70 | <14 | <110 | |
| Hay et al. (2004) | NO | 24 mo | 231 | 12 % | <15 | | | | <110 | |
| Hay et al. (2004) | NO | 24 mo | 231 | 4 % | <15 | | <73 | | <110 | |
| Gompakis et al. (2007) | GR | 0.8 mo-2y | 369 | 16.1 % | <10 | | | | <110 | |
| Gunnarsson et al. (2004) | IS | 2 у | 71 | 1.4 % | <12 | | <74 | | <105 | |
| Bramhagen and Axelsson (1999) | SE | 2.5 y | 367 | 7 % | <12 ^(a) | <10 | ≤75 | <10 | <110 | |
| Grant (1990) | UK | 1-4 y | 311 | 2.5 % | <10 ^(b) | | <75 | | <105 | |
| Thane and Bates (2000) | UK | 1.5-3 y | 334 | 5 % (omnivores) | <12 | | | | <110 | |
| Thane and Bates (2000) | UK | 1.5-3 y | 11 | 18 % (vegetarians) | <12 | | | | <110 | |
| Thane et al. (2000) | UK | 1.5-4.5 y | 1003 | 3.4 % | <10 | | | | <110 | |
| Gompakis et al. (2007) | GR | 2-6 y | 676 | 3.4 % | <10 | | | | <110 | |

(a): Iron deficiency + abnormal Hb concentrations

(b): Either SF < 10 μ g/L or MCV < 75 fL

mo: months, y: year, S: serum

The Panel notes that the prevalence of iron depletion (according to SF concentrations) as reported in national or regional surveys in European infants aged 0 to < 6 months ranged from 1 to 6%. Among infants aged 6 to < 12 months, the prevalence of iron depletion ranged from 0 to around 32%, and among young children it ranged from around 5 to 50%. However, study populations were not necessarily representative of the population of the country in which the study was carried out. The prevalence of iron deficiency in Europe was estimated in a representative sample of European 12-month-old children at 7.2%. In national and regional surveys, the prevalence of iron deficiency anaemia in Europe was reported to be 2.3% in a representative sample of European 12-month-old children. In national and regional surveys, the prevalence of iron deficiency in one study in infants < 6 months of age, 0.7 to 9.4% in infants in the second half-year of life and 0 to 10% in young children. However, these estimates are highly dependent on the cut-off values used and therefore difficult to compare.

In view of the poor iron status of some sub-groups of infants and young children living in Europe, the Panel considers that an inappropriate supply of dietary iron may increase the risk of inadequacy in some populations of infants and young children. However, there may be other reasons for this than an inappropriate supply of dietary iron, and the causes of poor iron status should be further investigated.

5.2.7. Zinc

In none of the studies investigating zinc intakes in infants below six months of age were mean intakes below the AI of 2 mg per day. For infants in the second half of the first year of life, only the study by Hilbig (2005) reported mean (2.8 mg per day) and median (3.1 mg per day) intakes below the AR of 3.15 mg for infants of this age range, while none of the 13 surveys reporting on this nutrient observed intakes in young children below the AR of 3.15 mg.

Only around 5 % of Irish children (P5 at one year and two years 3.0 mg and at three years 3.1 mg per day) (IUNA, 2012) and Dutch children (P5 at two to three years: 3.5 mg in boys and 3.4 mg in girls) (Ocké et al., 2008) had zinc intakes below the AR. Other surveys did not report on a sufficient number of percentiles to make any judgement.

There is a lack of sensitive biomarkers of zinc status. Plasma or serum zinc concentrations, albeit imperfect, are the most commonly used biomarkers of zinc status. The major biological limitations of plasma/serum zinc concentration include its low sensitivity to indicate marginal zinc status, its responsiveness as a negative acute-phase reactant to acute and chronic inflammation and its fluctuation in response to meals and time of day (Krebs, 2013).

On a population basis, WHO has recommended three indicators for assessing zinc status with cut-offs for the prevalence considered indicative of elevated risk and of public health concern. These indices are prevalence of inadequate zinc intakes > 25 %, prevalence of low serum zinc concentrations > 20 % and stunting > 20 % (de Benoist et al., 2007). No universally agreed cut-off values for low plasma/serum zinc concentrations are available, but a value of 10.7 μ mol/L has been suggested by WHO/FAO (2006).

In a study in 66 French infants and young children aged less than three years (Bouglé et al., 2000), 21 % showed a serum zinc concentration < 12 μ mol/L, the cut-off value applied in this study. In another study in 300 Swedish infants (Lind et al., 2003), serum zinc concentrations < 10.7 μ mol/L were observed in 22 % of six-month-old infants and around 25 % 12-month-old infants. In Turkish infants, serum zinc concentrations < 10.7 μ mol/L were observed in 17 % of 111 two-month-old infants, in 21 % of 132 six-month-old infants and in 13 % of 136 one-year-old infants (Özden et al., 2012). In a sample of 100 Turkish breast-fed infants and young children between the age of 6 and 28 months (Sezer et al., 2013), 56 % were reported to have zinc concentrations < 10.7 μ mol/L. In Belgian infants and children, mean (± SD) serum zinc concentrations were reported to be 11.6 ± 2.81 μ mol/L in 126 infants aged up to one year and 12.8 ± 3.7 μ mol/L in 157 children aged one

to four years. Around 25 % of the studied population of children aged 0 to 14 years had serum zinc concentrations below 10.4 μ mol/L (Van Biervliet et al., 2003).

The Panel notes that the majority of infants and young children studied in the surveys considered by the Panel had zinc intakes above the AR. The results of studies investigating plasma/serum zinc concentrations could be interpreted as suggesting that zinc status is inadequate in a significant proportion of healthy infants and young children living in Europe. However, the Panel notes that plasma/serum zinc concentrations are not a sensitive marker of zinc status and that overt zinc deficiency with stunting in infants and young children living in Europe has not been reported.

The Panel considers that in the absence of a sensitive marker of marginal zinc deficiency, which is more likely to occur in infants and young children living in Europe than overt zinc deficiency with stunting, the risk of inadequate zinc intakes in infants and young children living in Europe cannot be quantified.

5.2.8. Copper

Only one survey investigated dietary copper intakes of infants below six months of age (Hilbig, 2005). Mean intakes were at the AI of 0.3 mg per day, with the median (0.2 mg per day) below the AI.

The two surveys (Hilbig, 2005; Marriott et al., 2008) which reported on copper intakes in infants in the second half of the first year of life both reported mean and median intakes well above the AR of 0.22 mg per day for infants aged from 6 to < 12 months. For young children, copper intakes were available from a representative sample of Irish (IUNA, 2012) and Dutch (Ocké et al., 2008) children, as well as for German (Hilbig, 2005), British (Marriott et al., 2009) and Finnish (Räsanen and Ylonen, 1992) children. For young children, too, mean and median intakes were well above the AR of 0.29 mg per day in all of these surveys.

Around 95 % of one- to three-year-old Irish children (IUNA, 2012) and two- to three-year-old Dutch children (Ocké et al., 2008) and around 75 % of British children (Marriott et al., 2009) had intakes above the AR. Other surveys did not report on a sufficient number of percentiles to make any judgement.

Markers of copper status have been reported to be copper in serum or plasma (640 to 1 560 μ g/L), caeruloplasmin in serum (180 to 400 mg/L), and activity of copper/zinc superoxide dismutase (CuZn-SOD), glutathione peroxidase or cytochrome C oxidase.

Copper concentrations in serum or plasma increase with infant age. This is believed to be a physiological increase due to changes in infant copper metabolism during the first year of life, and infant copper concentrations in serum may not accurately reflect copper status, at least up to the age of nine months (Domellöf et al., 2005). Low plasma/serum concentrations of copper are nearly always a consequence of severe copper deficiency, but plasma/serum copper concentrations are insensitive to marginal copper deficiency, a condition more likely to occur in infants than overt clinical deficiency (Lönnerdal, 1998; Milne, 1998).

Copper status was investigated in a study in 96 healthy Swedish infants. Mean (\pm SD) plasma copper concentrations were 910 \pm 210 µg/L at four months, 1 040 \pm 230 µg/L at six months and 1 090 \pm 220 µg/L at nine months. CuZn-SOD activity at nine months was 0.93 \pm 0.21 U/mg Hb (Domellöf et al., 2005). In another study in Turkey (Gürgöze et al., 2006) examining 49 healthy and 52 anaemic children between one and four years of age, mean \pm SD serum copper concentration was reported to be 1 391 \pm 241 µg/L and 1 595 \pm 368 µg/L, respectively.

The Panel notes that the percentage of European infants and children with copper intakes below the AR is low and that the results of two studies investigating plasma/serum copper concentrations in healthy infants and young children do not raise any concerns.

The Panel considers that copper intakes in infants and young children living in Europe generally do not give rise to concern over the risk of inadequate intakes.

5.2.9. Selenium

No information on selenium intakes in infants below six months of age was available. For infants in the second half of the first year of life, the only survey which reported selenium intakes was the Dutch national survey (de Boer et al., 2006), in which a mean \pm SD selenium intake of $19 \pm 4 \mu g$ (median: 19 μg) per day for infants at the age of nine months was reported. This is well above the AI of 15 μg per day for infants aged from 6 to < 12 months.

Mean and median selenium intakes in young children reported in Finland, Iceland and the Netherlands (Räsanen and Ylonen, 1992; de Boer et al., 2006; Gunnarsdottir et al., 2008; Kyttälä et al., 2008; Ocké et al., 2008; Kyttälä et al., 2010) were above the AR for young children of 17 μ g per day.

Around 95 % of Dutch children aged two to three years old had selenium intakes above the AR (Ocké et al., 2008). Other surveys did not report on a sufficient number of percentiles to make any judgement.

Selenium concentrations in plasma/serum are a biomarker for selenium status, but can be influenced by age, diseases and the chemical nature of the dietary selenium. Functional markers of selenium status are selenoprotein P levels in plasma or GPX activity in plasma, platelets and blood. Selenium intakes that are associated with maximal activity of selenoproteins, particularly selenoprotein P, can serve as indicators of selenium requirement (Fairweather-Tait et al., 2011).

A cut-off value of 0.8 to 1.1 μ mol/L of selenium in plasma/serum has been proposed for all population groups to define selenium deficiency (WHO/FAO, 2006). However, the Panel notes the limitation of this marker to characterise selenium deficiency because of its age dependency and the influence the chemical form of ingested selenium has on this marker.

A study aimed at establishing age-related reference values for selenium concentrations in serum of infants and children (Muntau et al., 2002) reported reference ranges (P2.5 to P97.5 of a sample of 166 German infants and 221 young children aged one to five years) for selenium concentrations in serum for different age groups as $0.19-1.35 \mu mol/L$ for infants less than one month of age; $0.19-1.27 \mu mol/L$ for infants aged one to two months; $0.13-1.18 \mu mol/L$ for infants aged two to four months; $0.17-1.47 \mu mol/L$ for infants aged 4–12 months; and $0.43-1.63 \mu mol/L$ for young children aged one to five years. Median serum concentrations of selenium in this study were $0.64 \mu mol/L$ for infants aged less than one month, $0.44 \mu mol/L$ at two to four months, $0.62 \mu mol/L$ at 4 to 12 months and 0.90 $\mu mol/L$ in young children.

Mean/median plasma/serum selenium concentrations were reported to be $0.40 \pm 0.18 \mu mol/L$ in onemonth-old Italian infants (Strambi et al., 2004), 0.39–0.58 $\mu mol/L$ in four-month-old German infants (Sievers et al., 2001), $0.30 \pm 0.11 \mu mol/L$ in Polish infants aged 0 to 12 months and $0.36 \pm 0.12 \mu mol/L$ in Polish children between one and three years of age (Wasowicz et al., 2003), $0.37 \mu mol/L$ in Belgian infants aged 0 to 12 months and 0.70 $\mu mol/L$ in Belgian children aged one to four years (Van Biervliet et al., 2001), $0.94 \pm 0.12 \mu mol/L$ in one- to two-year-old Slovenian children (Mičetić-Turk et al., 1996), and 1.25 $\mu mol/L$ in Finnish children aged below three years (Wang et al., 1998). In Finland selenium supplementation is implemented through the addition of selenium to fertilisers.

The Panel notes that only limited information on dietary intakes of selenium in infants and young children living in Europe is available, but that reported levels selenium intake do not give rise to concern. The Panel also notes the limitation of plasma/serum selenium concentrations as a marker of selenium status.

The Panel considers that selenium intakes in infants and young children living in Europe generally do not raise give rise to concern over the risk of inadequate intakes.

5.2.10. Iodine

Only two of the surveys investigated dietary iodine intake in infants below six months of age. Both reported mean and median iodine intakes below the proposed AI (i.e. 90 μ g per day) for infants aged from 0 to < 6 months (Hilbig, 2005; Noble and Emmett, 2006). In three-month-old German infants (Hilbig, 2005), median iodine intakes were reported to be 17.9 μ g per day. In British four-month-old infants (Noble and Emmett, 2006), mean intakes were reported to be 50 ± 18 and 54 ± 19 μ g per day (median 49 and 52 μ g per day) in girls and boys respectively.

In all four surveys which reported on iodine intakes in infants in the second half of the first year of life (Noble and Emmett, 2001; Hilbig, 2005; DGE, 2008; Thorsdottir et al., 2008) mean and median intakes were below the AI (i.e. 90 μ g per day) for infants aged from 6 to < 12 months, with mean intakes ranging from 42 to 85 μ g per day (median (where reported) 33 to 77 μ g per day).

Two out of the five surveys which investigated dietary iodine intake in young children found mean and median intakes below the proposed AI for young children (i.e. 90 μ g per day). These were the surveys conducted in German children (Hilbig, 2005; DGE, 2008), which reported mean iodine intakes ranging from 35 to 43.6 μ g per day (median: 30 to 60.6 μ g per day). The three remaining surveys, in Finnish (Kyttälä et al., 2008; Kyttälä et al., 2010), Icelandic (Gunnarsdottir et al., 2008; Thorsdottir et al., 2008) and British children (Emmett et al., 2002), reported mean and median intakes above the AI.

Urinary iodine is usually used as an indicator of iodine intake and status on a population basis. Serum concentrations of thyroglobulin (Tg), thyroxine (T4) and TSH were found to be useful biomarkers of iodine status depending on age and population group and their iodine status (WHO/UNICEF/ICCIDD, 2007).

According to WHO, a median urinary iodine concentration in children of 100 to 299 μ g/L together with less than 20 % of the population showing an urinary iodine concentrations of < 50 μ g/L (defined as moderate to severe iodine deficiency) can be used as an indicator of a sufficient iodine supply in a population of children (WHO/UNICEF/ICCIDD, 2007).

In a cross-sectional sample of 875 exclusively breast-fed Swiss infants (Andersson et al., 2010) followed from three to four days after birth until one year, median urinary iodine concentrations were 91 μ g/L in three- to four-day-old infants (n = 368), 91 μ g/L in six-month-old infants (n = 279) and 103 μ g/L in 12-month-old children (n = 228). The percentage of infants with urinary iodine concentration < 100 μ g/L was 58 %, 55 % and 48 %, respectively, and with iodine concentration < 50 μ g/L was 22 %, 24 % and 20 %, respectively.

In 63 Portuguese infants (Costeira et al., 2009) at three months of age, the median urinary iodine concentration was reported to be 96 μ g/L (IQR 58 to 200 μ g/L), with 52 % of infants having an iodine concentration of less than 100 μ g/L and 21 % of less than 50 μ g/L.

Urinary iodine concentration was also studied in 95 French infants below one year of age (Pouessel et al., 2008). Median urinary iodine concentration was 328 μ g/L, with 20 % of infants having urinary iodine concentrations < 100 μ g/L and 11 % below 50 μ g/L. However, 25 % of infants showed excessive urinary iodine concentrations > 400 μ g/L.

In 111 Belgian children aged six months to three years (Delange et al., 2001), the median urinary iodine concentration in 244 samples collected from these subjects was 101 μ g/L, with 49 % of children having a urinary iodine concentration < 100 μ g/L and 21 % < 50 μ g/L.

In the German Health Interview and Examination Survey for Children and Adolescents (KiGGS) around 45 % of infants and young children aged zero to two years (number of samples not reported) showed urinary iodine concentrations < 100 μ g/L and around 24 % of below 50 μ g/L. Median iodine concentration in spot urine samples was 125, 115 and 110 μ g/L, respectively, in boys aged 0 to < 12 months, 12 to < 24 months and 24 to < 36 months and 100, 75 and 80 μ g/L, respectively, in girls aged 0 to < 12 months, 12 to < 24 months and 24 to < 36 months (Thamm et al., 2007; DGE, 2008).

In a sample of 130 Spanish children aged six months to three years (Arena Ansótegui and Emparanza Knörr, 2012), the median urinary iron concentration was 127 μ g/L, with 36.9 % of the children having a urinary iodine concentration of less than 100 μ g/L. The percentage of children with a urinary iodine concentration < 50 μ g/L was not reported.

Taking into account the definition used by WHO to define iodine sufficiency of a population on the basis of iodine concentrations of urine samples and the data available from some European countries, the Panel considers that some sub-groups of infants and young children may be at risk of iodine inadequacy.

5.2.11. Vitamin A

Mean and median vitamin A intakes in infants and young children were generally at or above the AIs in all age groups (i.e. 350 μ g RE per day for infants aged from 0 to < 12 months and 400 μ g per day for young children), except in one survey (Kyttälä et al., 2008; Kyttälä et al., 2010) in Finnish children aged one and two years (but not in three-year-old children assessed in the same survey), in which mean \pm SD vitamin A intakes were reported to be 315 \pm 268 μ g RE per day and 383 \pm 391 μ g RE per day, respectively, with medians not given. The Panel notes the skewed distribution of these intakes and that in the absence of information on median intakes no conclusions can be drawn from these values.

Assessment of vitamin A status is difficult, but is usually monitored by measuring plasma/serum retinol and retinol-binding protein (RBP) concentrations (AAP Committee on Nutrition, 2009). Serum retinol is homeostatically controlled, and it does not drop until liver reserves are very low (Tanumihardjo, 2012). Moreover, plasma/serum retinol and RBP concentrations fall during periods of infection. In children values of plasma/serum retinol < 0.35 µmol/L may indicate deficiency (Tanumihardjo, 2004). However, if no infection is present in the population under study, a value of 0.70 µmol/L may be more descriptive of the actual status (Tanumihardjo, 2012).

In a study in 139 healthy, mostly formula-fed, Belgian infants aged 0 to 12 months and 193 children aged one to four years (Van Biervliet et al., 2001) the percentage of infants below the cut-off value (0.64 μ mol/L) of serum retinol concentrations used in this study to characterise low vitamin A status was 0.7 %. For young children this was 0.05 %. One study in British young children (Thane and Bates, 2000) reported mean plasma retinol concentrations of 1.02 μ mol/L for 265 omnivorous children aged 1.5 to 3 years. In 10 vegetarian children, the mean concentration was 1.07 μ mol/L. In 32 Norwegian breast-fed infants at one month of age (Henriksen et al., 2006), the median plasma retinol concentration was 0.72 μ mol/L (IQR 0.62 to 0.86 μ mol/L).

The Panel notes that vitamin A intakes of infants and children were generally at or above the AI and that the results of studies investigating plasma/serum retinol concentrations in healthy infants and young children do not raise any concerns but notes the limitation of plasma/serum retinol concentrations as a marker of vitamin A status.

The Panel considers that vitamin A intakes in infants and young children living in Europe generally do not give rise to concern over the risk of inadequate intakes.



5.2.12. Vitamin D

In all studies reporting on vitamin D intakes in infants and young children, vitamin D intakes were below the AI of 10 μ g per day for infants and young children, except in one-year-old Finnish children (Kyttälä et al., 2008; Kyttälä et al., 2010) and nine-month-old Dutch infants (de Boer et al., 2006). The highest intakes were observed in formula-fed infants (mean 8.5 to 9.1 μ g per day) (Noble and Emmett, 2001; Fantino and Gourmet, 2008). Intakes were found to decline with increasing age, with mean intakes of infants in the second half-year of life reported to be in the range of 4.5 to 10.4 μ g per day, with the majority of values around 5 μ g per day. Mean intakes in young children ranged from 1.2 to 12.2 μ g per day, with highest mean intakes (7 to 12.2 μ g per day) being found in one survey in Finnish one- to three-year-old children (Kyttälä et al., 2008; Kyttälä et al., 2010) and in Dutch infants at 12 months of age (6.8 μ g per day) (de Boer et al., 2006). In the remaining surveys conducted in young children, intakes were below 5 μ g per day, with the majority of values around 2 μ g per day.

The use of supplements was reported in 47 to 86% of Finnish children aged one to three years (Kyttälä et al., 2010), declining with age and contributing on average around 6 to 7 μ g vitamin D per day. Supplemental intake of vitamin D in two- to six-year-old German children in the VELS study (Sichert-Hellert et al., 2006) contributed around half of the dietary vitamin D intake in those children consuming supplements.

The best indicator of vitamin D status is considered to be 25(OH)D vitamin serum concentrations. 25(OH)D vitamin serum concentrations < 50 nmol/L are usually accepted as indicators of vitamin D deficiency, whereas values < 25 nmol/L are generally considered a sign of severe vitamin D deficiency (Braegger et al., 2013).

The vitamin D status of infants and young children was assessed in the German National Health Interview and Examination Survey for Children and Adolescents (KiGGS) (Hintzpeter et al., 2008) in around 1 240 children aged one to two years with non-immigrant and immigrant background. Vitamin D supplementation in this group ranged from 20.5 % in non-immigrant boys to 32.5 % in immigrant girls. In this population, 25(OH)D a vitamin serum concentration < 50 nmol/L was observed in 31.2 % of non-immigrant boys, in 40.5 % of immigrant boys, in 36.4 % of non-immigrant girls and in 45.5 % of immigrant girls.

In a cross-sectional study (Arnberg et al., 2011; Østergård et al., 2011) of 255 Danish nine-month-old infants, of whom 97 % were supplemented with 10 μ g of vitamin D per day, 11 % of infants had a 25(OH)D vitamin serum concentration < 50 nmol/L.

In a study on Polish infants (Pludowski et al., 2011) aged six months (n = 134) and 12 months (n = 98), of whom 88 % received vitamin D supplementation > 10 μ g per day at the age of six months and 70 % at the age of 12 months, 6 % had a 25(OH)D vitamin serum concentration < 50 nmol/L at the age of six months and 20 % at the age of 12 months.

In a study of 66 Greek breast-fed unsupplemented infants (Challa et al., 2005) followed from birth to the age of six months, mean 25(OH)D vitamin serum concentrations were consistently < 50 nmol/L at the first and the third months of life (i.e. around 17 to 28 nmol/L). At six months of age, mean 25(OH)D vitamin serum concentrations approached 50 nmol/L (i.e. 48 ± 7 nmol/L for infants born in winter and 33 ± 4 nmol/L for infants born in summer). The percentage of infants with 25(OH)D concentrations < 50 nmol/L was not reported.

In a representative sample of British children aged 1.5 to 4.5 years (Davies et al., 1999), geometric mean 25(OH)D vitamin plasma concentrations were reported to have been 51.8 nmol/L in winter (n = 206, 16 % supplement users) and 74 nmol/L in springtime (n = 186, 10 % supplement users) with no statistically significant differences between regions. Average dietary vitamin D intake (including supplements) in these children was around 1.2 μ g per day.

The Panel notes that almost all surveys report vitamin D intakes below the AI, even when supplement use is considered in the analysis. The Panel also notes that studies reporting on vitamin D status found a prevalence of vitamin D deficiency of 10 to 30 % in infants and young children, even in populations with a high percentage of supplement users, indicating that endogenous synthesis is not sufficient to compensate for low dietary intakes.

In view of the poor vitamin D status of some sub-groups of infants and young children living in Europe, the Panel considers that the total vitamin D supply originating from the diet and from endogenous synthesis is insufficient for most infants and young children living in Europe depending on the season.

5.2.13. Vitamin E

Only two of the surveys investigated dietary vitamin E intakes in infants below six months of age (Hilbig, 2005; Fantino and Gourmet, 2008). Vitamin E intakes were above the AI of 3 mg TE per day for infants for infants aged from 0 to < 6 months.

Five surveys reported on vitamin E intakes in infants in the second half of the first year of life (Hilbig, 2005; DGE, 2008; Fantino and Gourmet, 2008; Marriott et al., 2008; Thorsdottir et al., 2008). Mean and median intakes in French, Icelandic and British infants aged from 6 to < 12 months were reported to be above the AI of 5 mg TE per day for this age group, while mean/median intakes (4.5 mg TE per day) of German infants aged between 6 and < 12 months did not reach the level of the AI (Hilbig, 2005; DGE, 2008).

Two out of the 11 surveys which investigated dietary vitamin E intakes in young children, those in Dutch (Ocké et al., 2008) and Icelandic young children (Gunnarsdottir et al., 2008), reported mean and median intakes above the AI of 6 mg TE per day for young children. Mean and median intakes in British, Norwegian, Finnish, French, German and Italian children were below the AI with a range of mean intakes of 2.9 to 5.2 mg TE per day (Andersen et al., 2003; Rogers et al., 2003; Andersen et al., 2004; Hilbig, 2005; DGE, 2008; Fantino and Gourmet, 2008; Kyttälä et al., 2008; Marriott et al., 2009; Kyttälä et al., 2010; Sette et al., 2011).

Serum alpha-tocopherol concentrations are commonly used to characterise alpha-tocopherol status and can be reliably measured by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) methods. Because alpha-tocopherol plasma concentrations are closely correlated with plasma cholesterol concentrations, adjustment for plasma cholesterol is also suggested (Mayne, 2003).

Serum alpha-tocopherol concentrations were investigated in 139 healthy, mostly formula-fed, Belgian infants aged 0 to 12 months and in 193 children aged one to four years (Van Biervliet et al., 2001). A cut-off value of < 11.6 μ mol/L was defined as indicating insufficient vitamin E status in this study. The median serum alpha-tocopherol concentration was 23.2 μ mol/L (IQR18.6 to 30.2 μ mol/L) at the age of 0 to 12 months and 18.6 μ mol/L (IQR 16.2 to 23.2 μ mol/L) at the age of one to four years. The serum alpha-tocopherol concentration was below the cut-off value for sufficiency established in this study in 1.4 % of infants and 8 % of young children. A study in 32 four-week-old Norwegian infants (Henriksen et al., 2006) reported a median plasma alpha-tocopherol concentration of 22.6 μ mol/L (IQR 19.3 to 25.8 μ mol/L).

The Panel notes that, although vitamin E intakes in several European countries were reported to have been below the AI, the two studies investigating vitamin E status did not give rise to concerns.

The Panel considers that vitamin E intakes in infants and young children living in Europe generally do not rise to concern over the risk of inadequate intakes.



5.2.14. Vitamin K

Only limited information on dietary intakes of vitamin K in infants and young children living in Europe is available. In the German DONALD study, the authors (Sichert-Hellert et al., 2006) reported mean intakes of vitamin K higher than 200 % of the US FDA reference values in many age groups (data not provided).

As indicators of vitamin K status, plasma phylloquinone, the ratio of undercarboxylated osteocalcin (ucCO) to carboxylated osteocalcin (cCO) and undercarboxylated prothrombin (PIVKA-II) have been used (Thane et al., 2006; Nimptsch et al., 2009; Dituri et al., 2012; Truong et al., 2012).

No studies which assessed the vitamin K status in infants and young children living in Europe were available to the Panel.

The Panel notes that no information is available on vitamin K intakes and vitamin K status of infants and young children.

The Panel considers that vitamin K intakes in infants and young children living in Europe generally do not give rise to concern over the risk of inadequate intakes when the recommendations of the health authorities of different Member States for vitamin K supplementation at birth are followed.

5.2.15. Thiamin (vitamin B_1)

Mean and median intakes in infants and children are generally above the AI of 0.2 mg per day established for infants below six months of age and above the ARs established for infants in the second half of the first year of life and young children, except for German three-month-old infants, in whom median intakes (0.13 mg/day) were reported to be below the AI for infants aged from 0 to < 6 months (Hilbig, 2005).

Intakes below the AR were reported in fewer than 5 % of Irish, Dutch and Italian children (Ocké et al., 2008; Sette et al., 2011; IUNA, 2012). Other surveys did not report on a sufficient number of percentiles to make any judgement.

Thiamin transketolase activity coefficient (ETKA) is the most widely used test to determine thiamine status, although it correlates poorly with dietary thiamin intake. Thiamin urine excretion is also a biomarker for thiamine status, which reflects recent intakes. The thiamin pyrophosphate effect (TPPE) assay is also used to determine thiamin status and is especially useful in infants because only a small sample volume of blood is needed for this test (Körner et al., 2009).

No studies which assessed thiamin status in European infants (other than newborns) and young children were available to the Panel.

The Panel notes that the percentage of infants and children with thiamin intakes below the AR is low. No information on thiamin status of infants and young children living in Europe is available.

The Panel considers that thiamin intakes in infants and young children living in Europe generally do not give rise to concern over the risk of inadequate intakes.

5.2.16. Folate

Mean or median folate intakes below the AI of 65 μ g per day for infants aged 0 to < 6 months were reported for German infants (Hilbig, 2005), with mean intakes of 32.2 μ g per day, and in British female infants (Noble and Emmett, 2001), with mean intakes of 64 μ g per day, while mean and median folate intakes in British boys and French infants (Fantino and Gourmet, 2008) were above the AI.

In the case of older infants, only the two surveys in German infants (Hilbig, 2005; DGE, 2008) reported mean and median folate intakes below the AI of 80 μ g DFE per day for infants aged from 6 to < 12 months, with median folate intakes ranging from 47 to 78 μ g per day, while mean intakes in British, Dutch, Icelandic and French infants were above the AI.

Mean or median intakes in young children above the AR of 70 µg per day were reported in all surveys.

Only around 5 % of Dutch children aged two to three years and Irish children aged one to three years had folate intakes below the AR (Ocké et al., 2008; IUNA, 2012). However, 50 % of German children aged one to three years had folate intakes below the AR (Hilbig, 2005). Other surveys did not report on a sufficient number of percentiles to make any judgement.

Folate status is routinely assessed by measurement of folate concentrations in plasma/serum or RBC. RBC folate is considered to be the best index of longer-term status (i.e. over the previous months), while serum folate reflects more recent dietary intake. The measurement of plasma total homocysteine concentration provides a functional marker of folate status, on the basis that normal homocysteine metabolism requires an adequate supply of folate. When folate status is low or deficient, elevated plasma homocysteine is invariably observed (McNulty and Scott, 2008), but this marker is not specific for folate and may also be affected by changes in status of cobalamin and pyridoxine.

Serum folate concentrations < 10 nmol/L and RBC folate concentrations of < 305 nmol/L are commonly considered to indicate folate deficiency (WHO/FAO, 2006).

Folate status in infants and young children has been assessed in five studies from Norway. Median/geometric mean serum folate concentrations were 23.7 nmol/L (IQR 18.0 to 29.3 nmol/L) in infants aged six weeks and 47.9 nmol/L (IQR 32.5 to 62.1 nmol/L) at four months of age (Bjørke-Monsen et al., 2008), 56 nmol/L (95 % CI 52 to 60 nmol/L) in infants aged six months (Hay et al., 2010), 31.6 nmol/L (IQR 21.3 to 43.3 nmol/L) in infants from six weeks to six months of life (Bjørke-Monsen et al., 2003) and 19 nmol/L (IQR 14.1 to 23.5 nmol/L) in two-year-old children (Hay et al., 2011). In the fifth study, serum folate concentrations reported as P5–P95 were 23 to 120 nmol/L in infants at the age of six months, 16 to 72 nmol/L in infants aged 12 months and 9 to 46 nmol/L in children at the age of two years (Hay et al., 2008). In a study in Turkish infants, mean serum folate concentration was 30 nmol/L (range 17 to 45 nmol/L) in breast-fed infants and 45 nmol/L (range 20 to 45 nmol/L) in formula-fed infants at six months (Karademir et al., 2007).

The Panel notes that mean or median folate intakes below the AI for infants were reported for one country, and that in the same country around half of all young children had intakes below the AR, while for other countries the percentage of young children with intakes below the AR was low. Studies investigating folate status did not raise concerns over insufficient folate status in the populations investigated. However, these studies were mainly done in Norwegian infants and young children, for whom no folate intake data were available to the Panel.

The Panel considers that folate intakes in infants and young children living in Europe generally do not give rise to concern over the risk of inadequate intakes.

5.3. Critical nutrients in European infants' and young children's diets

Based on the information available, the Panel considers that dietary intakes of LA, calcium, phosphorus, magnesium, copper, selenium, chromium, molybdenum, manganese, fluoride, vitamin A, vitamin E, vitamin K, thiamin, riboflavin, niacin, pantothenic acid, pyridoxine, biotin, folate cobalamin, vitamin C and choline in infants and young children living in Europe do not give rise to concern over the risk of inadequate intakes.

Intakes of energy, protein, salt and potassium of infants and young children living in Europe are generally high and intakes of dietary fibre low. Intakes of protein, salt and potassium do not reach

levels which are of concern. The Panel notes that energy intakes above requirements may lead to an unfavourable gain in body mass.

For n-3 PUFAs and zinc, the Panel could not quantify the risk of inadequate intakes in infants and young children living in Europe. However, as zinc intakes were mainly above the AR and no overt deficiency in this population group in Europe was reported, the Panel considers that current zinc intakes in infants and young children living in Europe are not of particular concern.

For n-3 PUFAs, intakes of both ALA and DHA have been reported to be below the AI in some populations of infants and young children living in Europe. The Panel considers that particular attention should be paid to an appropriate n-3 PUFA supply in those infants and young children in whom intakes are low owing to the physiological role of these fatty acids.

Iron and vitamin D intakes in infants and young children living in Europe are generally low. Iron deficiency and iron deficiency anaemia were reported in 7.2 and 2.3 %, respectively, of a representative sample of 12-month-old European children. The prevalence of vitamin D deficiency reported in national or regional studies in infants and young children in European countries was in the range of 10 to 30 %, indicating that endogenous synthesis is not sufficient to compensate for low dietary intakes. The Panel considers that, in view of the poor iron and vitamin D status of some sub-groups of infants and young children living in Europe, particular attention should be paid to ensuring an appropriate supply of iron and vitamin D in these infants and young children.

In some European countries, intakes of iodine in infants and young children are low, with a prevalence of moderate iodine deficiency of around 20 %. The Panel considers that particular attention should be paid to ensuring an appropriate supply of iodine in infants and young children with inadequate iodine status.

The Panel considers that intakes of n-3 PUFAs, iron, vitamin D and iodine in some infants and young children living in Europe are critical and that some sub-groups in this population may be at risk of inadequacy.

6. Strategies to improve intakes of critical nutrients in European infants' and young children's diets

Food Based Dietary Guidelines (FBDG) constitute science-based policy recommendations in the form of guidelines for healthy eating. They provide nutrition education and dietary guidance for individual members of the general public to reach nutritional goals and to assist them in selecting a diet to meet their needs for health. This includes the choice of foods which are sources of nutrients of public health importance for which an improved intake in a given population is desirable (EFSA NDA Panel, 2010b).

Several European countries have translated nutrient intake recommendations for infants and young children into such FBDG to assist caregivers in the choice of age-appropriate foods to meet dietary needs.

Based on the information provided to EFSA from the Focal Points of 20 EU Member States (Austria, Bulgaria, Croatia, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Lithuania, the Netherlands, Romania, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Sweden, the UK) as well as from the Focal Points from Iceland, Norway and Switzerland, 17 countries have established FBDG for infants and 11 for young children (Norwegian National Council on Nutrition and Physical Activity, 2001; Hasunen et al., 2004; Ministère de la Santé et des Solidaités et al., 2005; Petrova and Rangel, 2008; Hungarian Infant and Pediatric Advisory Board and National Committee for the Support of Breastfeeding, 2009; Slovenian Ministry of Health, 2010; FSAI, 2011; Icelandic Centre for Child Health, 2011b, 2011a; Icelandic Directorate of Health, 2011; SGE, 2011; Hilbig et al., 2012; Kersting and Hilbig, 2012; ÖGKJ, 2012; Public Health Agency for Northern Ireland, 2012; SGE,

2012; Swedish National Food Authority, 2012a, 2012b; Uibo et al., 2012; Ravnbøl and Trolle, 2013; NHS, online; Voedingscentrum, year not given).

In particular, the German Institute for Research in Child Nutrition (Forschungsinstitut für Kinderernährung (FKE)) has developed a modular dietary schedule for the first year of life (Kersting, 2001) and an optimised mixed diet for children aged 1 to 18 years (Kersting et al., 2005; Alexy et al., 2008) specifically designed to provide an adequate energy and nutrient supply for these age groups, with the exception of vitamin D.

The modular dietary schedule for the first year of life (Kersting, 2001) recommends that complementary foods be introduced into the diet of infants between four and six months, with one (breast) milk meal being gradually replaced by complementary food every month. A vegetable–potato–meat purée (90–100 g vegetables, 40–60 g potatoes, 20–30 g meat and 8–10 g vegetable oil) is recommended as one of the first complementary foods in order to ensure a sufficient iron supply. This is followed by a full-fat milk–cereal purée (200 g full-fat milk, 20 g cereals and 20 g fruit juice/purée) and finally by a cereal–fruit purée (20 g cereals, 90 g water, 100 g fruits and 5 g butter). This specific modular dietary schedule is designed to meet dietary needs of infants who are continuing to be breast-or formula-fed, except for vitamin D, for which supplementation is recommended. Iodine is supplied by this diet at a level of 80 µg per day, which is slightly below the AI of 90 µg per day for infants.

The basis of the optimised mixed diet (Kersting et al., 2005; Alexy et al., 2008) are exemplary sevenday menus for four- to six-year-old children which can be extrapolated, based on energy requirements, to other age groups. This diet provides 100 % of nutrient requirements when fortified salt is used and 90 % of the energy requirements and includes, for example, the consumption of 600 mL water, 120 g vegetables, 120 g fruits, 120 g potatoes, pasta or rice, 80 g bread and cereals, 300 g milk or milk products, 30 g meat or cold cuts and 15 g oil, margarine or butter per day and 25 g fish and one to two eggs per week at one year of age; and 700 mL water, 150 g vegetables, 150 g fruits, 140 g potatoes, pasta or rice, 120 g bread and cereals, 330 g milk or milk products, 35 g meat or cold cuts and 20 g oil, margarine or butter per day and 35 g fish and one to two eggs per week at two to three years of age. About 10 % of energy intake is left to be provided by sweets and snacks.

The Panel notes that these diets are based on dietary patterns commonly found in Germany and that dietary habits in other EU Member States are likely to differ. However, the Panel considers that these diets can be taken as one example of dietary patterns which can ensure a sufficient energy and nutrient supply in infants and young children (except for vitamin D).

Despite the fact that an adequate amount of energy and nutrients can be supplied by a balanced and varied diet, intakes of n-3 PUFAs, iron, vitamin D and iodine in some infants and young children living in Europe are critical, and some sub-groups in this population may be at risk of inadequacy, as summarised in section 5. Several dietary strategies have been proposed on a national level to improve the status of these nutrients.

6.1. n-3 PUFAs

Most FBDG recommend the consumption of a variety of fish as a source of DHA in the diet, one to three times per week, and starting with the introduction of complementary feeding; larger, predatory fish species should be avoided in order to limit consumption of contaminants. In Norway, supplementation of DHA is recommended for infants fed formula not containing this fatty acid. And in some countries, rapeseed oil is recommended as a source of ALA.

In an intervention study (Schwartz et al., 2009) nested in the study by Dube et al. (2010b), 132 German infants aged between four and six months were assigned to receive either complementary foods prepared with corn oil and containing LA at a level of 55 % of total fatty acids and ALA at a level of 1 % of total fatty acids with an LA/ALA ratio of 55 (control, n = 66) or complementary foods prepared with rapeseed oil and containing LA at a level of 20 % of total fatty acids and ALA at a level of 9 % of total fatty acids with an LA/ALA ratio of 2.2 (intervention, n = 66). One hundred and two

infants were included in the analysis at 10 months of age. The intervention did not increase plasma concentrations of ALA, but plasma concentrations of its long-chain metabolites, EPA and DHA, were significantly higher in the intervention group than in the control group.

Brenna et al. (2009) reviewed human studies investigating the effects of ALA supplementation on plasma fatty acid composition. In the studies reviewed, addition of ALA to the diets of formula-fed infants raised RBC DHA concentrations, but no level of ALA tested raised DHA to levels achievable with preformed DHA at intakes similar to typical human milk DHA supply. In adults consuming Western diets, which are rich in LA, supplemental ALA raised EPA and DPA in plasma or RBC, but not DHA, to a significant extent.

The effect of daily consumption of formulae providing DHA at levels of 0 mg (n = 28), 43 mg (n = 29) and 130 mg (n = 29) per day for 60 days on RBC DHA was investigated in US children aged 18 to 36 months (Minns et al., 2010). After adjustment for baseline values, a significant linear dose–response relationship was observed between DHA intakes and DHA concentrations in RBCs and plasma (p < 0.001). When adding a quadratic term to the model, the dose–response relationship remained significant.

The Panel considers that an increase in ALA intakes in infants leads to an increase in RBC or plasma DHA. No studies are available on the effect of ALA intakes on DHA status in young children. The Panel also considers that an increase in DHA intakes leads to an increase in plasma or RBC DHA concentrations.

6.2. Iron

All FBDG encourage the introduction into the diet of the weaning infant, as early as possible, of foods that are by nature a good source of iron. These include meat, fish, pulses, tofu and iron-fortified infant cereals. A few countries recommend the occasional consumption of small amounts of liver from young animals, while other countries discourage such consumption. The consumption of vegetable foods rich in iron together with vitamin C from fruits is also encouraged in some of the FBDG.

Specific recommendations for iron supplementation are given in the FBDG of seven (Bulgaria, Denmark, France, Iceland, Norway, Romania, Sweden) of the 25 European countries from which information was available to EFSA, mainly through the use of iron-fortified cereals, fortified milk products including formulae, or through the use of iron supplements in the form of drops or tablets (one country (Denmark)).

The impact of the Danish recommendations that infants are given iron supplements (8 mg per day) if they do not receive at least 400 mL of infant or follow-on formula on iron status in nine-month-old infants was investigated by Gondolf et al. (2013) in a retrospective cohort study. Of the 260 infants included in the analysis, 127 infants received iron drops, 64 formulae and in 69 supplementation recommendations were not met. There was a statistically significant difference between the supplemented and unsupplemented groups with respect to log SF concentrations adjusted for sex, cow's milk intake, birth weight and growth (31.9 vs. $30.2 \mu g/L$), with SF concentration being below the cut-off value of $< 12 \mu g/L$ in 5.9% and 13.4% of children in the supplemented and unsupplemented group, respectively. There was no statistically significant difference in Hb concentrations. These were below the cut-off of $\leq 100 g/L$ in 0.5% and 2.9% of children in the supplemented and unsupplemented group, respectively. There were no statistically significant differences between the two methods of supplementation (i.e. iron supplements and iron-fortified formula) with respect to the proportions of children below the cut-off values for SF and Hb.

The Panel notes that this study shows an association between iron supplementation in the form of iron drops or iron-fortified formula and a lower prevalence of iron depletion, with a statistically significant but moderate increase in SF concentrations in the supplemented infants, with no differences between the two methods of supplementation. No statistically significant effect on Hb concentrations was observed.



The effect of iron-fortified formulae was studied in six randomised controlled trials (RCTs) and one cohort study.

The six intervention studies (reported in seven publications) (Fuchs et al., 1993; Stevens and Nelson, 1995; Daly et al., 1996; Gill et al., 1997; Morley et al., 1999; Williams et al., 1999; Maldonado Lozano et al., 2007) investigated the effect of iron supplementation in the form of formulae containing 1.2-1.3 mg iron per 100 mL compared with non-fortified formula or cow's milk. In the majority of studies, infants were enrolled between the age of six and nine months, except in the study by Maldonado Lozano et al. (2007), in which children were enrolled at an age of 12 to 30 months. Interventions lasted for 4 to 12 months. In all except one study (Stevens and Nelson, 1995), SF concentrations were reported to have been statistically significantly higher and the proportion of children below a SF cut-off value statistically significantly lower in the groups consuming ironfortified formulae than in the groups consuming cow's milk or unfortified formula. Hb concentrations were reported to have been statistically significantly different between groups in two studies (Daly et al., 1996; Morley et al., 1999; Williams et al., 1999), while in two other studies this was not the case (Stevens and Nelson, 1995; Maldonado Lozano et al., 2007). The remaining studies either did not report on this outcome (Maldonado Lozano et al., 2007) or baseline Hb concentrations differed between groups (Stevens and Nelson, 1995) so that no conclusions could be drawn with respect to this outcome from this study.

The Panel notes that these studies show an effect on iron status of iron supplementation in the form of iron fortified formulae compared with non-fortified formulae or cow's milk.

The effect of predominant consumption of iron-fortified formulae compared with breast milk and cow's milk at nine months of age was investigated in two cohorts of Icelandic children (Thorisdottir et al., 2012). Weighed dietary records were obtained from 255 children at nine months of age and markers of iron status were analysed at 12 months of age. Around 34 % of the children investigated received breast milk, around 34 % cow's milk and around 30 % iron-fortified follow-on formula. Iron depletion was defined as SF < 12 μ g/L, iron deficiency as iron depletion plus MCV < 74 fL and iron deficiency anaemia as iron depletion plus Hb < 105 g/L. At 12 months of age, iron depletion was found in 42, 14.9 and 4.3 % of children in the cow's milk, breast milk and formula group, respectively. The prevalence of iron deficiency was 20.5, 2.6 and 1.4 % in these groups, while iron deficiency anaemia was observed only in the group consuming cow's milk and was reported in 3.6 % of children in this group.

The Panel notes that this study shows an association between iron supplementation in the form of ironfortified formula and iron status.

The effect of using fortified cow's milk as a vehicle for iron supplementation compared with unfortified cow's milk or red meat was studied in two RCTs (Virtanen et al., 2001; Szymlek-Gay et al., 2009) in children aged around 12 months with adequate iron status. Fortified milks (1.5 mg/100 mL) were consumed for five to six months. Although SF concentrations were significantly higher in the groups consuming fortified cow's milk or red meat than in the group consuming unfortified cow's milk in one study (Szymlek-Gay et al., 2009), the consumption of unfortified cow's milk did not lead a higher risk of developing sub-optimal iron status compared with consumption of iron-fortified cow's milk.

The Panel notes that, in these studies in populations of children with adequate iron status, consumption of unfortified cow's milk for five to six months did not lead to a higher risk of developing sub-optimal iron status compared with consumption of iron-fortified cow's milk or red meat and iron status remained adequate in all groups. Consumption of both meat and iron-fortified cow's milk led to an increase in SF concentrations in one study, but this finding was of no clinical relevance in this population of children with adequate iron status.

The effect on iron status of consumption of meat and/or iron-fortified cereals as one of the first complementary foods was studied in four RCTs (Engelmann et al., 1998; Krebs et al., 2006; Dube et al., 2010b; Krebs et al., 2013). In all of these studies there was no difference in the occurrence of iron depletion between groups consuming iron-fortified cereal or meat as first complementary food for three to six months or between groups consuming different amounts of meat in the diet. In addition, SF and Hb concentrations were not statistically significantly different between groups.

The Panel notes that these studies show that the early introduction of meat and the early introduction of iron-fortified cereal into complementary feeding have similar effects on iron status.

The Panel notes that in the majority of studies an increase in iron intake, either through the use of iron supplements, iron-fortified cow's milk, iron-fortified formulae or iron-fortified infant cereals or through the early introduction of meat into complementary feeding and its regular consumption, increased or maintained SF concentrations with little or no effect on Hb concentrations and with no apparent differences between different types of foods. This effect was associated with a lower prevalence of iron depletion in some studies, depending on the baseline iron status of the population under study. In studies in children with adequate iron status, iron status at the end of the study was determined more by baseline iron status than by the consumption of additional iron through fortified foods.

The Panel considers that increased iron intake, achieved either through consumption of iron supplements, iron-fortified cow's milk, iron-fortified formula or iron-fortified infant cereals or by choosing foods that are by nature a good source of iron, such as meat, helps to increase iron status in infants and children with inadequate or at risk of inadequate iron status, such as infants and young children from low socio-economic backgrounds or living in areas with a high prevalence of iron deficiency anaemia. The selection of the appropriate form and vehicle through which iron is provided in the diet will depend on national dietary habits, health authorities, the regulatory context and caregivers' preference.

6.3. Vitamin D

In 18 of the 23 countries from which information was available to EFSA, vitamin D supplementation, mainly in the form of drops or tablets, but also cod liver oil in Nordic countries, is recommended on a national level. The duration of supplementation, however, varies and ranges from the first year of life to 18 years.

The consumption of fatty fish, egg yolk or fortified dairy products as a source of vitamin D is also recommended.

The effect of vitamin D supplementation in the form of supplements was investigated in one cross-sectional study.

In a study in 255 Danish infants aged nine months (Arnberg et al., 2011; Østergård et al., 2011), of whom 97 % received vitamin D supplementation at a dose of 10 μ g of vitamin D per day was associated with 25(OH)D serum concentrations of 12 to 151 nmol/L, with the concentrations in 11 % of infants being below the cut-off of < 50 nmol/L.

The effect of vitamin D supplementation in the form of fortified formula was studied in one RCT.

In this study, 80 German children aged from two to around seven years (Hower et al., 2013) were randomised to consume either vitamin D-fortified formula (n = 46) or semi skimmed cow's milk (n = 34) for nine months. The fortified formula provided 2.85 μ g/100 g vitamin D. The median daily intake of the formula was 234 mL, providing 7.1 μ g of vitamin D. Serum concentrations of 25(OH)D were assessed before winter, after winter and during summer. Fifty-three children completed the study, 35 in the formula group and 18 in the cow's milk group. After the winter period, 25(OH)D serum concentrations were statistically significantly lower in the cow's milk group than in the group

consuming fortified formula. This difference disappeared during the summer months. At baseline (before winter) 46 % of children in the formula group and 55.8 % of children in the cow's milk group had 25(OH)D serum concentrations < 50 nmol/L. After winter this percentage was 25.6 % in the formula group and 79 % in the cow's milk group and this difference was statistically significant. During summer the percentage of children with 25(OH)D serum concentrations < 50 nmol/L was 8.6 % and 11.1 % in the formula and cow's milk group respectively.

The Panel notes the high drop-out rate in this study, in particular in the cow's milk group. The Panel also notes that this study shows that consumption of vitamin D-fortified formula for nine months led to a lower prevalence of vitamin D deficiency after the winter months than consumption of cow's milk. Most likely, endogenous vitamin D synthesis during the summer months compensated for the lower vitamin D intakes in the cow's milk group, so that differences in prevalence of vitamin D deficiency were not maintained during the summer months.

The effect of vitamin D supplementation in the form of fortified cow's milk was studied in two RCTs.

A secondary analysis (Houghton et al., 2011) of the data generated in the RCT in 225 children from New Zealand aged 12 to 20 months by Szymlek-Gay et al. (2009) investigated the impact on 25(OH)D serum concentrations of *ad libitum* consumption for 20 weeks of red meat provided as frozen meals (control, n = 90), of vitamin D-fortified cow's milk providing 0.8 µg/100 g vitamin D (n = 90) or of vitamin D-fortified cow's milk providing 1 µg/100 g vitamin D (n = 45). The two fortified milks contributed on average 3.6 to 3.9 µg per day to daily vitamin D intakes. At the end of the study 25(OH)D serum concentrations were statistically significantly higher in the groups consuming fortified cow's milk than in the red meat group. There was also a statistically significant difference between groups in the prevalence of 25(OH)D serum concentrations < 50 nmol/L at week 20 (i.e. 43, 15 and 12 %, in the meat group, the group consuming cow's milk providing 0.8 µg/100 g vitamin D and the group consuming cow's milk providing 1 µg/100 g vitamin D, respectively).

The Panel notes that this study shows that consumption of vitamin D-fortified cow's milk for 20 weeks led to a lower prevalence of vitamin D deficiency.

One cluster randomised trial was performed in older children (4 to 17 years) and adults (Madsen et al., 2013) and investigated the effect on 25(OH)D serum concentrations of consumption of vitamin D-fortified cow's milk plus vitamin D-fortified bread, compared with consumption of unfortified cow's milk and unfortified bread, for six months during the winter. Vitamin D intakes from fortified milk, fortified bread and the usual diet were, on average, 2.3, 5.6 and 2.3 μ g per day, respectively, in the study population of children. At the end of the study, 16 % of subjects (children and adults combined) in the fortification group, compared with 65 % of subjects in the control group, had 25(OH)D concentrations < 50 nmol/L, a difference which was statistically significantly different.

The Panel notes that, although this study was not conducted in the target population of infants and young children, it provides supportive evidence that consumption of vitamin D-fortified cow's milk and/or vitamin D-fortified bread leads to a lower prevalence of vitamin D deficiency in infants and young children.

The Panel notes that these studies consistently show that an increase in vitamin D intake, through the use of either vitamin D supplements, vitamin D-fortified cow's milk, vitamin D-fortified formula or vitamin D-fortified cereal-based foods, is associated with a lower prevalence of vitamin D deficiency with no apparent differences between different types of foods. The Panel also notes that recommendations for vitamin D supplementation of infants in the form of drops or tablets are already part of feeding recommendations in the majority of European countries.

The Panel considers that an increase in vitamin D intake, achieved through the consumption of either vitamin D supplements, vitamin D-fortified cow's milk, vitamin D-fortified formula or vitamin D-fortified cereal-based foods, helps to increase vitamin D status in infants and children, in particular

during winter months when endogenous synthesis is low. It is, however, recommended that guidelines for vitamin D supplementation of infants and children established at national level be followed. Vitamin D-fortified cow's milk, formula or other foods may provide additional vitamin D in populations not receiving any vitamin D supplements and/or with low sun exposure. The selection of the appropriate form and vehicle through which iron is provided in the diet will depend on national dietary habits, health authorities, the regulatory context and caregivers' preference.

6.4. Iodine

Most FBDG do not specifically address iodine supply, but sea fish is usually indicated as a good source of iodine as well as of vitamin D, DHA and selenium. The German FBDG encourages the use of iodine enriched cereals.

In nine European countries (Austria, Bulgaria, Croatia, Denmark, Lithuania, Poland, Romania, Slovakia and Slovenia) iodine fortification of salt is mandatory, with mandatory fortification mainly being restricted to table and cooking salt. Other European countries have introduced salt fortification on a voluntary basis. Iodised salt is usually considered the main intervention strategy for iodine deficiency control and prevention (WHO/UNICEF, 2007). However, the use of table salt is discouraged in infants and children up to two years of age, but will be an important source of iodine for children above two years of age in those countries where iodised salt is on the market.

In contrast to the minor direct role of iodised salt in the diet of infants and young children, salt iodisation significantly influences iodine content of breast milk and, consequently, iodine status of infants and young children (WHO Secretariat et al., 2007).

In the EU, feed for cattle and chicken may be fortified with iodine, which leads to an increase in the iodine content of milk and eggs. In Norway, cow's milk has become a more important source of iodine for the population than iodised table salt (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013) or sea fish for inland populations (Dahl et al., 2003).

In two Spanish cross-sectional studies reported in Soriguer et al. (2011), urinary iodine concentrations in 757 children aged 4 to 16 years and 1 205 children aged 10.8 ± 3 years were significantly associated with the frequency of cow's milk consumption.

The Panel considers that an increase in iodine intake, achieved either through the consumption of iodine supplements, iodine-fortified cow's milk, iodine-fortified formulae or iodine-fortified infant cereals or through the choice of foods that are a natural source of iodine, such as sea fish, or by the use of iodised salt, helps to increase iodine status in infants and children with inadequate or at risk of inadequate iodine status, such as infants and children living in European countries with documented low iodine intakes. The selection of the appropriate form and vehicle through which iodine is provided in the diet will depend on national dietary habits, health authorities, the regulatory context and caregivers' preference.

6.5. The role of milk in the diet of infants and young children

There is consensus that breast milk alone is able to meet the energy and nutrient requirements of most healthy, term infants for the first four to six months and that breast milk is the most appropriate liquid part of a progressively diversified diet when complementary feeding is introduced (EFSA NDA Panel, 2009). When breast-feeding is not possible or no longer possible, formula can be given in addition to complementary food during the first year of life.

The FBDG of most European countries discourage the introduction of cow's milk, especially as a main milk drink, into the diet of infants in the first year of life. Some countries' guidelines (Denmark, Estonia, Germany, the UK) state that small quantities of cow's milk can be safely used in the preparation of foods from six to seven months of age onwards. After the first year of life, FBDG



generally advise the use of cow's milk in moderate quantities (around 300 to 500 mL per day) as an important source of nutrients for young children.

In the first year of life, formulae (infant and follow-on formulae) provide caregivers with a safe alternative to breast milk when breast milk is not available to the infant, and in replacement of cow's milk, the consumption of which in large amounts in the first year of life is generally discouraged in infant feeding recommendations and FBDG of European countries.

When formulae are consumed after the first year of life, they continue to replace cow's milk in whole or in part in the diet of young children which contains little or no ALA, DHA and iron and small amounts of vitamin D (see also Appendix A). However, at this age cow's milk consumption is no longer discouraged and no recommendations for replacement of this food category by other alternatives exist from medical societies at European level.

6.5.1. The role of young-child formulae in providing critical nutrients to European young children compared with other milk products

As described in sections 6.1 to 6.5, formulae, including young-child formulae, are one of the means to increase n-3 PUFA, iron and vitamin D intakes in infants and young children living in Europe with inadequate or at risk of inadequate status of these nutrients. However, other means, such as fortified cow's milk, fortified cereals and cereal-based foods, supplements or the early introduction of meat and fish into complementary feeding and their continued regular consumption, are other efficient alternatives to increase intakes of these nutrients.

There is as yet no European legislation covering the composition and main characteristics of youngchild formulae. In Appendix A, the nutrient composition and energy content of young-child formulae currently on the EU market are compared with the essential composition of cow's milk-based infant and follow-on formulae as laid down in Directive 2006/141/EC and with full-fat cow's milk.

The median (P5–P95) ALA content of young-child formulae is reported to be 103.0 (57.6 to 169.1) mg/100 kcal, compared with the minimum content of ALA in infant and follow-on formulae according to Directive 2006/141/EC of > 50 mg/100 kcal. In comparison, full-fat cow's milk provides no ALA. No explicit maximum amounts for ALA are given in the Directive, but they can be calculated to be 240 mg/100 kcal from the lowest permitted LA/ALA ratio in infant and follow-on formula of 5 and from the maximum permitted LA concentrations of 1 200 mg/100 kcal. This is higher than the reported concentrations in currently available young-child formulae. Around 4 % of young-child formulae provide less ALA than the minimum amount specified for infant and follow-on formulae.

No information on the content of DHA in infant and follow-on formulae or on the percentage of infant and follow-on formulae to which DHA is added is available to the Panel. In young-child formulae DHA is added to only around 13 % of products which are currently on the market. When DHA is added, median (P5–P95) concentrations are 6.4 (2.2 to 22.3) mg/100 kcal. In comparison, full-fat cow's milk provides no DHA.

The median (P5–P95) iron content of young-child formulae is reported to be 1.8 (1.3 to 2.4) mg/100 kcal. The permitted range of iron content of infant and follow-on formulae is 0.3 to 1.3 mg/100 kcal and 0.6 to 2.0 mg/100 kcal, respectively. In comparison, full-fat cow's milk provides < 0.1 mg iron per 100 kcal. Although the iron content of young-child formulae is higher than that of infant formulae, the median iron content of young-child formulae is within the permitted range of iron in follow-on formulae. Around 10 % of currently marketed young-child formulae provide > 2 mg iron per 100 kcal, and none provides less than the minimum amount in infant and follow-on formulae.

The median (P5–P95) vitamin D content of young-child formulae is reported to be 2.1 (1.4 to 3.3) μ g/100 kcal and is within the permitted range of vitamin D content of infant and follow-on formulae, which is 1.0 to 2.5 μ g/100 kcal and 1.0 to 3.0 μ g/100 kcal, respectively. In comparison, full-

fat cow's milk provides around 0.1 μ g vitamin D per 100 kcal. Around 10 % of young-child formulae provide > 3 μ g vitamin D per 100 kcal and 1.3 % provide less than 1 μ g/100 kcal.

The iodine content of young-child formulae which are currently on the EU market is similar to the iodine content of cow's milk and similar to the content currently required and permitted in infant and follow-on formulae, which is 10 to 50 μ g/100 kcal. The median (P5–P95) iodine concentration in young-child formulae has been reported to be 20.2 (12.2–34.8) μ g/100 kcal. The mean concentrations in full-fat cow's milk has been reported to be 23 μ g/100 kcal.

The Panel considers that, in comparison with cow's milk, currently marketed young-child formulae contain more ALA, DHA (if added), iron and vitamin D but similar amounts of iodine. The median content of these nutrients in young-child formulae is within the range of permitted concentrations in follow-on formulae and, except for iron, also in infant formulae. Therefore, no unique role of young-child formulae with respect to the provision of critical nutrients in the diet of infants and young children living in Europe can be identified, so they cannot be considered as necessary to satisfy the nutritional requirements of young children when compared with other foods that may be included in the normal diet of young children (such as breast milk, infant formulae, follow-on formulae and cow's milk).



CONCLUSIONS

The Panel concludes that:

• The following levels of nutrient and energy intakes are considered adequate for the majority of infants and young children:

| Nutrient | Unit | 0 to <6 months Months Boys Girls | | | 6 to <12 months | | | 12 to <36 months | | | |
|------------------|------------------|-------------------------------------|------------|---------|-----------------|-----|-----|------------------|-------------------|-----|--|
| | | | | | Months | | | | Months Boys Girls | | |
| Energy | MJ/d | 0-<1 | 1.5 | 1.4 | 6-<7 | 2.5 | 2.3 | 12 | 3.3 | 3.0 | |
| | | 1-<2 | 2.1 | 1.9 | 7-<8 | 2.7 | 2.4 | 24 | 4.3 | 4.0 | |
| | | 2-<3 | 2.2 | 2.0 | 8-<9 | 2.8 | 2.5 | 36 | 4.9 | 4.6 | |
| | | 3-<4 | 2.1 | 1.9 | 9-<10 | 2.9 | 2.6 | | | | |
| | | 4-<5 | 2.3 | 2.1 | 10-<11 | 3.0 | 2.7 | | | | |
| | | 5-<6 | 2.4 | 2.3 | 11-<12 | 3.1 | 2.8 | | | | |
| Protein | g/d | 0-<1 | | | 6-<7 | 9 | 8 | 12 | 11 | 10 | |
| | | 1-<2 | 8 | 7 | 7-<8 | 11 | 10 | 18 | 11 | 11 | |
| | | 2-<3 | 8 | 8 | 8-<9 | 11 | 10 | 24 | 12 | 11 | |
| | | 3-<4 | 9 | 8 | 9-<10 | 11 | 10 | 36 | 13 | 13 | |
| | | 4-<5 | 9 | 8 | 10-<11 | 11 | 10 | | | | |
| | | 5-<6 | 9 | 8 | 11-<12 | 11 | 10 | | | | |
| Fats | E% | | 50-55 | | | 40 | | | 35-40 | | |
| LA | E% | | 4 | | | 4 | | | 4 | | |
| ALA | E% | | 0.5 | | 0.5 | | | 0.5 | | | |
| DHA | mg/d | | 100 | | | 100 | | 100 (<24 months) | | | |
| DHA+EPA | mg/d | | | | | | | 250 (>24 months) | | | |
| ARA | mg/d | | 140 | | | | | | | | |
| Carbohydrates | E% | | 40-45 | | 45-55 | | | 45-60 | | | |
| Fibre | g/d | | | | | | | 10 | | | |
| Water | mL/d | 700-1000 | | | 800-1000 | | | 1100-1300 | | | |
| Calcium | mg/d | 200 | | | 400 | | | 600 | | | |
| Phosphorus | mg/d mg/d | 100 | | | 300 | | | 460 | | | |
| Magnesium | mg/d mg/d | | 25 | | 80 | | | 85 | | | |
| Sodium | mg/d mg/d | <u> </u> | | | 170-370 | | | 170-370 | | | |
| Chloride | mg/d mg/d | | 300 | | 270-570 | | | 270-570 | | | |
| Potassium | mg/d mg/d | | 400 | | 800 | | | 4 | 800 | | |
| Iron | mg/d mg/d | 0.3 (bre | ast-fed in | (fants) | 8 | | | | 8 | | |
| Zinc | mg/d mg/d | | st-fed inf | , | 4 | | | | 4 | | |
| Copper | mg/d mg/d | 2 (0104 | 0.3 | antsj | 0.3 | | | 0.4 | | | |
| Selenium | μg/d | | 12.5 | | 15 | | | 20 | | | |
| Iodine | μg/d μg/d | | 90 | | 90 | | | 90 | | | |
| Chromium | μg/u | | | | 90 | | | | | | |
| Molybdenum | µg/d | | 2 | | 10 | | | 15 | | | |
| Manganese | mg/d | 0.003 | | | 0.02-0.5 | | | 0.5 | | | |
| Fluoride | mg/d mg/d | 0.003 | | | 0.4 | | | 0.6 | | | |
| Vitamin A | μg RE/d | | 350 | | 350 | | | 400 | | | |
| Vitamin D | μg/d | | 10 | | 10 | | | 10 | | | |
| Vitamin E | mg TE/d | | 3 | | 5 | | | 6 | | | |
| Vitamin K | µg/d | 5 | | | 8.5 | | | 12 | | | |
| Thiamin | mg/d | 0.2 | | | 0.3 | | | 0.5 | | | |
| Riboflavin | mg/d mg/d | 0.2 | | | 0.3 | | 0.8 | | | | |
| Niacin | mg/d mg NE/d | 2 | | | 5 | | 9 | | | | |
| Pantothenic acid | mg/d | 2 | | | 3 | | | 4 | | | |
| Pyridoxine | mg/d mg/d | 0.1 | | | 0.4 | | | 0.7 | | | |
| Biotin | μg/d | 4 | | | 6 | | | 20 | | | |
| Folate | μg/u μg DFE/d | 65 | | | <u> </u> | | | 100 | | | |
| Cobalamin | μg/d | 0.4 | | | | 0.5 | | | 0.9 | | |
| Vitamin C | mg/d | | 20 | | | 20 | | | 20 | | |
| , namm C | mg/d mg/d | 130 | | | | 20 | | | 20 | | |



- Dietary intakes of LA, calcium, phosphorus, magnesium, copper, selenium, chromium, molybdenum, manganese, fluoride, vitamin A, vitamin E, vitamin K, thiamin, riboflavin, niacin, pantothenic acid, pyridoxine, biotin, folate, cobalamin, vitamin C and choline in infants and young children living in Europe do not give rise to concern over the risk of inadequate intakes.
- Dietary intakes of energy, protein, salt and potassium of infants and young children living in Europe are generally high while intakes of dietary fibre in young children are low. Intakes of protein, salt, potassium and dietary fibre are not at levels which are of concern, whereas energy intakes above requirements may play a role in an unfavourable gain in body mass.
- For n-3 PUFAs and zinc, the risk of inadequate intakes in infants and young children living in Europe cannot be quantified. However, as zinc intakes were mainly above the AR and no overt deficiency in this population group in Europe was reported, it is considered that current zinc intakes in infants and young children living in Europe are not of particular concern.
- For ALA, DHA, iron, vitamin D and iodine (in some European countries), dietary intakes in infants and young children living in Europe were low and particular attention should be paid to ensuring an appropriate supply of ALA, DHA, iron, vitamin D and iodine in infants and young children with inadequate or at risk of inadequate status of these nutrients, in particular in view of the poor iron, vitamin D and iodine status of some sub-groups of infants and young children living in Europe.
- Several European countries have translated nutrient intake recommendations for infants and young children into FBDG to help caregivers in the choice of age-appropriate foods to meet dietary needs. It has been shown in one European country that a specific modular dietary schedule for the first year of life and an optimised mixed diet for children aged 1 to 18 years are able to provide an adequate energy and nutrient supply for these age groups, with the exception of vitamin D.
- Although dietary habits markedly differ within Member States, these diets can be taken as one example of dietary patterns which can ensure a sufficient energy and nutrient supply in infants and young children.
- Fortified formulae, including young-child formulae, are one of several means to increase n-3 PUFA, iron, vitamin D and iodine intakes in infants and young children living in Europe with inadequate or at risk of inadequate status of these nutrients. However, other means, such as fortified cow's milk, fortified cereals and cereal-based foods, supplements or the early introduction of meat and fish into complementary feeding and their continued regular consumption, are efficient alternatives to increase intakes of these nutrients. The selection of the appropriate form and vehicle through which these nutrients are provided in the diet will depend on national dietary habits, health authorities, the regulatory context and caregivers' preference. However, it is recommended that guidelines for vitamin D supplementation of infants and children established at national level be followed.
- In comparison with cow's milk, currently marketed young-child formulae contain more ALA, DHA (if added), iron and vitamin D but similar amounts of iodine.
- The mean content of these nutrients in young-child formulae is within the range of permitted concentrations in follow-on formulae and, except for iron, also in infant formulae.
- No unique role of young-child formula with respect to the provision of critical nutrients in the diet of infants and young children living in Europe can be identified, so that they cannot be considered as a necessity to satisfy the nutritional requirements of young children when compared to other foods that may be included in the normal diet of young children (such as breast milk, infant formulae, follow-on formulae and cow's milk).



DOCUMENTATION PROVIDED TO EFSA

- 1. Compositional information on young-child formula currently available on the market in the European Union provided by AINIA following a procurement procedure and by SNE via the European Commission.
- 2. Draft evidence report related to an extensive literature search and review as preparatory work for the evaluation of the essential composition of infant and follow-on formulae and growing-up milks provided by Pallas Health Research and Consultancy following a procurement procedure.

REFERENCES

- AAP Committee on Nutrition (American Academy of Paediatrics Committee on Nutrition), 2009. Pediatric nutrition handbook. American Academy of Paediatrics, Elk Grove Village, IL, USA.
- Abrams SA, 2010. Setting Dietary Reference Intakes with the use of bioavailability data: calcium. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 91, 1474S-1477S.
- Abumrad NN, Schneider AJ, Steel D and Rogers LS, 1981. Amino acid intolerance during prolonged total parenteral nutrition reversed by molybdate therapy. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 34, 2551-2559.
- Afssa (Agence française de sécurité sanitaire des aliments), 2001. Apports nutritionnels conseillés pour la population française. Editions Tec&Doc, Paris, France.
- Aggett P, Bresson JL, Hernell O, Koletzko B, Lafeber H, Michaelson KF, Micheli JL, Ormisson A, de Sousa JS and Weaver L, 1998. Comment on the vitamin E content in infant formulas, follow-on formulas, and formulas for low birth weight infants. ESPGHAN Committee on Nutrition. European Society of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, 26, 351-352.
- Aggett PJ, Agostoni C, Axelsson I, Bresson JL, Goulet O, Hernell O, Koletzko B, Lafeber HL, Michaelsen KF, Micheli JL, Rigo J, Szajewska H and Weaver LT, 2002. Iron metabolism and requirements in early childhood: do we know enough?: a commentary by the ESPGHAN Committee on Nutrition. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, 34, 337-345.
- Aggett PJ, Agostoni C, Axelsson I, Edwards CA, Goulet O, Hernell O, Koletzko B, Lafeber HN, Micheli JL, Michaelsen KF, Rigo J, Szajewska H, Weaver LT and Nutrition ECo, 2003. Nondigestible carbohydrates in the diets of infants and young children: a commentary by the ESPGHAN Committee on Nutrition. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, 36, 329-337.
- Agostoni C, Scaglioni S, Ghisleni D, Verduci E, Giovannini M and Riva E, 2005. How much protein is safe? International Journal of Obesity, 29 Suppl 2, S8-13.
- Agostoni C, Braegger C, Decsi T, Kolacek S, Koletzko B, Michaelsen KF, Mihatsch W, Moreno LA, Puntis J, Shamir R, Szajewska H, Turck D and van Goudoever J, 2009. Breast-feeding: A commentary by the ESPGHAN Committee on Nutrition. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, 49, 112-125.
- AINIA (Asociación de Investigación de la Industria Agroalimentaria), 2013. Draft report of "data collection with respect to the availability and nutritional composition of different types of milk-based drinks and similar products for young children with the denomination of "growing up milks" or "toddlers' milks" or with similar terminology currently on the market in EU Member States". EFSA contract number: NP/EFSA/NUTRI/2013/01 CT 01.
- Alexy U, Kersting M, Sichert-Hellert W, Manz F and Schoch G, 1999. Macronutrient intake of 3- to 36-month-old German infants and children: results of the DONALD Study. Dortmund Nutritional and Anthropometric Longitudinally Designed Study. Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism, 43, 14-22.

- Alexy U and Kersting M, 1999. Was Kinder essen und was sie essen sollten [What do children eat and what should they eat]. Hans Marseille Verlag, München, Germany.
- Alexy U, Clausen K and Kersting M, 2008. Die Ernährung gesunder Kinder und Jugendlicher nach dem Konzept der Optimierten Mischkost [The nutrition of healthy children and adolescents according to the concept of the Optimized Mixed Diet]. Ernährungs-Umschau, 3, 168-177.
- Allen LH, 2012. B vitamins in breast milk: Relative importance of maternal status and intake, and effects on infant status and function. Advances in Nutrition, 3, 362-369.
- Andersen LF, Lande B, Arsky GH and Trygg K, 2003. Validation of a semi-quantitative food-frequency questionnaire used among 12-month-old Norwegian infants. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 57, 881-888.
- Andersen LF, Lande B, Trygg K and Hay G, 2004. Validation of a semi-quantitative food-frequency questionnaire used among 2-year-old Norwegian children. Public Health Nutrition, 7, 757-764.
- Anderson JJB, 2005. Phosphorus. In: Encyclopedia of human nutrition. Eds Caballero B, Allen L, Prentice A. Elsevier, Oxford, UK, 486-490.
- Andersson M, Aeberli I, Wust N, Piacenza AM, Bucher T, Henschen I, Haldimann M and Zimmermann MB, 2010. The Swiss iodized salt program provides adequate iodine for school children and pregnant women, but weaning infants not receiving iodine-containing complementary foods as well as their mothers are iodine deficient. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 95, 5217-5224.
- Antonakou A, Chiou A, Andrikopoulos NK, Bakoula C and Matalas AL, 2011. Breast milk tocopherol content during the first six months in exclusively breastfeeding Greek women. European Journal of Nutrition, 50, 195-202.
- Arena Ansótegui J and Emparanza Knörr JI, 2012. Estudio de la ingesta de yodo en los niños de 6 meses a 3 años de edad de Guipúzcoa [Study of iodine intake in children aged 6 months to 3 years in Guipúzcoa]. Anales de Pediatria, 73, 65-68.
- Arnberg K, Ostergard M, Madsen AL, Krarup H, Michaelsen KF and Molgaard C, 2011. Associations between vitamin D status in infants and blood lipids, body mass index and waist circumference. Acta Paediatrica, 100, 1244-1248.
- Ashley C, Johnston WH, Harris CL, Stolz SI, Wampler JL and Berseth CL, 2012. Growth and tolerance of infants fed formula supplemented with polydextrose (PDX) and/or galactooligosaccharides (GOS): double-blind, randomized, controlled trial. Nutrition Journal, 11, 38.
- Atkinson SA, Alston-Mills BP, Lönnerdal B, Neville MC and Thompson MP, 1995. Major minerals and ionic constituents of human and bovine milk. In: Handbook of milk composition. Ed Jensen RJ. California Academic Press, San Jose, CA, USA, 593-619.
- Axelsson I, 2006. Effects of high protein intakes. In: Protein and energy requirements in infancy and childhood. Nestlé Nutrition Workshop Series: Pediatric program Series No. 58. Eds Rigo J, Ziegler E. 121-131.
- Barker DJ, 1994. Outcome of low birthweight. Hormone Research, 42, 223-230.
- Beaton G, 1994. Criteria of an adequate diet. In: Modern nutrition in health and disease. Eds Shils M, Olson J, Shike M. Lea & Felbiger, Philadelphia, USA.
- Ben XM, Zhou XY, Zhao WH, Yu WL, Pan W, Zhang WL, Wu SM, Van Beusekom CM and Schaafsma A, 2004. Supplementation of milk formula with galacto-oligosaccharides improves intestinal micro-flora and fermentation in term infants. Chinese Medical Journal, 117, 927-931.
- Bettler J and Euler AR, 2006. An evaluation of the growth of term infants fed formula supplemented with fructo-oligosaccharide. International Journal of Probiotics and Prebiotics, 1, 19-26.

- Birch EE, Hoffman DR, Castaneda YS, Fawcett SL, Birch DG and Uauy RD, 2002. A randomized controlled trial of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation of formula in term infants after weaning at 6 wk of age. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 75, 570-580.
- Bjørke-Monsen AL, Refsum H, Markestad T and Ueland PM, 2003. Cobalamin status and its biochemical markers methylmalonic acid and homocysteine in different age groups from 4 days to 19 years. Clinical Chemistry, 49, 2067-2075.
- Bjørke-Monsen AL, Torsvik I, Saetran H, Markestad T and Ueland PM, 2008. Common metabolic profile in infants indicating impaired cobalamin status responds to cobalamin supplementation. Pediatrics, 122, 83-91.
- Black M, 2008. Effects of vitamin B12 and folate deficiency on brain development in children. Food and Nutrition Bulletin, 29 (2 Suppl), S126-S131.
- Böhles H, Aschenbrenner M, Roth M, von Loewenich V, Ball F and Usadel KH, 1993. Development of thyroid gland volume during the first 3 months of life in breast-fed versus iodine-supplemented and iodine-free formula-fed infants. Clinical Investigator, 71, 13-20.
- Bonewald LF, 2011. The amazing osteocyte. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 26, 229-238.
- Bouglé D, Laroche D and Bureau F, 2000. Zinc and iron status and growth in healthy infants. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 54, 764-767.
- Braegger C, Campoy C, Colomb V, Decsi T, Domellöf M, Fewtrell M, Hojsak I, Mihatsch W, Molgaard C, Shamir R, Turck D and van Goudoever J on behalf of the ESPGHAN Committee on Nutrition, 2013. Vitamin D in the healthy European paediatric population. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, 56, 692-701.
- Bramhagen AC and Axelsson I, 1999. Iron status of children in southern Sweden: effects of cow's milk and follow-on formula. Acta Paediatrica, 88, 1333-1337.
- Bramhagen AC, Svahn J, Hallstrom I and Axelsson I, 2011. Factors influencing iron nutrition among one-year-old healthy children in Sweden. Journal of Clinical Nursing, 20, 1887-1894.
- Brenna JT, Varamini B, Jensen RG, Diersen-Schade DA, Boettcher JA and Arterburn LM, 2007. Docosahexaenoic and arachidonic acid concentrations in human breast milk worldwide. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 85, 1457-1464.
- Brenna JT, Salem N, Sinclair AJ, Cunnane SC and Issfal, 2009. alpha-Linolenic acid supplementation and conversion to n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in humans. Prostaglandins Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids, 80, 85-91.
- Brunser O, Gotteland M, Cruchet S, Figueroa G, Garrido D and Steenhout P, 2006. Effect of a milk formula with prebiotics on the intestinal microbiota of infants after an antibiotic treatment. Pediatric Research, 59, 451-456.
- Burdge GC, 2006. Metabolism of alpha-linolenic acid in humans. Prostaglandins Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids, 75, 161-168.
- Butte NF, Hopkinson JM, Wong WW, Smith EO and Ellis KJ, 2000. Body composition during the first 2 years of life: an updated reference. Pediatric Research, 47, 578-585.
- Butte NF, Lopez-Alarcon MG and Garza C, 2002. Nutrient adequacy of exclusive breastfeeding for the term infant during the first six months of life. WHO (World Health Organization), 57 pp.
- Butte NF, 2005. Energy requirements of infants. Public Health Nutrition, 8, 953-967.
- Capozzi L, Russo R, Bertocco F, Ferrara D and Ferrara M, 2010. Diet and iron deficiency in the first year of life: a retrospective study. Hematology, 15, 410-413.
- Carriquiry AL, 1999. Assessing the prevalence of nutrient inadequacy. Public Health Nutrition, 2, 23-33.

- Casey CE, Walravens PA and Hambidge KM, 1981. Availability of zinc: loading tests with human milk, cow's milk, and infant formulas. Pediatrics, 68, 394-396.
- Challa A, Ntourntoufi A, Cholevas V, Bitsori M, Galanakis E and Andronikou S, 2005. Breastfeeding and vitamin D status in Greece during the first 6 months of life. European Journal of Pediatrics, 164, 724-729.
- Cohen HJ, Drew RT, Johnson JL and Rajagopalan KV, 1973. Molecular basis of the biological function of molybdenum: the relationship between sulfite oxidase and the acute toxicity of bisulfite and SO2. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 70, 3655-3659.
- Costalos C, Kapiki A, Apostolou M and Papathoma E, 2008. The effect of a prebiotic supplemented formula on growth and stool microbiology of term infants. Early Human Development, 84, 45-49.
- Costeira MJ, Oliveira P, Ares S, de Escobar GM and Palha JA, 2009. Iodine status of pregnant women and their progeny in the Minho Region of Portugal. Thyroid, 19, 157-163.
- Crawley H and Westland S, 2013. Fortified milks for children A worldwide review of fortified milks marketed for children over 1 year of age. First Steps Nutrition Trust, 86 pp.
- Crider KS, Yang TP, Berry RJ and Bailey LB, 2012. Folate and DNA methylation: a review of molecular mechanisms and the evidence for folate's role. Advances in Nutrition, 3, 21-38.
- Cunnane SC, Francescutti V, Brenna JT and Crawford MA, 2000. Breast-fed infants achieve a higher rate of brain and whole body docosahexaenoate accumulation than formula-fed infants not consuming dietary docosahexaenoate. Lipids, 35, 105-111.
- D-A-CH (Deutsche Gesellschaft für Ernährung Österreichische Gesellschaft für Ernährung -Schweizerische Gesellschaft für Ernährungsforschung - Schweizerische Vereinigung für Ernährung), 2013. Referenzwerte für die Nährstoffzufuhr. Umschau Braus Verlag, Frankfurt am Main, Germany.
- da Costa TH, Haisma H, Wells JC, Mander AP, Whitehead RG and Bluck LJ, 2010. How much human milk do infants consume? Data from 12 countries using a standardized stable isotope methodology. Journal of Nutrition, 140, 2227-2232.
- Dahl L, Opsahl JA, Meltzer HM and Julshamn K, 2003. Iodine concentration in Norwegian milk and dairy products. British Journal of Nutrition, 90, 679-685.
- Daly A, MacDonald A, Aukett A, Williams J, Wolf A, Davidson J and Booth IW, 1996. Prevention of anaemia in inner city toddlers by an iron supplemented cows' milk formula. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 75, 9-16.
- Davies PS, Bates CJ, Cole TJ, Prentice A and Clarke PC, 1999. Vitamin D: seasonal and regional differences in preschool children in Great Britain. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 53, 195-198.
- Dawodu A and Tsang RC, 2012. Maternal vitamin D status: effect on milk vitamin D content and vitamin D status of breastfeeding infants. Advances in Nutrition, 3, 353-361.
- de Benoist B, Darnton-Hill I, Davidsson L, Fontaine O and Hotz C, 2007. Conclusions of the joint WHO/UNICEF/IAEA/IZiNCG interagency meeting on zinc status indicators. Food and Nutrition Bulletin, 28, S480-484.
- de Boer EJ, Hulshof KFAM and ter Doest D, 2006. Voedselconsumptie van jonge peuters [Food consumption of young children]. TNO rapport V6269, 37 pp.
- Decsi T, Arato A, Balogh M, Dolinay T, Kanjo AH, Szabo E and Varkonyi A, 2005. [Randomised placebo controlled double blind study on the effect of prebiotic oligosaccharides on intestinal flora in healthy infants]. Orvosi Hetilap, 146, 2445-2450.



- Delange F, Wolff P, Gnat D, Dramaix M, Pilchen M and Vertongen F, 2001. Iodine deficiency during infancy and early childhood in Belgium: does it pose a risk to brain development? European Journal of Pediatrics, 160, 251-254.
- DGE (Deutschen Gesellschaft für Ernährung), 2008. Ernährungsbericht 2008. 442 pp.
- Dituri F, Buonocore G, Pietravalle A, Naddeo F, Cortesi M, Pasqualetti P, Tataranno ML and Agostino R, 2012. PIVKA-II plasma levels as markers of subclinical vitamin K deficiency in term infants. Journal of Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine, 25, 1660-1663.
- DoH (Department of Health), 1991. Dietary reference values for food energy and nutrients for the United Kingdom. Report of the Panel on Dietary Reference Values of the Committee on Medical Aspects of Food Policy. HM Stationary Office, London, UK.
- Domellöf M, Lönnerdal B, Abrams SA and Hernell O, 2002a. Iron absorption in breast-fed infants: Effect of age, iron status, iron supplements and complementary foods. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 76, 198-204.
- Domellöf M, Dewey KG, Lönnerdal B, Cohen RJ and Hernell O, 2002b. The diagnostic criteria for iron deficiency in infants should be re-evaluated. Journal of Nutrition, 132, 3680-3686.
- Domellöf M, Dewey KG, Cohen RJ, Lönnerdal B and Hernell O, 2005. Iron supplements reduce erythrocyte copper-zinc superoxide dismutase activity in term, breastfed infants. Acta Paediatrica, 94, 1578-1582.
- Domellöf M, 2007. Iron requirements, absorption and metabolism in infancy and childhood. Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition & Metabolic Care, 10, 329-335.
- Dorea JG, 2000. Magnesium in human milk. Journal of the American College of Nutrition, 19, 210-219.
- Dror DK and Allen LH, 2008. Effect of vitamin B-12 deficiency on neurodevelopment in infants: current knowledge and possible mechanisms. Nutrition Reviews, 66, 250-255.
- Dube K, Schwartz J, Mueller MJ, Kalhoff H and Kersting M, 2010a. Iron intake and iron status in breastfed infants during the first year of life. Clinical Nutrition, 29, 773-778.
- Dube K, Schwartz J, Mueller MJ, Kalhoff H and Kersting M, 2010b. Complementary food with low (8%) or high (12%) meat content as source of dietary iron: a double-blinded randomized controlled trial. European Journal of Nutrition, 49, 11-18.
- Duggan C, Penny ME, Hibberd P, Gil A, Huapaya A, Cooper A, Coletta F, Emenhiser C and Kleinman RE, 2003. Oligofructose-supplemented infant cereal: 2 randomized, blinded, community-based trials in Peruvian infants. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 77, 937-942.
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority), 2004a. Opinion of the Scientific Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies on a request from the Commission related to the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of iron. The EFSA Journal 2004, 125, 1-34. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2004.125.
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority), 2004b. Opinion of the Scientific Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies on a request from the Commission related to the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of vitamin C (L-Ascorbic acid, its calcium, potassium and sodium salts and L-ascorbyl-6palmitate). The EFSA Journal 2004, 59, 1-21. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2004.59.
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority), 2005a. Opinion of the Scientific Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies on a request from the Commission related to the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of potassium. The EFSA Journal 2005, 233, 1-19. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2005.193.
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority), 2005b. Opinion of the Scientific Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies on a request from the Commission related to the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of fluoride. The EFSA Journal 2005, 192, 1-65. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2005.2192.



- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority), 2005c. Opinion of the Scientific Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies on a request from the Commission related to the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of sodium. The EFSA Journal 2005, 209, 1-26. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2005.209.
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority), 2005d. Opinion of the Scientific Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies on a request from the Commission related to the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of chloride. The EFSA Journal 2005, 210, 1-9. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2005.210.
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies), 2009. Scientific Opinion on the appropriate age for introduction of complementary feeding of infants. EFSA Journal 2009; 7(12): 1423, 38 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2009.1423.
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition, and Allergies), 2010a. Scientific Opinion on Dietary Reference Values for water. EFSA Journal 2010; 8(3):1459, 10 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2010.1459.
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition, and Allergies), 2010b. Scientific Opinion on establishing Food-Based Dietary Guidelines. EFSA Journal 2010; 8(3):1460, 42 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2010.1460.
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies), 2010c. Scientific Opinion on lactose thresholds in lactose intolerance and galactosaemia. EFSA Journal 2010;8(9):1777, 29 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2010.1777.
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition, and Allergies), 2010d. Scientific Opinion on Dietary Reference Values for carbohydrates and dietary fibre. EFSA Journal 2010; 8(3):1462, 28 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2010.1462.
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies), 2010e. Scientific Opinion on the substantiation of a health claim related to Immunofortis® and strengthening of the baby's immune system pursuant to Article 14 of Regulation (EC) No 1924/2006. EFSA Journal 2010;8(2):1430, 18 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2010.1430.
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition, and Allergies), 2010f. Scientific Opinion on Dietary Reference Values for fats, including saturated fatty acids, polyunsaturated fatty acids, monounsaturated fatty acids, trans fatty acids, and cholesterol. EFSA Journal 2010; 8(3):1461, 107 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2010.1461.
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition, and Allergies), 2010g. Scientific Opinion on principles for deriving and applying Dietary Reference Values. EFSA Journal 2010; 8(3):1458, 30 pp.doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2010.1458.
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies), 2012a. Scientific Opinion on Dietary Reference Values for protein. EFSA Journal 2012;10(2):2557, 66 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2012.2557.
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition, and Allergies), 2012b. Scientific Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of calcium. EFSA Journal 2012;10(7):2814, 44 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2012.2814.
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies), 2012c. Scientific Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of vitamin D. EFSA Journal 2012;10(7):2813, 45 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2012.2813.
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies), 2013a. Draft Scientific Opinion on Dietary Reference Values for pantothenic acid. Endorsed for public consultation on 11 October 2013.
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies), 2013b. Scientific Opinion on Dietary Reference Values for energy. EFSA Journal 2013;11(1):3005, 81 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2013.3005.



- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies), 2013c. Scientific Opinion on Dietary Reference Values for vitamin C. EFSA Journal 2013;11(11):3418, 69 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2013.3418.
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies), 2013d. Scientific Opinion on Dietary Reference Values for fluoride. EFSA Journal, 2013;11(8):3332, 13 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2013.3332.
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies), 2013e. Scientific Opinion on Dietary Reference Values for molybdenum. EFSA Journal 2013;11(8):3333, 35 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2013.3333.
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies), 2013f. Scientific Opinion on Dietary Reference Values for manganese. EFSA Journal 2013;11(11):3419, 43 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2013.3419.
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies), 2013g. Draft Scientific Opinion on Dietary Reference Values for biotin. Endorsed for public consultation on 11 October 2013.
- Emmett P, Rogers I and Symes C on behalf of the ALSPAC Study Team, 2002. Food and nutrient intakes of a population sample of 3-year-old children in the south west of England in 1996. Public Health Nutrition, 5, 55-64.
- Engel S, Tronhjem KM, Hellgren LI, Michaelsen KF and Lauritzen L, 2013. Docosahexaenoic acid status at 9 months is inversely associated with communicative skills in 3-year-old girls. Maternal and Child Nutrition, 9, 499-510.
- Engelmann MD, Sandstrom B and Michaelsen KF, 1998. Meat intake and iron status in late infancy: an intervention study. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, 26, 26-33.
- Fairweather-Tait SJ, Collings R and Hurst R, 2010. Selenium bioavailability: current knowledge and future research requirements. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 91, 1484S-1491S.
- Fairweather-Tait SJ, Bao YP, Broadley MR, Collings R, Ford D, Hesketh JE and Hurst R, 2011. Selenium in human health and disease. Antioxidants & Redox Signaling, 14, 1337-1383.
- Fanaro S, Jelinek J, Stahl B, Boehm G, Kock R and Vigi V, 2005. Acidic oligosaccharides from pectin hydrolysate as new component for infant formulae: effect on intestinal flora, stool characteristics, and pH. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, 41, 186-190.
- Fantino M and Gourmet E, 2008. Apports nutritionnels en France en 2005 chez les enfants non allaités âgés de moins de 36 mois [Nutrient intakes in France in 2005 by non-breast fed children of less than 36 months]. Archives de Pédiatrie, 15, 446–455.
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations), 1997. Global information and early warning system on food and agriculture special report food supply and nutritional situation assessment in Bulgaria.
- FAO/WHO/UNU (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations/World Health Organization/United Nations University), 1985. Energy and protein requirements. Report of a Joint WHO/FAO/UNU Expert Consultation, Rome, 5-17 October 1981. WHO Technical Report Series 724, 206 pp.
- FAO/WHO/UNU (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations/World Health Organization/United Nations University), 2004. Human energy requirements. Report of a Joint FAO/WHO/UNU Expert Consultation: Rome, 17–24 October 2001. FAO Food and Nutrition Technical Report Series, 103 pp.
- Farquharson J, Cockburn F, Patrick WA, Jamieson EC and Logan RW, 1992. Infant cerebral cortex phospholipid fatty-acid composition and diet. Lancet, 340, 810-813.

- Feillet-Coudray C and Rayssiguier Y, 2005. Magnesium. In: Encyclopedia of human nutrition. Eds Caballero B, Allen L, Prentice A. Elsevier, Oxford, UK, 191-195.
- Fischer LM, da Costa KA, Galanko J, Sha W, Stephenson B, Vick J and Zeisel SH, 2010. Choline intake and genetic polymorphisms influence choline metabolite concentrations in human breast milk and plasma. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 92, 336-346.
- Fomon S, 2001. Infant feeding in the 20th century: formula and beikost. Journal of Nutrition, 131, 409S-420S.
- Fomon SJ, Haschke F, Ziegler EE and Nelson SE, 1982. Body composition of reference children from birth to age 10 years. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 35, 1169-1175.
- Fomon SJ, 1993. Nutrition of normal infants. Mosby, St. Louis, MO, USA.
- Fomon SJ and Nelson SE, 2002. Body composition of the male and female reference infants. Annual Review of Nutrition, 22, 1-17.
- Freeman VE, Mulder J, van't Hof MA, Hoey HM and Gibney MJ, 1998. A longitudinal study of iron status in children at 12, 24 and 36 months. Public Health Nutrition, 1, 93-100.
- FSAI (Food Safety Authority of Ireland), 2011. Scientific Recommendations for a National Infant Feeding Policy. 144 pp.
- Fuchs GJ, Farris RP, DeWier M, Hutchinson SW, Warrier R, Doucet H and Suskind RM, 1993. Iron status and intake of older infants fed formula vs cow milk with cereal. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 58, 343-348.
- Gallo S, Comeau K, Vanstone C, Agellon S, Sharma A, Jones G, L'Abbe M, Khamessan A, Rodd C and Weiler H, 2013. Effect of different dosages of oral vitamin D supplementation on vitamin D status in healthy, breastfed infants: a randomized trial. JAMA, 309, 1785-1792.
- Gezondheidsraad, 2000. Voedingsnormen calcium, vitamine D, thiamine, riboflavine, niacine, pantotheenzuur en biotine [Dietary reference intakes calcium, vitamin D, thiamin, riboflavin, naicin, pantothenic acid and biotin]. 180 pp.
- Gezondheidsraad, 2003. Voedingsnormen vitamine B6, foliumzuur en vitamine B12 [Dietary reference intakes vitamin B6, folic acid and vitamin B12]. 142 pp.
- Gezondheidsraad, 2012. Evaluation of dietary reference values for vitamin D. 138 pp.
- Gibson SA, 1999. Iron intake and iron status of preschool children: associations with breakfast cereals, vitamin C and meat. Public Health Nutrition, 2, 521-528.
- Gill DG, Vincent S and Segal DS, 1997. Follow-on formula in the prevention of iron deficiency: a multicentre study. Acta Paediatrica, 86, 683-689.
- Glaser C, Lattka E, Rzehak P, Steer C and Koletzko B, 2011. Genetic variation in polyunsaturated fatty acid metabolism and its potential relevance for human development and health. Maternal and Child Nutrition, 7 Suppl 2, 27-40.
- Gompakis N, Economou M, Tsantali C, Kouloulias V, Keramida M and Athanasiou-Metaxa M, 2007. The effect of dietary habits and socioeconomic status on the prevalence of iron deficiency in children of northern Greece. Acta Haematologica, 117, 200-204.
- Gondolf UH, Tetens I, Michaelsen KF and Trolle E, 2013. Iron supplementation is positively associated with increased serum ferritin levels in 9-month-old Danish infants. British Journal of Nutrition, 109, 103-110.
- Grant GA, 1990. Prevalence of iron deficiency in rural pre-school children in Northern Ireland. British Journal of General Practice, 40, 112-113.
- Grote V, von Kries R, Closa-Monasterolo R, Scaglioni S, Gruszfeld D, Sengier A, Langhendries JP and Koletzko B on behalf of the European Childhood Obesity Trial Study Group, 2010. Protein

intake and growth in the first 24 months of life. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, 51 Suppl 3, S117-118.

- Gunnarsdottir I, Eysteinsdottir T and Thorsdottir I, 2008. Hvað borða börn á leikskólum? Könnun á mataræði 3 og 5 ára barna [Diet for preschool children age 3 and 5 years old in Iceland 2007]. Prentlausnir, Reykjavík, Iceland.
- Gunnarsson BS, Thorsdottir I and Palsson G, 2004. Iron status in 2-year-old Icelandic children and associations with dietary intake and growth. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 58, 901-906.
- Gürgöze MK, Ölçücü A, Aygün AD, Taşkin E and Kiliç M, 2006. Serum and hair levels of zinc, selenium, iron, and copper in children with iron-deficiency anemia. Biological Trace Element Research, 111, 23-29.
- Han YH, Yon M, Han HS, Johnston KE, Tamura T and Hyun T, 2011. Zinc status and growth of Korean infants fed human milk, casein-based, or soy-based formula: three-year longitudinal study. Nutrition Research and Practice, 5, 46-51.
- Harris WS, Miller M, Tighe AP, Davidson MH and Schaefer EJ, 2008. Omega-3 fatty acids and coronary heart disease risk: Clinical and mechanistic perspectives. Atherosclerosis, 197, 12-24.
- Harsløf LB, Larsen LH, Ritz C, Hellgren LI, Michaelsen KF, Vogel U and Lauritzen L, 2013. FADS genotype and diet are important determinants of DHA status: a cross-sectional study in Danish infants. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 97, 1403-1410.
- Hasunen K, Kalavainen M, Keinonen H, Lagström H, Lyytikäinen A, Nurttila A, Peltola T and Talvia S, 2004. Lapsi, perhe ja ruoka: Imeväis- ja leikki-ikäisten lasten, odottavien ja imettävien äitien ravitsemussuositus [Child, family and food: Nutrition recommendations for infants, young children, pregnant and breastfeeding women]. Sosiaali- ja terveysministeriö, 242 pp.
- Hay G, Sandstad B, Whitelaw A and Borch-Iohnsen B, 2004. Iron status in a group of Norwegian children aged 6-24 months. Acta Paediatrica, 93, 592-598.
- Hay G, Johnston C, Whitelaw A, Trygg K and Refsum H, 2008. Folate and cobalamin status in relation to breastfeeding and weaning in healthy infants. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 88, 105-114.
- Hay G, Clausen T, Whitelaw A, Trygg K, Johnston C, Henriksen T and Refsum H, 2010. Maternal folate and cobalamin status predicts vitamin status in newborns and 6-month-old infants. Journal of Nutrition, 140, 557-564.
- Hay G, Trygg K, Whitelaw A, Johnston C and Refsum H, 2011. Folate and cobalamin status in relation to diet in healthy 2-y-old children. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 93, 727-735.
- Henriksen C, Helland IB, Ronnestad A, Gronn M, Iversen PO and Drevon CA, 2006. Fat-soluble vitamins in breast-fed preterm and term infants. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 60, 756-762.
- Henry CJ, 2005. Basal metabolic rate studies in humans: measurement and development of new equations. Public Health Nutrition, 8, 1133-1152.
- Hicks PD, Zavaleta N, Chen Z, Abrams SA and Lonnerdal B, 2006. Iron deficiency, but not anemia, upregulates iron absorption in breast-fed peruvian infants. Journal of Nutrition, 136, 2435-2438.
- Hicks PD, Hawthorne KM, Berseth CL, Marunycz JD, Heubi JE and Abrams SA, 2012. Total calcium absorption is similar from infant formulas with and without prebiotics and exceeds that in human milk-fed infants. BMC Pediatrics, 12.
- Hilbig A, 2005. Längerfristige Trends bei der Ernährung von Säuglingen und Kleinkindern der DONALD Studie im Zeitraum 1989 1999 [Long-term trends in the nutrition of infants and young children of the DONALD study from 189-1999]. Inaugural dissertation at the Justus-Liebig-Universität Gießen.



- Hilbig A, Lentze MJ and Kersting M, 2012. Einführung und Zusammensetzung der Beikost [Introduction and composition of complementary feeding]. Monatsschrift Kinderheilkunde, 160, 1089-1095.
- Hintzpeter B, Scheidt-Nave C, Muller MJ, Schenk L and Mensink GB, 2008. Higher prevalence of vitamin D deficiency is associated with immigrant background among children and adolescents in Germany. Journal of Nutrition, 138, 1482-1490.
- Hoffman DR, Birch EE, Castaneda YS, Fawcett SL, Wheaton DH, Birch DG and Uauy R, 2003. Visual function in breast-fed term infants weaned to formula with or without long-chain polyunsaturates at 4 to 6 months: a randomized clinical trial. Journal of Pediatrics, 142, 669-677.
- Hoffman DR, Theuer RC, Castaneda YS, Wheaton DH, Bosworth RG, O'Connor AR, Morale SE, Wiedemann LE and Birch EE, 2004. Maturation of visual acuity is accelerated in breast-fed term infants fed baby food containing DHA-enriched egg yolk. Journal of Nutrition, 134, 2307-2313.
- Hopkins D, Emmett P, Steer C, Rogers I, Noble S and Emond A, 2007. Infant feeding in the second 6 months of life related to iron status: an observational study. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 92, 850-854.
- Hopkins LL, Jr., Ransome-Kuti O and Majaj AS, 1968. Improvement of impaired carbohydrate metabolism by chromium 3 in manourished infants. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 21, 203-211.
- Hörnell A, Lagström H, Lande B and Thorsdottir I, 2013. Protein intake from 0 to 18 years of age and its relation to health: a systematic literature review for the 5th Nordic Nutrition Recommendations. Food & Nutrition Research, 57.
- Houghton LA, Yang J and O'Connor DL, 2009. Unmetabolized folic acid and total folate concentrations in breast milk are unaffected by low-dose folate supplements. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 89, 216-220.
- Houghton LA, Gray AR, Szymlek-Gay EA, Heath AL and Ferguson EL, 2011. Vitamin D-fortified milk achieves the targeted serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentration without affecting that of parathyroid hormone in New Zealand toddlers. Journal of Nutrition, 141, 1840-1846.
- Houston R, 2005. Iodine physiology, dietary sources and requirements. In: Encyclopedia of human nutrition. Eds Caballero B, Allen L, Prentice A. Elsevier, Oxford, UK, 66-74.
- Hower J, Knoll A, Ritzenthaler KL, Steiner C and Berwind R, 2013. Vitamin D fortification of growing up milk prevents decrease of serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations during winter: a clinical intervention study in Germany. European Journal of Pediatrics, Jul 13 [Epub ahead of print].
- Humphrey JH, Agoestina T, Juliana A, Septiana S, Widjaja H, Cerreto MC, Wu LS, Ichord RN, Katz J and West KP, Jr., 1998. Neonatal vitamin A supplementation: effect on development and growth at 3 y of age. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 68, 109-117.
- Hungarian Infant and Pediatric Advisory Board and National Committee for the Support of Breastfeeding, 2009. Az Egészségügyi Minisztérium szakmai protokollja az egészséges csecsemő táplálásáról [Protocol for feeding health infants of the Hunagarian Ministry of Health].
- Huybrechts I and De Henauw S, 2007. Energy and nutrient intakes by pre-school children in Flanders-Belgium. British Journal of Nutrition, 98, 600-610.
- Icelandic Centre for Child Health, 2011a. Ráðleggingar um næringu barna fyrir dagforeldra og starfsfólk ungbarnaleikskóla [Nutritional advice for children infants and preschoolers]. 16 pp.
- Icelandic Centre for Child Health, 2011b. Næring ungbarna [Nutrition of the infant]. 24 pp.
- Icelandic Directorate of Health, 2011. Ráðleggingar um mataræði og næringarefni fyrir fullorðna og börn frá tveggja ára aldri [Advice on diet and nutrients - for adults and children from two years of age]. 35 pp.



- Ilcol YO, Ozbek R, Hamurtekin E and Ulus IH, 2005. Choline status in newborns, infants, children, breast-feeding women, breast-fed infants and human breast milk. Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry, 16, 489-499.
- IoM (Institute of Medicine), 1997. Dietary Reference Intakes for calcium, phosphorus, magnesium, vitamin D, and fluoride. National Academies Press, Washington DC, USA.
- IoM (Institute of Medicine), 1998. Dietary Reference Intakes for thiamin, riboflavin, niacin, vitamin B6, folate, vitamin B12, pantothenic acid, biotin and choline. National Academies Press, Washington DC, USA.
- IoM (Institute of Medicine), 2000a. Dietary reference intakes. Applications in dietary assessment. National Academies Press, Washington DC, USA.
- IoM (Institute of Medicine), 2000b. Dietary Reference Intakes for vitamin C, vitamin E, selenium, and carotenoids. National Academies Press, Washington DC, USA.
- IoM (Institute of Medicine), 2001. Dietary Reference Intakes for vitamin A, vitamin K, arsenic, boron, chromium, copper, iodine, iron, manganese, molybdenum, nickel, silicon, vanadium, and zinc. National Academies Press, Washington DC, USA.
- IoM (Institute of Medicine), 2005a. Dietary reference intakes for energy, carbohydrate, fiber, fat, fatty acids, cholesterol, protein, and amino acids. National Academies Press, Washington DC, USA.
- IoM (Institute of Medicine), 2005b. Dietary Reference Intakes for water, potassium, sodium, chloride, and sulfate. National Academies Press, Washington DC, USA.
- IoM, 2011. Dietary Reference Intakes for calcium and vitamin D. National Academies Press, Washington DC, USA.
- Ip S, Chung M, Raman G, Chew P, Magula N, DeVine D, Trikalinos T and Lau J, 2007. Breastfeeding and maternal and infant health outcomes in developed countries. Evidence Report/Technology Assessment: United States Agency for Health Care Policy and Research, 1-186.
- IUNA (Irish Universities Nutrition Alliance), 2012. National pre-school nutrition survey. University College Cork and University College Dublin as part of the Irish Universities Nutrition Alliance.
- Jansson L, Akesson B and Holmberg L, 1981. Vitamin E and fatty acid composition of human milk. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 34, 8-13.
- Jensen RG, 1995. Handbook of milk composition. Academic Press, San Diego, CA, USA.
- Johnson JL, Rajagopalan KV and Cohen HJ, 1974. Molecular basis of the biological function of molybdenum. Effect of tungsten on xanthine oxidase and sulfite oxidase in the rat. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 249, 859-866.
- Jonsdottir OH, Thorsdottir I, Hibberd PL, Fewtrell MS, Wells JC, Palsson GI, Lucas A, Gunnlaugsson G and Kleinman RE, 2012. Timing of the introduction of complementary foods in infancy: a randomized controlled trial. Pediatrics, 130, 1038-1045.
- Karademir F, Suleymanoglu S, Ersen A, Aydinoz S, Gultepe M, Meral C, Ozkaya H and Gocmen I, 2007. Vitamin B12, folate, homocysteine and urinary methylmalonic acid levels in infants. Journal of International Medical Research, 35, 384-388.
- Kersting M, 2001. Ernährung des gesunden Säuglings Lebensmittel- und mahlzeitbezogene Empfehlungen [Nutrition of the healthy infant - Food and meal related recommendations]. Monatsschrift Kinderheilkunde, 149, 4-10.
- Kersting M, Alexy U and Clausen K, 2005. Using the concept of Food Based Dietary Guidelines to Develop an Optimized Mixed Diet (OMD) for German children and adolescents. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, 40, 301-308.



- Kersting M and Hilbig A, 2012. Ernährung bei Kleinkindern Empfehlungen und Ernährungspraxis [Nutrition of young children - recommendations and nutritional practices]. Journal für Ernährungsmedizin, 14, 24-29.
- Knol J, Scholtens P, Kafka C, Steenbakkers J, Gro S, Helm K, Klarczyk M, Schopfer H, Bockler HM and Wells J, 2005. Colon microflora in infants fed formula with galacto- and fructooligosaccharides: more like breast-fed infants. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, 40, 36-42.
- Koletzko B, Baker S, Cleghorn G, Neto UF, Gopalan S, Hernell O, Hock QS, Jirapinyo P, Lonnerdal B, Pencharz P, Pzyrembel H, Ramirez-Mayans J, Shamir R, Turck D, Yamashiro Y and Zong-Yi D, 2005. Global standard for the composition of infant formula: recommendations of an ESPGHAN coordinated international expert group. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, 41, 584-599.
- Koletzko B, Lien E, Agostoni C, Bohles H, Campoy C, Cetin I, Decsi T, Dudenhausen JW, Dupont C, Forsyth S, Hoesli I, Holzgreve W, Lapillonne A, Putet G, Secher NJ, Symonds M, Szajewska H, Willatts P and Uauy R on behalf of the World Association of Perinatal Medicine Dietary Guidelines Working Group, 2008. The roles of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in pregnancy, lactation and infancy: review of current knowledge and consensus recommendations. Journal of Perinatal Medicine, 36, 5-14.
- Koletzko B, von Kries R, Closa R, Escribano J, Scaglioni S, Giovannini M, Beyer J, Demmelmair H, Gruszfeld D, Dobrzanska A, Sengier A, Langhendries JP, Rolland Cachera MF, Grote V and European Childhood Obesity Trial Study G, 2009. Lower protein in infant formula is associated with lower weight up to age 2 y: a randomized clinical trial. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 89, 1836-1845.
- Körner RW, Vierzig A, Roth B and Müller C, 2009. Determination of thiamin diphosphate in whole blood samples by high-performance liquid chromatography--a method suitable for pediatric diagnostics. Journal of Chromatography. B, Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences, 877, 1882-1886.
- Krachler M, Li FS, Rossipal E and Irgolic KJ, 1998. Changes in the concentrations of trace elements in human milk during lactation. Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology, 12, 159-176.
- Krebs NF, Reidinger CJ, Hartley S, Robertson AD and Hambidge KM, 1995. Zinc supplementation during lactation: effects on maternal status and milk zinc concentrations. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 61, 1030-1036.
- Krebs NF, Westcott JE, Butler N, Robinson C, Bell M and Hambidge KM, 2006. Meat as a first complementary food for breastfed infants: feasibility and impact on zinc intake and status. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, 42, 207-214.
- Krebs NF, Westcott JE, Culbertson DL, Sian L, Miller LV and Hambidge KM, 2012. Comparison of complementary feeding strategies to meet zinc requirements of older breastfed infants. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 96, 30-35.
- Krebs NF, Sherlock LG, Westcott J, Culbertson D, Hambidge KM, Feazel LM, Robertson CE and Frank DN, 2013. Effects of different complementary feeding regimens on iron status and enteric microbiota in breastfed infants. Journal of Pediatrics, 163, 416-423.
- Krebs NF, 2013. Update on zinc deficiency and excess in clinical pediatric practice. Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism, 62 Suppl 1, 19-29.
- Kristiansen AL, Andersen LF and Lande B, 2009. Småbarnskost 2 år: Landsomfattende kostholdsundersøkelse blant 2 år gamle barn [Young children 2 years: Nationwide food consumption survey among 2 year old children]. IS-1731, Helsedirektoratet, Mattilsynet og Universitetet i Oslo, 94 pp.

- Kyttälä P, Ovaskainen M, Kronberg-Kippilä C, Erkkola M, Tapanainen H, Tuokkola J, Veijola R, Simell O, Knip M and Virtanen S, 2008. Lapsen ruokavalio ennen kouluikää [The diet of Finnish preschoolers]. Kansanterveyslaitoksen julkaisuja 32/2008, 158 pp.
- Kyttälä P, Erkkola M, Kronberg-Kippila C, Tapanainen H, Veijola R, Simell O, Knip M and Virtanen SM, 2010. Food consumption and nutrient intake in Finnish 1-6-year-old children. Public Health Nutrition, 13, 947-956.
- Lagström H, Jokinen E, Seppanen R, Ronnemaa T, Viikari J, Valimaki I, Venetoklis J, Myyrinmaa A, Niinikoski H, Lapinleimu H and Simell O, 1997. Nutrient intakes by young children in a prospective randomized trial of a low-saturated fat, low-cholesterol diet. The STRIP Baby Project. Special Turku Coronary Risk Factor Intervention Project for Babies. Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, 151, 181-188.
- Lapinleimu H, Viikari J, Jokinen E, Salo P, Routi T, Leino A, Ronnemaa T, Seppanen R, Valimaki I and Simell O, 1995. Prospective randomised trial in 1062 infants of diet low in saturated fat and cholesterol. Lancet, 345, 471-476.
- Lattka E, Klopp N, Demmelmair H, Klingler M, Heinrich J and Koletzko B, 2012. Genetic variations in polyunsaturated fatty acid metabolism--implications for child health? Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism, 60 Suppl 3, 8-17.
- Leotsinidis M, Alexopoulos A and Kostopoulou-Farri E, 2005. Toxic and essential trace elements in human milk from Greek lactating women: association with dietary habits and other factors. Chemosphere, 61, 238-247.
- Lind T, Lonnerdal B, Persson LA, Stenlund H, Tennefors C and Hernell O, 2003. Effects of weaning cereals with different phytate contents on hemoglobin, iron stores, and serum zinc: a randomized intervention in infants from 6 to 12 mo of age. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 78, 168-175.
- Lönnerdal B, Cederblad A, Davidsson L and Sandstrom B, 1984. The effect of individual components of soy formula and cows' milk formula on zinc bioavailability. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 40, 1064-1070.
- Lönnerdal B, 1998. Copper nutrition during infancy and childhood. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 67, 1046S-1053S.
- Lucas A, 1998. Programming by early nutrition: an experimental approach. Journal of Nutrition, 128, 401S-406S.
- Lusk G, 1928. The elements of the science of nutrition. Reprinted in 1976 by Johnson Reprint Co, London, UK.
- Lynch MF, Griffin IJ, Hawthorne KM, Chen Z, Hamzo M and Abrams SA, 2007. Calcium balance in 1-4-y-old children. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 85, 750-754.
- Madsen KH, Rasmussen LB, Andersen R, Molgaard C, Jakobsen J, Bjerrum PJ, Andersen EW, Mejborn H and Tetens I, 2013. Randomized controlled trial of the effects of vitamin D-fortified milk and bread on serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations in families in Denmark during winter: the VitmaD study. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 98, 374-382.
- Makrides M, Neumann MA, Byard RW, Simmer K and Gibson RA, 1994. Fatty acid composition of brain, retina, and erythrocytes in breast- and formula-fed infants. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 60, 189-194.
- Maldonado Lozano J, Baro L, Ramirez-Tortosa MC, Gil F, Linde J, Lopez-Huertas E, Boza JJ and Gil A, 2007. Ingesta de una fórmula láctea suplementada con hierro como medida preventiva del déficit de hierro en niños de 1 a 3 años de edad [Intake of an iron-supplemented milk formula as a preventive measure to avoid low iron status in 1-3 year-olds]. Anales de Pediatria, 66, 591-596.

- Male C, Persson LA, Freeman V, Guerra A, van't Hof MA and Haschke F, 2001. Prevalence of iron deficiency in 12-mo-old infants from 11 European areas and influence of dietary factors on iron status (Euro-Growth study). Acta Paediatrica, 90, 492-498.
- Manios Y, 2006. Design and descriptive results of the "Growth, Exercise and Nutrition Epidemiological Study In preSchoolers": the GENESIS study. BMC Public Health, 6, 32.
- Marriott LD, Robinson SM, Poole J, Borland SE, Godfrey KM, Law CM, Inskip HM and Southampton Women's Survey Study G, 2008. What do babies eat? Evaluation of a food frequency questionnaire to assess the diets of infants aged 6 months. Public Health Nutrition, 11, 751-756.
- Marriott LD, Inskip HM, Borland SE, Godfrey KM, Law CM, Robinson SM and Southampton Women's Survey Study G, 2009. What do babies eat? Evaluation of a food frequency questionnaire to assess the diets of infants aged 12 months. Public Health Nutrition, 12, 967-972.
- Mayne ST, 2003. Antioxidant nutrients and chronic disease: use of biomarkers of exposure and oxidative stress status in epidemiologic research. Journal of Nutrition, 133 Suppl 3, 933S-940S.
- McNulty H and Scott JM, 2008. Intake and status of folate and related B-vitamins: considerations and challenges in achieving optimal status. British Journal of Nutrition, 99 Suppl 3, S48-54.
- Mičetić-Turk D, Turk Z and Radolli L, 1996. Serum selenium values in healthy children aged 1-18 years in NE Slovenia. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 50, 192-194.
- Michaelsen KF, Larsen PS, Thomsen BL and Samuelson G, 1994. The Copenhagen Cohort Study on Infant Nutrition and Growth: breast-milk intake, human milk macronutrient content, and influencing factors. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 59, 600-611.
- Michaelsen KF, Milman N and Samuelson G, 1995. A longitudinal study of iron status in healthy Danish infants: effects of early iron status, growth velocity and dietary factors. Acta Paediatrica, 84, 1035-1044.
- Milne DB, 1998. Copper intake and assessment of copper status. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 67, 1041S-1045S.
- Ministère de la Santé et des Solidaités, Afssa, Invs, Inpes and l'Assurance Maladie, 2005. La santé vient en mangeant le guide nutrition de la naissance à trois ans [Health comes from eating the nutrition guide from birth to three years]. 40 pp.
- Minns LM, Kerling EH, Neely MR, Sullivan DK, Wampler JL, Harris CL, Berseth CL and Carlson SE, 2010. Toddler formula supplemented with docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) improves DHA status and respiratory health in a randomized, double-blind, controlled trial of US children less than 3 years of age. Prostaglandins Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids, 82, 287-293.
- Morley R, Abbott R, Fairweather-Tait S, MacFadyen U, Stephenson T and Lucas A, 1999. Iron fortified follow on formula from 9 to 18 months improves iron status but not development or growth: a randomised trial. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 81, 247-252.
- Moro G, Arslanoglu S, Stahl B, Jelinek J, Wahn U and Boehm G, 2006. A mixture of prebiotic oligosaccharides reduces the incidence of atopic dermatitis during the first six months of age. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 91, 814-819.
- Mullee A, Brown T, Collings R, Harvey L, Hooper L and Fairweather-Tait S, 2012. Literature search and review related to specific preparatory work in the establishment of Dietary Reference Values. Preparation of an evidence report identifying health outcomes upon which Dietary Reference Values could potentially be based for chromium, manganese and molybdenum (CT/EFSA/NDA/2010/03) Scientific Report submitted to EFSA, 171 pp.
- Muntau AC, Streiter M, Kappler M, Roschinger W, Schmid I, Rehnert A, Schramel P and Roscher AA, 2002. Age-related reference values for serum selenium concentrations in infants and children. Clinical Chemistry, 48, 555-560.

- Navarro-Blasco I and Alvarez-Galindo JI, 2003. Selenium content of Spanish infant formulae and human milk: Influence of protein matrix, interactions with other trace elements and estimation of dietary intake by infants. Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology, 17, 277-289.
- Neville MC, Keller R, Seacat J, Lutes V, Neifert M, Casey C, Allen J and Archer P, 1988. Studies in human lactation: milk volumes in lactating women during the onset of lactation and full lactation. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 48, 1375-1386.
- NHMRC (National Health and Medical Research Council), 2006. Nutrient Reference Values for Australia and New Zealand Evidence Appendix. 333 pp.
- NHS (National Health Services), online. Your pregnancy and baby guide. Available online: <u>http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/pregnancy-and-baby/pages/pregnancy-and-baby-care.aspx#close</u>.
- Nielsen FH, 1999. Ultratrace minerals. In: Modern nutrition in health and disease. Eds Shils M, Olson J, Shike M, Ross A. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore, USA, 283-303.
- Nielsen SB, Reilly JJ, Fewtrell MS, Eaton S, Grinham J and Wells JC, 2011. Adequacy of milk intake during exclusive breastfeeding: a longitudinal study. Pediatrics, 128, e907-914.
- Niinikoski H and Ruottinen S, 2012. Is carbohydrate intake in the first years of life related to future risk of NCDs? Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases, 22, 770-774.
- Nimptsch K, Nieters A, Hailer S, Wolfram G and Linseisen J, 2009. The association between dietary vitamin K intake and serum undercarboxylated osteocalcin is modulated by vitamin K epoxide reductase genotype. British Journal of Nutrition, 101, 1812-1820.
- Noble S and Emmett P, 2001. Food and nutrient intake in a cohort of 8-month-old infants in the southwest of England in 1993. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 55, 698-707.
- Noble S and Emmett P, 2006. Differences in weaning practice, food and nutrient intake between breast- and formula-fed 4-month-old infants in England. Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics, 19, 303-313.
- Nordic Council of Ministers, 2004. Integrating nutrition and physical activity Nordic Nutrition Recommendations. Nord 2004:13.
- Nordic Council of Ministers, 2013. Nordic Nutrition Recommendations 2012.
- Norwegian National Council on Nutrition and Physical Activity, 2001. Anbefalinger for spedbarnsernæring [Recommendations for infant feeding]. 52 pp.
- Ocké MC, Rossum CTMv, Fransen HP, Buurma EJM, Boer EJd, Brants HAM, Niekerk EM, Laan JDvd, Drijvers JJMM and Ghameshlou Z, 2008. Dutch National Food Consumption Survey Young Children 2005/2006. RIVM Report 350070001/2008, 105 pp.
- ÖGKJ (Österreichische Gesellschaft für Kinder- und Jugendheilkunde), 2012. Mein Baby isst gesund -Ernährungsempfehlungen fürs erste Lebensjahr [My baby eats healthy - Nutrition recommendations for the first year of life]. 9 pp.
- Öhlund I, Lind T, Hörnell A and Hernell O, 2008. Predictors of iron status in well-nourished 4-y-old children. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 87, 839-845.
- Olafsdottir AS, Wagner KH, Thorsdottir I and Elmadfa I, 2001. Fat-soluble vitamins in the maternal diet, influence of cod liver oil supplementation and impact of the maternal diet on human milk composition. Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism, 45, 265-272.
- Olausson H, Goldberg GR, Laskey MA, Schoenmakers I, Jarjou LM and Prentice A, 2012. Calcium economy in human pregnancy and lactation. Nutrition Research Reviews, 25, 40-67.
- Osborn DA and Sinn JK, 2007. Prebiotics in infants for prevention of allergic disease and food hypersensitivity. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, CD006474.



- Østergård M, Arnberg K, Michaelsen KF, Madsen AL, Krarup H, Trolle E and Mølgaard C, 2011. Vitamin D status in infants: relation to nutrition and season. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 65, 657-660.
- Overby NC, Kristiansen AL, Andersen LF and Lande B, 2009. Spedkost 12 måneder: Landsomfattende kostholdsundersøkelse blant 12 måneder gamle barn [Infants 12 months: Nationwide food consumption survey among 12 month old children]. IS-1635, Helsedirektoratet, Mattilsynet og Universitetet i Oslo, 107 pp.
- Owen CG, Martin RM, Whincup PH, Smith GD and Cook DG, 2005. Effect of infant feeding on the risk of obesity across the life course: a quantitative review of published evidence. Pediatrics, 115, 1367-1377.
- Özdemir HS, Karadas F, Pappas AC, Cassey P, Oto G and Tuncer O, 2008. The selenium levels of mothers and their neonates using hair, breast milk, meconium, and maternal and umbilical cord blood in Van Basin. Biological Trace Element Research, 122, 206-215.
- Özden TA, Gökçay G, Işsever H, Durmaz Ö, Sökücü S and Saner G, 2012. Serum and hair zinc levels of infants and their mothers. Clinical Biochemistry, 45, 753-757.
- Pasternak K, Majdanik S and Papierkowski A, 1998. Fluorine in milk. Polish Journal of Environmental Studies, 7, 243-244.
- Petrova S, 1998. Dietary and nutritional status survey of the population in Bulgaria. National Center of Hygiene, Medical Ecology and Nutrition, 230 pp.
- Petrova S and Rangel L, 2008. Препоръки за здравословно хранене на кърмачета [Recommendations for a healthy diet of infants]. 24 pp.
- Piemontese P, Gianni ML, Braegger CP, Chirico G, Gruber C, Riedler J, Arslanoglu S, van Stuijvenberg M, Boehm G, Jelinek J, Roggero P and Group MW, 2011. Tolerance and safety evaluation in a large cohort of healthy infants fed an innovative prebiotic formula: a randomized controlled trial. PLoS ONE, 6, e28010.
- Pludowski P, Socha P, Karczmarewicz E, Zagorecka E, Lukaszkiewicz J, Stolarczyk A, Piotrowska-Jastrzebska J, Kryskiewicz E, Lorenc RS and Socha J, 2011. Vitamin D supplementation and status in infants: a prospective cohort observational study. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, 53, 93-99.
- Pouessel G, Damie R, Soudan B, Weill J, Gottrand F and Turck D, 2008. [Status of iodine nutrition of children until 1 year: consequences on the thyroid function]. Archives de Pédiatrie, 15, 1276-1282.
- Powers HJ, 2003. Riboflavin (vitamin B-2) and health. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 77, 1352-1360.
- Prasad AS, 2003. Zinc deficiency. British Medical Journal (Clinical Research Edition), 326, 409-410.
- Prentice AM, Ward KA, Goldberg GR, Jarjou LM, Moore SE, Fulford AJ and Prentice A, 2013. Critical windows for nutritional interventions against stunting. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 97, 911-918.
- Public Health Agency for Northern Ireland, 2012. Maternal and pre-school child nutrition guidelines. 144 pp.
- Rao S, Srinivasjois R and Patole S, 2009. Prebiotic supplementation in full-term neonates: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, 163, 755-764.
- Räsanen L and Ylonen K, 1992. Food consumption and nutrient intake of one- to two-year-old Finnish children. Acta Paediatrica, 81, 7-11.
- Ravnbøl M and Trolle E, 2013. Mad til spædbørn & småbørn fra skemad til familiemad [Foods for infants and toddlers from spoon feeding to family foods]. Sundhedsstyrelsen og Fødevarestyrelsen, 120 pp.

- Reiss J and Hahnewald R, 2011. Molybdenum cofactor deficiency: Mutations in GPHN, MOCS1, and MOCS2. Human Mutation, 32, 10-18.
- Roberts SB and Young VR, 1988. Energy costs of fat and protein deposition in the human infant. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 48, 951-955.
- Rodriguez Rodriguez E, Sanz A and Diaz R, 2002. Concentraciones de calcio, magnesio, sodio y potasio en leche materna y formulas de inicio [Concentrations of calcium, magnesium, sodium and potassium in human milk and infant formulas]. Archivos Latinoamericanos de Nutricion, 2, 406-412.
- Rogers I, Emmett P and Team AS, 2003. The effect of maternal smoking status, educational level and age on food and nutrient intakes in preschool children: results from the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 57, 854-864.

Sampaio FC and Levy SM, 2011. Systemic fluoride. Monographs in Oral Science, 22, 133-145.

- SCF (Scientific Committee for Food), 1983. First report on the essential requirements of infant formulae and follow-up milks based on cow's milk proteins. Opinion expressed on 9 December 1988. Reports of the Scientific Committee for Food, Twenty-third Series. European Commission, Luxembourg.
- SCF (Scientific Committee for Food), 1989. The minimum requirements for soya-based infant formulae and follow-up milks. Opinion expressed on 9 December 1988. Reports of the Scientific Committee for Food, Twenty-third Series. European Commission, Luxembourg.
- SCF (Scientific Committee for Food), 1991. First addendum to the Reports of the Scientific Committee on Food concerning the essential requirements of infant formulae and follow-up milks based on cow's milk proteins (opinion expressed on 27 April 1983) and the minimum requirements for soya-based infant formulae and follow-up milks (opinion expressed on 9 December 1988). Opinion expressed on 27 October 1989. Reports of the Scientific Committee for Food, Twenty-fourth Series. European Commission, Luxembourg.
- SCF (Scientific Committee for Food), 1993a. Report on infant formulae claimed to be "hypoallergenic" or "hypoantigenic" (opinion expressed on 9 December 1991). Second Addendum concerning the essential requirements of infant formulae and follow-up milks based on cows' milk proteins and the minimal requirements for soya-based infant formulae and follow-up milks (opinion expressed on 9 December 1991). Reports of the Scientific Committee for Food, Twenty-eight Series. European Commission, Luxembourg.
- SCF (Scientific Committe for Food), 1993b. Report on nutrient and energy intakes for the European Community, Thirty-first Series. Food Science and Technique, European Commission, 255 pp.
- SCF (Scientific Committee for Food), 1995. Report on essential requirements for infant formulae and follow-on formulae. Opinion expressed on 17 September 1993. Reports of the Scientific Committee for Food, Thirty-fourth Series. European Commission, Luxembourg.
- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2000a. Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of molybdenum.
- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2000b. Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of vitamin B12.
- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2000c. Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of manganese.
- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2000d. Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of folate.
- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2000e. Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of vitamin B2.
- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2000f. Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of selenium.

- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2000g. Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of vitamin B6.
- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2001a. Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of biotin.
- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2001b. Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of magnesium.
- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2001c. Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of thiamin.
- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2002a. Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of zinc.
- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2002b. Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of pantothenic acid.
- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2002c. Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of preformed vitamin A (retinol and retinyl esters).
- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2002d. Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of niacin.
- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2002e. Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of iodine.
- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2003a. Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of vitamin E.
- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2003b. Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of vitamin K.
- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2003c. Report of the Scientific Committee on Food on the revision of essential requirements of infant formulae and follow-on formulae.
- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2003d. Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of copper.
- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2003e. Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of chromium.
- Scholtens PA, Alles MS, Bindels JG, van der Linde EG, Tolboom JJ and Knol J, 2006. Bifidogenic effects of solid weaning foods with added prebiotic oligosaccharides: a randomised controlled clinical trial. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, 42, 553-559.
- Schwartz J, Dube K, Sichert-Hellert W, Kannenberg F, Kunz C, Kalhoff H and Kersting M, 2009. Modification of dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids via complementary food enhances n-3 longchain polyunsaturated fatty acid synthesis in healthy infants: a double blinded randomised controlled trial. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 94, 876-882.
- Schwartz J, Dube K, Alexy U, Kalhoff H and Kersting M, 2010. PUFA and LC-PUFA intake during the first year of life: can dietary practice achieve a guideline diet? European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 64, 124-130.
- Sette S, Le Donne C, Piccinelli R, Arcella D, Turrini A, Leclercq C and Group I-SS, 2011. The third Italian National Food Consumption Survey, INRAN-SCAI 2005-06--part 1: nutrient intakes in Italy. Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases, 21, 922-932.
- Sezer RG, Aydemir G, Akcan AB, Bayoglu DS, Guran T and Bozaykut A, 2013. Effect of breastfeeding on serum zinc levels and growth in healthy infants. Breastfeeding Medicine, 8, 159-163.
- SGE (Schweizerische Gesellschaft für Ernährung), 2011. Ernährung von Kindern [Nutrition of children]. 11 pp.
- SGE (Schweizerische Gesellschaft für Ernährung), 2012. Ernährung des Säuglings im ersten Lebensjahr [Nutrition of the infant in the first year of life]. 8 pp.
- Sichert-Hellert W, Wenz G and Kersting M, 2006. Vitamin intakes from supplements and fortified food in German children and adolescents: results from the DONALD study. Journal of Nutrition, 136, 1329-1333.



- Sievers E, Arpe T, Schleyerbach U, Garbe-Schonberg D and Schaub J, 2001. Plasma selenium in preterm and term infants during the first 12 months of life. Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology, 14, 218-222.
- Sioen I, Huybrechts I, Verbeke W, Camp JV and De Henauw S, 2007. n-6 and n-3 PUFA intakes of pre-school children in Flanders, Belgium. British Journal of Nutrition, 98, 819-825.
- Slovenian Ministry of Health, 2010. Smernice zdravega prehranjevanha za dojnečke [Guidelines for healthy eating for infants]. 72 pp.
- Soriguer F, Gutierrez-Repiso C, Gonzalez-Romero S, Olveira G, Garriga MJ, Velasco I, Santiago P, de Escobar GM, Garcia-Fuentes E, Iodine Deficiency Disorders Group of Spanish Society of E and Nutrition, 2011. Iodine concentration in cow's milk and its relation with urinary iodine concentrations in the population. Clinical Nutrition, 30, 44-48.
- Stam J, Sauer PJ and Boehm G, 2013. Can we define an infant's need from the composition of human milk? American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 98, 521S-528S.
- Stein LJ, Cowart BJ and Beauchamp GK, 2012. The development of salty taste acceptance is related to dietary experience in human infants: a prospective study. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 95, 123-129.
- Stevens D and Nelson A, 1995. The effect of iron in formula milk after 6 months of age. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 73, 216-220.
- Strambi M, Longini M, Vezzosi P, Berni S and Buoni S, 2004. Selenium status, birth weight, and breast-feeding: pattern in the first month. Biological Trace Element Research, 99, 71-81.
- Swedish National Food Authority, 2012a. Good food for children between one and two years. 16 pp.
- Swedish National Food Authority, 2012b. Good food for infants under one year. 20 pp.
- Szlagatys-Sidorkiewicz A, Zagierski M, Jankowska A, Luczak G, Macur K, Baczek T, Korzon M, Krzykowski G, Martysiak-Zurowska D and Kaminska B, 2012. Longitudinal study of vitamins A, E and lipid oxidative damage in human milk throughout lactation. Early Human Development, 88, 421-424.
- Szymlek-Gay EA, Ferguson EL, Heath AL, Gray AR and Gibson RS, 2009. Food-based strategies improve iron status in toddlers: a randomized controlled trial. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 90, 1541-1551.
- Tanumihardjo SA, 2004. Assessing vitamin A status: past, present and future. Journal of Nutrition, 134, 290S-293S.
- Tanumihardjo SA, 2012. Biomarkers of vitamin A status: what do they mean? In: Report: Priorities in the assessment of vitamin A and iron status in populations, Panama City, Panama, 15–17 September 2010. WHO (World Health Organization), Geneva.
- Thamm M, Ellert U, Thierfelder W, Liesenkotter KP and Volzke H, 2007. Iodine intake in Germany. Results of iodine monitoring in the German Health Interview and Examination Survey for Children and Adolescents (KiGGS). Bundesgesundheitsblatt-Gesundheitsforschung-Gesundheitsschutz, 50, 744-749.
- Thane CW and Bates CJ, 2000. Dietary intakes and nutrient status of vegetarian preschool children from a British national survey. Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics, 13, 149-162.
- Thane CW, Walmsley CM, Bates CJ, Prentice A and Cole TJ, 2000. Risk factors for poor iron status in British toddlers: further analysis of data from the National Diet and Nutrition Survey of children aged 1.5-4.5 years. Public Health Nutrition, 3, 433-440.
- Thane CW, Wang LY and Coward WA, 2006. Plasma phylloquinone (vitamin K1) concentration and its relationship to intake in British adults aged 19-64 years. British Journal of Nutrition, 96, 1116-1124.



- Thorisdottir AV, Thorsdottir I and Palsson GI, 2011. Nutrition and iron status of 1-year olds following a revision in infant dietary recommendations. Anemia, 2011, 986303.
- Thorisdottir AV, Ramel A, Palsson GI, Tomassson H and Thorsdottir I, 2012. Iron status of one-yearolds and association with breast milk, cow's milk or formula in late infancy. European Journal of Nutrition, 52, 1661-1668.
- Thorisdottir AV, Gunnarsdottir I, Palsson GI, Gretarsson SJ and Thorsdottir I, 2013a. Iron status and developmental scores in 6-year-olds highlights ongoing need to tackle iron deficiency in infants. Acta Paediatrica, 102, 914-919.
- Thorisdottir B, Gunnarsdottir I, Thorisdottir AV, Palsson GI, Halldorsson TI and Thorsdottir I, 2013b. Nutrient intake in infancy and body mass index at six years in two population-based cohorts recruited before and after revision of infant dietary recommendations. Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism, 63, 145-151.
- Thorsdottir I, Gunnarsson BS, Atladottir H, Michaelsen KF and Palsson G, 2003. Iron status at 12 months of age -- effects of body size, growth and diet in a population with high birth weight. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 57, 505-513.
- Thorsdottir I, Thorisdottir AV and Palsson G, 2008. Mataræði íslenskra ungbarna 2005-2007 [Infant nutrition in Iceland 2005-2007]. University Press, Reykjavík, Iceland, 59 pp.
- Tijerina-Saenz A, Innis SM and Kitts DD, 2009. Antioxidant capacity of human milk and its association with vitamins A and E and fatty acid composition. Acta Paediatrica, 98, 1793-1798.
- Toschke AM, Vignerova J, Lhotska L, Osancova K, Koletzko B and Von Kries R, 2002. Overweight and obesity in 6- to 14-year-old Czech children in 1991: protective effect of breast-feeding. Journal of Pediatrics, 141, 764-769.
- Truong JT, Fu X, Saltzman E, Al Rajabi A, Dallal GE, Gundberg CM and Booth SL, 2012. Age group and sex do not influence responses of vitamin K biomarkers to changes in dietary vitamin K. Journal of Nutrition, 142, 936-941.
- Tuthill DP, Cosgrove M, Dunstan F, Stuart ML, Wells JC and Davies DP, 2002. Randomized doubleblind controlled trial on the effects on iron status in the first year between a no added iron and standard infant formula received for three months. Acta Paediatrica, 91, 119-124.
- Tympa-Psirropoulou E, Vagenas C, Psirropoulos D, Dafni O, Matala A and Skopouli F, 2005. Nutritional risk factors for iron-deficiency anaemia in children 12-24 months old in the area of Thessalia in Greece. International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition, 56, 1-12.
- Uibo O, Grünberg H, Raukas R and Voor T, 2012. Imiku toit ja toitumine [Baby food and nutrition]. Eesti Lastearstide Selts, 44 pp.
- Ulbak J, Lauritzen L, Hansen HS and Michaelsen KF, 2004. Diet and blood pressure in 2.5-y-old Danish children. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 79, 1095-1102.
- Van Biervliet S, Van Biervliet JP, Bernard D, Matthys M, Vercaemst R and Blaton V, 2001. Serum alpha-tocopherol and selenium in Belgian infants and children. Biological Trace Element Research, 79, 115-120.
- Van Biervliet S, Van Biervliet JP, Bernard D, Vercaemst R and Blaton V, 2003. Serum zinc in healthy Belgian children. Biological Trace Element Research, 94, 33-40.
- van Buuren S, Schönbeck Y and van Dommelen P, 2012. CT/EFSA/NDA/2010/01: Collection, collation and analysis of data in relation to reference heights and reference weights for female and male children and adolescents (0-18 years) in the EU, as well as in relation to the age of onset of puberty and the age at which different stages of puberty are reached in adolescents in the EU. Technical Report submitted to EFSA, 59 pp.
- Vendt N, Grunberg H, Leedo S, Tillmann V and Talvik T, 2007. Prevalence and causes of iron deficiency anemias in infants aged 9 to 12 months in Estonia. Medicina (Kaunas), 43, 947-952.



- Virtanen MA, Svahn CJ, Viinikka LU, Raiha NC, Siimes MA and Axelsson IE, 2001. Iron-fortified and unfortified cow's milk: effects on iron intakes and iron status in young children. Acta Paediatrica, 90, 724-731.
- Vlaardingerbroek H and Hornstra G, 2004. Essential fatty acids in erythrocyte phospholipids during pregnancy and at delivery in mothers and their neonates: comparison with plasma phospholipids. Prostaglandins Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids, 71, 363-374.
- Voedingscentrum, year not given. Alles over gezond eten met baby en peuter [All about healthy eating and exercise with the baby and toddler].
- von Kries R, Koletzko B, Sauerwald T, von Mutius E, Barnert D, Grunert V and von Voss H, 1999. Breast feeding and obesity: cross sectional study. British Medical Journal (Clinical Research Edition), 319, 147-150.
- Wang WC, Makela AL, Nanto V, Makela P and Lagstrom H, 1998. The serum selenium concentrations in children and young adults: a long-term study during the Finnish selenium fertilization programme. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 52, 529-535.
- Wasowicz W, Gromadzinska J, Rydzynski K and Tomczak J, 2003. Selenium status of low-selenium area residents: Polish experience. Toxicology Letters, 137, 95-101.
- WHO (World Health Organization), 1996. Trance elements in human nutrition and health. 178 pp.
- WHO (World Health Organization), 2002. Complementary feeding. Report of the global consultation. Geneva, 10-13 December 2001. Summary of guiding principles. 34 pp.
- WHO Multicentre Growth Reference Study Group, 2006. WHO Child Growth Standards: Length/height-for-age, weight-for-length, weight-for-height and body mass index-for-age: Methods and development. 336 pp.
- WHO Secretariat, Andersson M, de Benoist B, Delange F and Zupan J, 2007. Prevention and control of iodine deficiency in pregnant and lactating women and in children less than 2-years-old: conclusions and recommendations of the Technical Consultation. Public Health Nutrition, 10, 1606-1611.
- WHO/FAO (World Health Organization/Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations), 2004. Vitamin and mineral requirements in human nutrition. Report of a joint FAO/WHO expert consultation, Bangkok, Thailand, 21-30 September 1998. WHO, Geneva, Switzerland, 341 pp.
- WHO/FAO (World Health Organization/Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations), 2006. Guidelines on food fortification with micronutrients. WHO, Geneva, Switzerland, 376 pp.
- WHO/FAO/UNU (World Health Organization/Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations/United Nations University), 2007. Protein and amino acid requirements in human nutrition. Report of a Joint WHO/FAO/UNU Expert Consultation. WHO Technical Report Series, No 935, 284 pp.
- WHO/UNICEF (World Health Organization/United Nations Children's Fund), 2007. Iodine deficiency in Europe: a continuing public health problem. 86 pp.
- WHO/UNICEF/ICCIDD (World Health Organization/United Nations Children's Fund/International Council for the Control of Iodine Deficiency Disorders), 2007. Assessment of iodine deficiency disorders and monitoring their elimination. A guide for programme managers. 108 pp.
- Williams J, Wolff A, Daly A, MacDonald A, Aukett A and Booth IW, 1999. Iron supplemented formula milk related to reduction in psychomotor decline in infants from inner city areas: randomised study. British Medical Journal (Clinical Research Edition), 318, 693-697.
- Wojcik KY, Rechtman DJ, Lee ML, Montoya A and Medo ET, 2009. Macronutrient analysis of a nationwide sample of donor breast milk. Journal of the American Dietetic Association, 109, 137-140.

- Zachara BA and Pilecki A, 2000. Selenium concentration in the milk of breast-feeding mothers and its geographic distribution. Environmental Health Perspectives, 108, 1043-1046.
- Zhu X and Zeisel SH, 2005. Choline and Phosphatidylcholine. In: Encyclopedia of human nutrition. Eds Caballero B, Allen L, Prentice A. Elsevier, Oxford, UK, 392-396.
- Ziegler E, Vanderhoof JA, Petschow B, Mitmesser SH, Stolz SI, Harris CL and Berseth CL, 2007. Term infants fed formula supplemented with selected blends of prebiotics grow normally and have soft stools similar to those reported for breast-fed infants. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, 44, 359-364.
- Zimmermann MB, 2007. The impact of iodised salt or iodine supplements on iodine status during pregnancy, lactation and infancy. Public Health Nutrition, 10, 1584-1595.

Appendix A. Nutrient composition and energy content of cow's milk-based young-child formulae currently on the EU market, of infant and follow-on formulae (cow's milk based) as per Directive 2006/141/EC and of full-fat cow's milk ^(a)

| | Young-child formula (cow's milk based) ^(b) | | Follow-on formula (cow's milk based) | | Infant formula (cow's milk based) | | Cow's milk, full fat | |
|---|--|--------|---|--|--------------------------------------|--|-------------------------|-------|
| | P5 | Median | P95 | Min | Max | Min | Max | Mean |
| Energy (kJ/100 g) | 209.0 | 281.0 | 339.0 | 251.0 | 293.0 | 251.0 | 293.0 | 289.0 |
| Energy (kcal/100 g) | 50.0 | 67.0 | 81.0 | 60.0 | 70.0 | 60.0 | 70.0 | 69.0 |
| Nutrient per 100 kcal | P5 ^(c) | Median | P95 | Min | Max | Min | Max | Mean |
| Protein (g/100 kcal) | 2.1 | 2.6 | 3.6 | 1.8 | 3.5 | 1.8 | 3.0 | 4.8 |
| Taurine (mg/100 kcal) ^(d) | 7.0 | 8.1 | 15 | _ | < 12 | - | < 12 | - |
| Carbohydrates (g/100 kcal) | 11.1 | 12.6 | 14.3 | 9.0 | 14.0 | 9.0 | 14.0 | 6.8 |
| Fat (g/100 kcal) | 3.5 | 4.3 | 4.8 | 4.0 | 6.0 | 4.4 | 6.0 | 6.1 |
| SFA (g/100 kcal) | 0.4 | 1.4 | 2.1 | _ | - | - | - | - |
| ARA (mg/100 kcal) ^(e) | 1.1 | 4.1 | 14.3 | _ | _ | _ | - | 0.0 |
| DHA (mg/100 kcal) ^(f) | 2.2 | 6.4 | 22.3 | _ | - | - | - | 0.0 |
| ALA (mg/100 kcal) ^(g) | 57.6 | 103.0 | 169.0 | > 50 | 240 | >50 | 240 | 0 |
| LA (mg/100 kcal) ^(h) | 500.0 | 758.0 | 1 043.0 | 300.0 | 1 200.0 | 300.0 | 1 200.0 | 70.0 |
| Sodium (mg/100 kcal) | 27.6 | 40.3 | 57.1 | 20.0 | 60.0 | 20.0 | 60.0 | 64.3 |
| Chloride (mg/100 kcal) | 61.2 | 75.0 | 114.0 | 50.0 | 160.0 | 50.0 | 160.0 | 146.5 |
| Potassium (mg/100 kcal) | 101.0 | 127.0 | 199.0 | 60.0 | 160.0 | 60.0 | 160.0 | 215.1 |
| Calcium (mg/100 kcal) | 94.4 | 127.0 | 220.0 | 50.0 | 140.0 | 50.0 | 140.0 | 176.7 |
| Phosphorus (mg/100 kcal) | 58.4 | 77.3 | 134.0 | 25.0 | 90.0 | 25.0 | 90.0 | 138.3 |
| Copper (µg/100 kcal) | 35.0 | 61.5 | 118.0 | 35.0 | 100.0 | 35.0 | 100.0 | 0.0 |
| Iodine (µg/100 kcal) | 12.2 | 20.2 | 34.8 | 10.0 | 50.0 | 10.0 | 50.0 | 23.0 |
| Iron (mg/100 kcal) | 1.3 | 1.8 | 2.4 | 0.6 | 2.0 | 0.3 | 1.3 | < 0.1 |
| Magnesium (mg/100 kcal) | 8.1 | 10.4 | 20.0 | 5.0 | 15.0 | 5.0 | 15.0 | 16.8 |
| Manganese (µg/100 kcal) | 5.9 | 14.6 | 106.0 | 1.0 | 100.0 | 1.0 | 100.0 | 0.0 |
| Selenium (µg/100 kcal) | 1.4 | 1.6 | 5.5 | 1.0 | 9.0 | 1.0 | 9.0 | 1.9 |
| Zinc (mg/100 kcal) | 0.7 | 1.2 | 2.0 | 0.5 | 1.5 | 0.5 | 1.5 | 0.6 |
| Vitamin A (µg RE/100 kcal) | 77.8 | 102.0 | 141.0 | 60.0 | 180.0 | 60.0 | 180.0 | 57.5 |
| Vitamin D (µg/100 kcal) | 1.4 | 2.1 | 3.3 | 1.0 | 3.0 | 1.0 | 2.5 | 0.1 |
| Vitamin E (mg TE/100 kcal) | 0.9 | 1.6 | 3.1 | 0.5/g PUFA, not < 0.5 mg/ 100 kcal | 5.0 | 0.5/g PUFA, not < 0.5 mg/ 100 kcal | 5.0 | 0.1 |
| Vitamin K (µg/100 kcal) | 4.5 | 7.5 | 11.8 | 4.0 | 25.0 | 4.0 | 25.0 | 0.0 |



| | Young-child formula (cow's milk based) ^(b) | | | Follow-on formula (cow's milk based) | | Infant formula (cow's milk based) | | Cow's milk, full fat | |
|--|--|--------|------|--------------------------------------|-------|--------------------------------------|-------|-------------------------|--|
| | P5 | Median | P95 | Min | Max | Min | Max | Mean | |
| Thiamine (mg/100 kcal) | 0.07 | 0.12 | 0.27 | 0.06 | 0.3 | 0.06 | 0.3 | 0.0 | |
| Riboflavin (mg/100 kcal) | 0.14 | 0.20 | 0.35 | 0.08 | 0.4 | 0.08 | 0.4 | 0.3 | |
| Pyridoxine (mg/100 kcal) | 0.06 | 0.10 | 0.30 | 0.035 | 0.175 | 0.035 | 0.175 | 0.0 | |
| Cobalamin (mg/100 kcal) | 0.18 | 0.27 | 0.59 | 0.1 | 0.5 | 0.1 | 0.5 | 0.7 | |
| Biotin (µg/100 kcal) | 2.2 | 3.1 | 6.6 | 1.5 | 7.5 | 1.5 | 7.5 | 4.3 | |
| Folate (µg/100 kcal) | 7.3 | 22.4 | 38.6 | 10.0 | 50.0 | 10.0 | 50.0 | 9.1 | |
| Niacin (mg/100 kcal) | 0.57 | 0.90 | 3.1 | 0.3 | 1.5 | 0.3 | 1.5 | 1.0 | |
| Pantothenic acid (mg/100 kcal) | 0.42 | 0.71 | 1.3 | 0.4 | 2.0 | 0.4 | 2.0 | 0.6 | |
| Vitamin C (mg/100 kcal) | 8.7 | 15.9 | 23.4 | 10.0 | 30.0 | 10.0 | 30.0 | 1.9 | |
| Choline (mg/100 kcal) ⁽ⁱ⁾ | 10.0 | 14.9 | 23.0 | _ | - | 7 | 12 | | |
| Inositol (mg/100 kcal) ^(j) | 4.0 | 6.3 | 13.5 | _ | _ | 4 | 40 | | |

(a): Data sources described in section 3.3.

(b): Based on 234 products.

(d): Percentiles are based on formulae containing the nutrient.

(d): In 31 % of all young-child formulae.

(e): In 12 % of all young-child formulae.

(f): In 13 % of all young-child formulae.
(g): In 78 % of all young-child formulae.
(h): In 80 % of all young-child formulae.

(i): In 34 % of all young-child formulae.

(j): In 11 % of all young-child formulae.

ABBREVIATIONS

| Afssa | Agence française de sécurité sanitaire des aliments |
|----------|---|
| AI | Adequate Intake |
| AINIA | Asociación de Investigación de la Industria Agroalimentaria |
| ALA | alpha-linolenic acid |
| AR | Average Requirement |
| ARA | arachidonic acid |
| ATP | adenosine triphosphate |
| BMI | body mass index |
| cCO | carboxylated osteocalcin |
| CI | confidence interval |
| CuZn-SOD | copper/zinc superoxide dismutase |
| D-A-CH | Germany-Austria-Switzerland |
| DFE | dietary folate equivalents |
| DHA | docosahexaenoic acid |
| DNA | deoxyribonucleic acid |
| DRV | Dietary Reference Value |
| EPA | eicosapentaenoic acid |
| ETKA | thiamine transketolase activity coefficient |
| FAD | flavin-adenine dinucleotide |
| FADS | fatty acid desaturase |
| FBDG | food-based dietary guidelines |
| FMN | flavin mononucleotide |
| FOS | fructo-oligosaccharides |
| GOS | galacto-oligosaccharides |
| GPX | glutathioneperoxidase |
| Hb | haemoglobin |

| efsa European Food Safety Authority | Nutrient requirements and dietary intakes of infants and young children in the EU | | | |
|--|---|--|--|--|
| HPLC | high-performance liquid chromatography | | | |
| IGF-1 | insulin-like growth factor-1 | | | |
| IGFBP | IGF-binding protein | | | |
| IoM | Institute of Medicine | | | |
| IQR | interquartile range | | | |
| LA | linoleic acid | | | |
| LC-PUFA | long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid | | | |
| MCV | mean corpuscular volume | | | |
| MRL | maximum residue level | | | |
| NAD | nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide | | | |
| NADP | nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate | | | |
| NE | niacin equivalent | | | |
| NHMRC | Medical Research Council of the Commonwealth of Australia | | | |
| NOAEL | no observed adverse effect level | | | |
| Р | percentile | | | |
| PAL | physical activity level | | | |
| PDX | polydextrose | | | |
| PIVKA-II | protein induced by vitamin K absence or agonist II | | | |
| PRI | population reference intake | | | |
| PUFA | polyunsaturated fatty acid | | | |
| RBC | red blood cell | | | |
| RBP | retinol-binding protein | | | |
| RCT | randomised controlled trial | | | |
| RE | retinol equivalents | | | |
| REE | resting energy expenditure | | | |
| RI | Reference Intake ranges for macronutrients | | | |
| RNA | ribonucleic acid | | | |
| SCF | Scientific Committee on Food | | | |

| efsa European Food Safety Authority | Nutrient requirements and dietary intakes of infants and young children in the EU |
|--|---|
| SCFA | short-chain fatty acid |
| SD | standard deviation |
| SF | serum ferritin |
| SFFQ | semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire |
| SNP | single-nucleotide polymorphism |
| T4 | thyroxine |
| TE | tocopherol equivalent |
| TEE | total energy expenditure |
| TfR | transferrin receptor |
| Tg | thyroglobulin |
| ToR | terms of reference |
| TPPE | thiamin pyrophosphate effect |
| TSAT | transferrin saturation |
| TSH | thyroid-stimulating hormone |
| UL | Tolerable Upper Intake Level |
| ucCO | undercarboxylated osteocalcin |
| WHO | World Health Organization |